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BOOR V1.
Cusr, 7.

1793.

Proceedings in Parliament

of part of the Nabob's Country— Dispute
between Lord Hobart and the Supreme board—
Capture of the Dutch Settlements.

In 1793, the termination of the period assigned to
the exclusive privileges of the Company so nearly ap-
proached, that the question of renewing the charter,
and of confirming or changing the present system of
government, could no longer be deferred. People
had now so generally acquired the habit of lifting
their eyes to the management of national affairs; and
equal treatment to all so forcibly recommended itself
as the best rule of government, that the commercial
and manufacturing population were impelled to make
an effort, more than usually strong, for the freedom
of the Eastern trade. The principal places of manu-
facture and commerce, in the kingdom; Liverpool,
Glasgow, Paisley, Manchester, Norwich, Exeter;
exhibited combinations of the merchants and manu-
facturers, who passed the strongest resolutious; im-
portuned the ministers; petitioned the legislature ;
and desired to have an opportunity of proving how
much the real policy of commerce was violated, and
the wealth of the country kept down, by the monopoly
of so large a field of trade as that unhappily consigned
to the East India Company.

The Indian government was so organized, as now
very well to answer ministerial purposes; it was
therefore the study of ministers to preserve things as
they were. The Board of Control and the Court of
Directors cast, with some skill, the parts which they
had respectively to perform. A committee of Direc-
tors was appointedy whose husiness it was to draw up
reports upon the subject of the Ilastern trade, and to
answer the arguments of thase hy whom the freedom



relative o a Renewal of the Charter. 3

of that trade was advocated or claimed. Three such BOOK VL.
reports were exhibited. They were in the first Cuar. 7.
instance referred to the Committee of the Privy 179s.
Council relating to trade and plantations; and in the
proper stage of the business were submitted to the
: House of Commons.
: On the 25th of February, Mr. Dundas, in the
v House of Commons, made a display of the pecuniary
¢ state of the Company. Fortunately for the designs
which were in agitation, the accounts of receipt and
disbursement presented, just at that moment, a
balance of a large amount, on the favourable side.
Of this circumstance, the greater possible advantage
= was taken. Every thing which could be effected by
% the confident assertions, so potent in persuasion, of
men of influence and power, was done, to captivate
i the general mind with a prospect of Indian prosperity ;
i to generate a belief that a great fountain, whence a
- perennial stream of wealth would flow upon the
British nation, was, by the wisdom of its rulers,
secured to them in India. Estimates were formed,
with all the airs of accuracy, or rather of modera-
tion, by which it was made to appear, that the
surplus, exhibited by the accounts of the year imme-
diately passed, would, in future years, rather increase
than diminish. And with profound solemnity an ap-
propriation, as if for perpetuity, was proposed, of a
large superabounding sum, which would, it was said,
be annually received from India. The eyes of men
were successfully dazzled; and when Mr. Dundas
called out to them, “ Will you stop the tide of so
much prosperity for untried theories,” those who
knew but little either about the theory or the practice
of the case, that is, the greater number, were easily
made to believe, that there was a great certainty of
securing what they were told was the actual influx of
B2
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Supposed surplus Revenue,

BOOK VI, wealth, if they persevered in the present course; a

Craar, 7.

1793.

great danger of losing it, if they allowed themselves
to be drawn, by delusive prospects, into another.

The friend of Mr. Dundas, and, as well from in-
tellect as from office, the advocate of his schemes, Mr.
Bruce, the historiographer of the Company, says,
‘¢ Upon no occasion, perhaps, have men’s minds been
less prepared for a decision, on a subject of such mag-
nitude and importance.”! It is, indeed, true, that
the people were deplorably ignorant of the history
and management of their Hast India affairs; and it
was, on this account, the more easy to make them
throw themselves, with blind confidence, upon the
assertions of men, whose knowledge was presumed
from their situation and pretensions.

An annual surplus of 1,239,241/. from the revenues
and Commerce of India, after paying the Company’s
Indian charges of every description, was assumed.
Of this magnificent sum, the following distribution
was to be made. In the tirst place, as most due, it
was proposed, that 500,000/. should be annually
appropriated to liquidate the debt of the Company
contracted in India. But in the next place, it was
patriotically determined, that 500,000/. should be an-
nually given to the nation, as a tribute from its
Indian dominion. With regard to the remainder of
the grand surplus, it was represented, by the Indian
minister, as no more than equitable, that the merito-
rious proprietors of East India stock should not be
forgotten. He recommended an increase of dividend
from eight to ten per cent. By this, 100,000/. more

I Report on the Negotiation between the Honourable East India
Company aud the Public, respecting the renewal of the Company's
exclusive Privilege of Trade, for Twenty Years from March 1794. By
John Bruce, Esq. M.P., F.R.8. Historiographer to the Honourable
East India Company, p. 13.



how to be appropriated. 5

of the annual surplus would be absorbed. A circum- BOOK VI.
stance, which might have excited suspicion, but which ®*4*7-
appears to have been perfectly guiltless of any such dis-  179s.
agreeable effect, was this ; that, amid all these promises
of wealth, the Company was in want of pecuniary
assistance; and was to receive immediate authority
for raising what was equivalent to a loan of 2,000,000/.
It was not indeed to be called a loan. The name of a
loan, associated with the idea of poverty, was at this
time to be avoided. The Company were to be empower-
ed to add 1,000,000/. to their capitalstock, which,being
subscribed, on the faith of a dividend of ten per cent.,
at 200 per cent., produced to the Company’s treasury a
sum of 2,000,000/. By this, it was said, the Com-
: panys bond debt in England would be reduced to
¢ 1,500,000/. The dividend upon this new capital
. would exhaust 100,000/. more of the surplus revenue.
Of the appropriation of the remainder, which, to show
accuracy, and because even small sums are of great
importance, was carried to the last degree of minute-
ness, it would here, however, be out of place to render
any account.
: After some affectation of discord between the Board
L of Control and the Court of Directors, Mr. Dundas
¢ having even pretended in parliament to beleive it
possible that the Company might decline to petition
for the renewal of their charter on the terms which
the minister desired to impose, the petition of the
Company was presented to the House of Commons,
and taken into consideration on the 23d of April.

It was, to some of the opposing members, a source
of complaint, when a measure, on which interests of
so much importance depended, and about which so
profound an ignorance prevailed, was to be considered
and determined, that a committee, to collect and to
communicate information, had not, as on former oc-
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Salaries annexed to the Qffice

BOOK VI. casions, preceded the decision, for which a call upon
CraP.7. the legislature was now about to be made. Such a

1793.

committee, by which ministerial purposes were more
likely at the present moment to be thwarted than
served, the ministers represented as altogether unne-
cessary ; because, there was no material circumstance,
they asserted, relating to India, about which there
was not sufficient information, in the valuable and
numerous documents, which they had communicated
to the House.

The speech of Mr. Dundas displayed and recom-
mended the projected plan. In all the great and
leading particulars, the scheme which had been intro-
duced by Mr. Pitt’s bill of 1784, and better adapted
to ministerial or national purposes by the amendments
or declarations of succeeding acts, remained without
alteration.

The powers of the Board -of Control, and of the
Court of Directors, were established on the same
footing, on which they had been placed by the de-
claratory act of 1788. The powers of the Governor-
General and his Council, of whom was composed the
supreme organ of government in India, with the
powers of the Governors and Councils at the sub-
ordinate presidencies, remained as they had been
established by the act of 1784, and the amending act
of 1786. The monopoly of the Eastern trade was
still secured to the Company. The appropriations
recommended by Mr. Dundas, of a supposed surplus
of revenue, were dressed in the formalities of law.
The increase of dividend, and the increase of capital,
were authorized. And the lease of the exclusive pri-
vileges was renewed for a term of twenty years.

Only two alterations were introduced, of sufficient
importance to require statement and explanation.

When the bill of Mr. Pitt entered the lists against




of certain Commissioners of the India Board. 7

that of Mr. Fox, the ground of patronage was the Bglﬂli\;l-
field of contention. On this it was, that, as the " "~
demerit of the one was to suffer defeat, the merit of 1793.
the other was to be crowned with victory. On the
part, therefore, of Mr. Pitt, Mr. Dundas, and their
party, was required, either the reality, or, in place of
the reality, the affectation, of a sort of horror at the
enormity of increasing ministerial influence. To
evade objections from this source; objections which
they themselves had raised to such a height of im-
portance, it was arranged, on the introduction of the
plan, that no salary should be annexed to the duties
of the Board of Control. These duties were to be
executed by Members of His Majesty’s Privy Coun-
cil, who had good emoluments, on some other score,
and so little to do for them, as to be very well paid
for discharging the duties of the Board of Control
into the bargain. This make-shift, unless it be con-
templated in the light of a trick, to amuse the specta-
tors till their attention relaxed, when paid function-
aries of the usual sort might be quietly introduced, is
a species of burlesque on legislation. To attach to
one office a salary whose magnitude is out of all pro-
portion to the duties; next to create another office
with ample duties but no salary: and then to jumble
both sets of duties, however heterogeneous, into one
set of hands, exhibits a singular contrast with the
rule of securing every service by its own appropriate
reward; and paying no more for any service, than
the performance of the service strictly demands. The
time was now come, when the same aversion to
patronage was not necessary to be displayed. It was
therefore enacted, that a salary, to be paid by the
Company, should be annexed to the office of certain
of the Commissioners of the India Board; and that,
in the appointment of those Commissioners, the circle
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Reasonings of Mr. Dundas

BOOK V1, of the Privy Council should no longer be the boun-
Caar.7. dary of His Majesty’s choice.

1793.

The second alteration regarded the Indian trade.
As an expedient, for softening the opposition of the
commercial bodies, it was devised, that the Company
should afford annually not less than 3,000 tons of
shipping, in which private individuals might on their
own account traffic with India, subject to the restric-
tion of not importing military stores, or importing
piece goods, and subject also to the restriction of
lodging imports in the Company’s warehouses, and
disposing of them at the Company’s sales.

In adducing motives for the approbation of these
measures, Mr. Dundas was successful and unsuccess-
ful : unsuccessful in offering any reasons which can
now satisfy an enlightened inquirer, but completely
successful in offering reasons which satisfied the bulk
of his auditory. He began with what he knew to
be a favourite topic for a British Parliament—the
wisdom of contempt for theory. On this occasion,
however, theory was treated by him with unusual
lenity ; for though Mr. Dundas affirmed that the
theories to which he was opposed did not hold true in
the case for which he had to provide; he was not
very unwilling to allow that they held good in all
other cases. The propositions, which Mr. Dundas
here vilified by the name of theories, were two;
the first, That the business of government, and the
business of commerce, cannot, with advantage to the
governed, be lodged in the same hands; the second,
That freedom is the life of commerce, and restraint
and monopoly its bane. What argument did Mr.
Dundas produce to show that these propositions
did not hold true in the case of India? India,
said he, has hitherto been governed in contempt of
them : ergo, they do not hold true in the case of

ey 4 e



in favowr of his Plan. 9

India. Mr. Dundas, it is true, asserted also, that India BOOK V1.
had been governed well; but « governed well,” in Caar.7.
this case, means simply governed, and nothing more; 179s.
« governed,” somehow or other. As to the quality
of the government, besides that it was the gratuitous
and interested assumption, therefore worth nothing,
of Mr. Dundas, what is the standard of comparison ?
India had been governed well, as compared with
what ? As compared with the highest state of advan-
tage in which human nature is capable of being placed?
This is what Mr. Dundas himself would not have
ventured, even in his boldest moments of affirmation,
to state. As compared with the ancient Mogul go-
vernment ? Was that the meaning of Mr. Dundas ?
A mighty boast! That the pride of British legisla-
tion should produce something not quite so bad as the
despotism of barbarians. And this, even at that time,
was a matter of doubt. It is, now, something more.
If this, however, was the meaning; the logic of the
ministers and of parliament, the one inventing, the
other assenting, stood as follows : * India, in the hands
of a civilized people, has been governed, not quite so
badly, say the ministers; quite as badly, say other
persons ; as when it was under the despotism of bar-
barians: Therefore, it is true, that the union of com-
merce with government, and the monopoly of trade,
are good things in India.” This is a logic by which
a man may be helped to a great variety of convenient
conclusions. With Mr. Duundas, the Grand Vizir of
Constantinople might say, The empire of the Sub-
lime Port is “ governed well;” ergo, janisaries, and
the bow-string, are excellent in the empire of the
Sublime Port. The above reasoning Mr. Dundas
corroborated by an established parliamentary axiom,
which he often found of unspeakable utility, That all
change in matters of government is bad. Allow
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Reasonings of Mr. Dundas

BOOK VI. this, and it followed, with undeniable certainty, that
Cutr- 7. all change in the government of India was bad. On

1793.

the other hand, if the absolute and universal truth of
that celebrated axiom should be susceptible of dispute,
all the oratory which Mr. Dundas expended on the
topic of change in general, falls, unsupported, to the
ground. ‘

The particular change which his opponents con-
templated, the removal of the government of India
from the hands of a commercial corporation, would,
he said, produce the following effects; It would retard
the payment of the Company’s debts; it would check
the growing commerce between the two countries;
and it would endanger the allegiance of India. He
asked, if it would be wise to incur so much danger
for a theory ? With regard to the first two of these
bare, unsupported assumptions, which ought to have
passed for nothing, experience has provided the
answer. The government has remained as Mr.
Dundas desired, and the Company, so far from paying
its debts, has enormously increased them; it has
remained as Mr. Dundas desired, and the commerce,
instead of increasing, has dwindled to a trifle. That
in a well-ordered attempt to improve the mode of
governing the people of India, there was any thing
to weaken their allegiance, is so evidently untrue,
that it is only wonderful there should be a legislative
assembly, in a civilized country, in which it could be
asserted without derision and disgrace.

“ All this danger, said the Indian minister, * to
be incurred for a theory?” First, Mr. Dundas’s
eagerness to escape from theory has not avoided the
danger, but realized a great part of it. Secondly,
when he treats the word ¢theory; when all that class
of politicians, to which he belonged, treat the word
theory, with so much contempt, what is it they

b
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mean? Thought: All application of the thinking BOOK VI
powers to the business of government, they call Casr. 7.
theory ; every thing, in short, except mechanical 179s.
trudging in a beaten track. In the present case,
thought, applying the results of experience to the
circumstances of India, endeavoured to foresee what
mode of government would be attended with the
happiest effects: But if ever thought, in consequence
of this operation, recommends any thing different in
government from that which actually exists, it is by
Mr. Dundas and his fellows, to receive the name of
theory, and to be exploded. * All the good which
now exists, will you sacrifice it to a theory ?” When
thought has accurately weighed the value of that
which exists, and accurately weighed the value of
that which may be got by a change ; and, after all
that is good and evil on both sides is maturely con-
sidered, pronounces deliberately that the second value
is greater than the first; what is meant by asking,
whether it is wise to sacrifice so much good to a
theory ? Is it not asking us whether it is wise to sa-
crifice the less good to the greater ? In such cases the
answer is, That it is wise, to sacrifice so much good
to theory. It is only an abuse of language to express
the facts in such inappropriate terms.

Mr. Dundas said, that no two persons agreed, in
the substitutes which were proposed for the present
plan. This, too, however ridiculous, is a standing
argument against improvement. Yet it is not the
question, whether few or many schemes are proposed ;
but whether any of them is good. It would be a
strange maxim of government, that, where a great
end is in view, and men have different opinions about
the means, in that case all power of choice should be
extinguished, and things must remain as they are.
How numerous soever the opinions, it is still the busi-
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Reasonings of Mr. Dundas

BOOK VL ness of wisdom to inquire what is best ; and take the

CHAp. 7.

1793,

most effectual measyres for carrying it into happy
execution. It is worthy of particular regard, that
almost all the general arguments of those who oppose
the impovement of political institutions, may thus
be traced up to one assumption ; viz. That the origi-
nal condition of human beings, the brutal savage
state, ought never to have been altered: and that all
those men who have laboured to make human nature
what it is, ought to be condemned as wicked.

Among his other arguments, or more properly
speaking his assertions, Mr. Dundas affirmed, that the
surplus revenue of India could not be carried to Eng-
land, which he affectedly called realizing, but by the
Company’s trade. There is nothing, it appears from
experience, too absurd to pass for an argument in an
aristocratical assembly. 'That neither money nor
goods could be conveyed from India to England, ex-
cept by the East India Company, was a proposition
which it required no ordinary share of credulity to
digest. Experience, moreover, has proved, what a
knowledge of the theory of man would have foretold,
that there would be no surplus revenue to bring.

Mr. Dundas made use of other assertions. He
asserted, that free trade would produce colonization ;
and that colonization would produce the loss of
India. Unhappily, it is almost impossible to establish
any considerable number of Europeans in India;
because the natives subsist upon so little, that the
wages of labour are too low to enable Europeans to
live. If it were possible, nothing would be of so
much advantage, both to the people of India, and to
the people of England.

As a weight to counterbalance the arguments of
those who pleaded for the separation of the commerce
from the government of India, and for the dissolution
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of the Company, Mr. Dundas delivered it as his old, Boox v1.
and, after much time and experience, his present and €™ 7-
confirmed opinion, that, if the patronage of India 179s.
were added to the other sources of the influence of

the crown, it would be sufficient to ensure to the

crown a majority in both houses of parliament, and

would destroy the substance of the constitution,
through the medium of its forms. The patronage

of India was transferred to the crown. It was the
express purpose of the declaratory act of 1788, to

place the government of India fully and completely

in the hands of the ministers. Is the patronage of

the Admiralty Board, the patronage of the Com-
mander-in-Chief, or that of the Lord Chancellor

less ministerial patronage, because it is by these func-
tionaries it is dispensed? Was it possible to give to
ministers the unlimited power over the government

of India, and not to give the benefit of the patronage

along with it?

The two great crimes of which the government in
India had been accused were; pillage of the natives;
and wars of conquest. The present bill, Mr. Dundas
asserted, would cure these evils. How ? It had two
expedients for that purpose: The land-tax was now
fixed : And the Governor-General was responsible to
parliament.

For annexing salaries to the Board of Control, and
enabling his Majesty to make any body a Commis-
sioner, little trouble in search of a reason seems to
have been thought necessary. Without a salary, and
without a choice of other persons than members of
the Privy Council, no body, said Mr. Dundas, could
be got who would keep the office so long, or attend
to its business so much, as to be capable of taking a
useful part in its management. Nine years before,
was this incapable of being foreseen? But foresight
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"Objections of For.

BCOOK VL is theory. When the Commissioners of Control were
#4%- T+ first appointed, there were persons who had so much
1793. salary, and so little to do for it, that they would be

very well paid for both services, viz. those of the
India Board, and those attached to the salary,
added together. After an additional salary was got
for the India Commissioners, what was done with
the surplus salary of those who had too much for the
services which it was intended to pay ? Was any of
it taken away? No. Why? To this last question,
no answer is required.

'By allowing 3,000 tons for private trade in the
Company’s ships, Mr. Dundas took credit for having
done something considerable in favour of the manu-
facturers and merchants. The source of advantage
in private trade would be found in the more expe-
ditious and economical methods to which private in-
terest would give birth. By subjecting the private
trader to the delays and expenses of the Company,
Mr. Dundas cut off the possibility of advantage ; and
the merchants declined to occupy the unprofitable
channel which he had opened.

In every one of the particular objects which this
bill pretended to have in view ; the enlargement of
British commerce; the extinction of debt; and the
prevention of conquest ; its failure, on experience,
has proved to be complete.

It encountered very little opposition till its third
reading in the lower house. On that occasion it was
furiously assaulted by Mr. Fox. The House of Com-
mons, he observed, had, in the year 1780, proclaimed
their solemn opinion, that, * the influence of the
Crown had increased, was increasing, and ought to
be diminished.” In defiance of this alarming decla-
ration, in violation of the solemn protestations with
which the nation were amused, upon the first intro-

fr-



BEE Ny e

o A e A

Answer of Pitt,
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duction of the present system of Indian government, BOOK Vi.

a new lot of influence was avowedly created. This
was little. The mighty mass of evil existed in the
influence which was warehoused for ministerial use
with the Court of Directors. This was the most
dangerous patronage at the disposal of the Crown.
Why? becase it was irresponsible. * Is it,” said
Mr. Fox, ¢ to be placed in the hands of those who
really have the power over it? No! it is to be given
to their agents and dependents ; whose responsibility,
from the nature of their situation, it is absurd to
speak of.—It has been asserted,” he cried, “ that
the patronage of India consists in the appointment
of a few writers. If there is a man in this House!
if there is a man in this country ! if there¢ is one man
in the British territory in India! who can believe
this assertion, I wish him joy of his credulity ! I ask
any man, who is not insane,—in whom, if this bill
shall pass into a law, will the whole of the patronage
of India be invested ? Will not the Company and their
Directors be the mere tools of the minister ? 'Who
appointed Lord Cornwallis? who Sir John Shore ?

The clear effect of the measure is to give to the

minister all the power, and screen him from all
responsibiiity” *

Mr. Pitt answered; By complaining that his op-
jonent had deferred to the last stage the statement
of his objections; Andby endeavouring to shew, that
the appointment of writers to India, who begin as
clerks, aud rise by senmiority to places of importance,
could not greatly increase the influence of ministers,
even if their power over Directors were as complete
as the argument of the opposition supposed. This,
however, was not to deny, that ministers possessed

' Parliamentary Debates, 24th May, 1795,

Caar. 7.

1793.
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Views of the petitioning Parties.

BOOK VL. all the influence created by the patronage of India ;

CHar. 7.

1793.

a fact which, at this time, Mr. Pitt did not affect to
dispute : Tt was only to assert, that this influence,
when it was got, was of inconsiderable importance.
This was to contradict his own arguments against
the bill of Mr Fox ; and to recant every assertion by
which he had successfully covered it with odium.
It was also to contradict the principal argument by
which Mr. Dundas had defended the propriety of con-
tinuing the government of India in the hands of a
commercial company. But it did not subvert the
truth, that a mass of wealth equivalent to all the
lucrative offices in India, ready to be employed by
the Crown, in purchasing the co-operation of those
who were appointed to check it, would contribute
largely to convert the checking into a confederate
body; and to establish afatal union of King and par.
liament upon the ruin of the people.

The views of the parties who demanded, on this
occasion, a change in the management of Indian
affairs, are too nearly the same with the views, which
have already been discussed, of preceding parties,
to require any particular examination. The mer-
chants petitioned chiefly for freedom of trade. On
what grounds of reason, has been, as far as compa-
tible with the nature of the present undertaking,
already disclosed. The political change which most
of the complaining parties appeared to contemplate,
was the transfer of the details of government from
the Court of Directors to his Majesty’s ministers.
On what ground, it appears to me, that the transfer
of power which has already been made from the
Court of Directors to his Majesty’s ministers is not
an improvement, and, by parity of reason, that any
further transfer would not be an improvement, has
been seen in my explanation of the nature of the

P s
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instrument for the good govermment of India, which Book V1.
was provided, by Mr. Pitt, in the Board of Control. CH?-7-
To communicate the whole of the impression, made 179s.
upon a mind, which has taken a survey of the go-
vernment of India, by the East India Company, more
completely through the whole field of its action,
than was ever taken before, and which has not spared
to bring forward into the same light the unfavourable
and the favourable points, it may be necessary to
state, and this I conceive to be the most convenient
occasion for stating, That, in regard to intention,
“ I know no government, either in past or present
times, that can be placed equally high with that
of the East India Company; That I can hardly
_ point out an occasion on which the schemes they
" have adopted, and even the particular measures
- they pursued, were not by themselves considered as
conducive to the welfare of the people whom they
governed; That I know no government which has
on all occasions shown so much of a disposition to
make sacrifices of its own interests to the interests of
the people whom it governed, and which has, in fact,
made so many and such important sacrifices; That,
if the East India Company have heen so little suc-
. cessful in ameliorating the practical operation of their
" - government, it has been owing chiefly to the disad-
_ vantage of their situation, distant a voyage of several
" months from the scene of action, and to that imper-
. fect knowledge which was common to them with
<7 almost all their countrymen : But that they have
" never erred so much, as when, distrusting their own
" knowledge, they have followed the directions of men
whom they unhappily thought wiser than themselves,
viz. practical Statesmen, and Lawyers; And that,
- lastly, in the highly important point of the servants,
- or subordinate agents of government, there is nothing
< VOL. VL c
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Sir John Shore Governor-General.

BOUK VI.in the world to be compared with the East India Com-

Cuar. 7.

1798.

pany, whose servants, as a body, have not only exhi-
bited a portion of talent which forms a contrast with
that of the ill-chosen instruments of other govern-
ments: but have, except in some remarkable in-
stances, as that of the loan tramsactions with the -
Nabob of Arcot, maintained a virtue, which, under
the temptations of their situation, is worthy of the
highest applause.

For the immediate successor of Lord Cornwallis,
choice was mude of Mr. Shore, acivil servant of the
Company, whose knowledge of the revenue system
of India was held in peculiar esteem. Pacific habits,
and skill in revenue, were possibly regarded as means
abundantly necessary for realizing those pecuniary
promises, which had been so loudly and confidently
made to both the parliament and people of England.

About the same time that Mr. Shore, dignified for
his new station with the title of Sir John Shore,
succeeded to the substantial power of the government
of Bengal, its nominal sovereign, the Nabob Muba-
rek ul Dowla, died, after a life of thirty-seven years,
and a reign of twenty-three. He left twelve sons
and thirteen daughters, and was succeeded by his
eldest son Uzeer ul Dowla, who was solemnly pro-
claimed at Calcutta on the 28th of September.

The first important circumstance which solicited
the attention of the new Governor-General, was the
appearance of an approaching rupture between two
of the late confederates; the Nizam, and the Mah-
rattas. The views, upon one another, of these two
states, had undergone no permanent alteration from
the union to which the desire of sharing in the spoils
of Tippoo had given a temporary existence. Inter-
vening circumstances had nearly matured into act
their inimical designs.
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The treaty of alliance, offensive and defensive, BOOK VI.

between the English, the Nizam, and Mahrattas,
included a mutual guarantee against the common
" object of their hatred and apprehensions, the sove-
= ‘reign of Mysore. This guarantee Lord Cornwallis
¢ appears to have thought of great importance for
. English security. It follows, that he must have ex-
pected greater benefit from the co-operation of the
" Nizam and Mabhrattas, in case of an attack, than
~ mischief from entanglement in the wars to which the
" turbulent politics of these native states would cer-
tainly give occasion. The mode in which the con-
tracting parties were to act, in accomplishing the ob-
jeets of the guarantee, was left, in the treaty concluded
previously to the war, to be settled by subsequent
regulation. So much had the Governor-General this
* affair of the guarantee at heart, that he endeavoured,
* as soon after the war as possible, to secure it by an
- express treaty devoted to that particular object. It
- was, however, to be an extraordinary treaty; for
Lord Cornwallis, not being altogether without fore-
sight of the evils likely to abound from an obligation
. to take a part in the wars which the Nizam and
- Mahrattas might kindle, was for inserting an article,
f, by which the allies were not to assist one another,
~ except, just when they pleased; or, as he chose to
- express it, “ until they were convinced that the party
requiring assistance had justice on his side, and all
measures of conciliation had proved fruitless.”*
. A draught of a treaty, to this effect, was trans-
. mitted to the courts of Hyderabad and Poonah. The
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1 Letter from Governor-General to the Resident at Poonah, dated 7th
August, 1792. Colonel Wilks says, on this occasion, ¢ The policy
of his Mahratta allies was in direct and systematic opposition to every
thing explicit and definite in its connesion with other powers.” In
this way, 1t nught be supposed, that this was a clause exactly to suit
them.

C 2

Cuap. 7.

1793.
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Relations with the Mahratias.

BOOK VI. Nizam, though fully sensible that the English alone

CHaPr. 7.

1793.

stood between him and destruction, was yet encou-
raged to the hope of drawing his profit out of the
eagerness for this treaty which the Governor-General
displayed. A dispute had already sprung up between
him and Tippoo Sultan. The Nabob of Kernoul was
the dependant of the Nizam. On that chief Tippoo
was urging claims which the Nizam contested. When
solicited on the subject of the treaty, the Nizam de-
manded, as the price of his consent, the support of
the English in the affair with Tippoo. This beha-
viour, the English, who knew their advantages,
treated as a crime; and expressed so much of anger,
that the Nizam was eager to redeem his offence by
unlimited complaisance.

As the power of the Mahrattas was different, so
was their temper. The Poonah Councils were still
governed by Nana Furnaveze, who now despairing
of assistance from the English to support him against
the designs of Scindia, opposed to the importunities
of the Governor-General, on the subject of his treaty,
evasion and delay. At last the Mahratta minister
produced a sketch of a treaty of guarantee to which
he expressed his willingness to accede, but involving
terms, the acceptance of which, it is probable, he did
not expect. Among these was an engagement for
realizing the claims of chout upon the dominions of
Tippoo.

The Mahrattas were jealous of the enlarged, and
growing power of the English. They were impa-
tient to reap the spoils of the feeble Nizam ; an acqui-
sition, to which they regarded the connexion of
that prince with the English as the only obstruction.
Scindia, whose power had been so greatly increased,
now exerted a decisive influence on the Mahratta
councils; and entertained designs of future grandeur



Situation of the Nizam. 21

with which the ascendancy, or rather the existence, BOOK VI.
of the English in India was altogether incompatible. ©*AF-7-
He was not solicitous to disguise his hatred of the 1794,
: connexion between them and the Nizam; or the
= satisfaction with which he regarded the power of

Tippoo, as a counterpoise to the still more formidable

power of the English.

After a negotiation of more than a year, the acces-
sion of the Mahrattas to the union so fondly projected
by Lord Cornwallis, was regarded as hopeless. The
Nizam, who saw in their aversion to the proposed
engagements, a design of holding themselves at liberty
to fall upon him, was kindled to an ardent pursuit of

. the guarantee; and urged upon the English govern-
. ment the propriety of concluding the treaty singly
- with him; as it could be no reason, because a third
. party swerved from its engagements, that the other
two should abandon theirs.! It entered, however,
into the policy of Sir John Shore, to avoid whatever
- could excite the jealousy of the Mahrattas: The
English government, accordingly, declared its satis-
faction with the verbal acquiescence of the Nizam;
and on the part of the Mahrattas, with a promise,
incidentally given, that they would act agreeably to
existing treaties.

The Nizam became at last so much impressed with
the prospect of the dangers around him, that on the
1st of January, 1794, Sir John Kennaway, the English
resident at Hyderabad, described him to the Governor-
General, as prepared to form, with the English, en-
gagements, which would render them masters of his
country for ever; and urged the wisdom of not al-
lowing so favourable an opportunity to escape.?

1 Sir John Malcolm thinks this good reasoning, p. 142.
* See his dispatch to the Governor-General, dated Hyderabad, 1st
Jan. 1794. The words of Sir John Malcolm, reporting and applauding
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Situation of the Nizam.

The course into which the Mahrattas had been
guided, by impulse of the circumstances in which
they were placed, very highly favoured the extension
of their dominion, by gradual encroachments upon
the slothful and improvident governments of India.
Enabled from the nature of their country, and their
state of society, to exercise with advantage a conti-
nual war of depredation against the surrounding
states, they were often bribed to forbearance, by
those who could find no other security against their
ravages. The terms of this agreement came at last
to be fixed, at a fourth part of the revenues of the
country which they consented to spare. This was
an opening, at which the stronger party generally
found the means of introducing whatever was required
for the final subjugation of the country. The fourth
part of the revenues was always a disputed sum;
and as the Mahrattas endeavoured to make it appear
to be greater than it really was, the government of
the country endeavoured to make it less. Nothing
is ever paid by an Indian government, so long as it
can help it; least of all, an odious tribute. The
Mabhratta chout therefore was seldom paid, except
by the terror of a Mahratta army; and by conse-
quence it was almost always in arrear. Under the

this advice, are worthy of insertion. ¢ In this [the dispatch in ques-
tion] the resident states his conviction, that the circumstances in which
the court of Hyderabad was then placed, and the character of those by
whom it was ruled, were such, as gave us an opportunity, which it
was wise and politic to use, to establish an influence and power in its
councils, which would enable us to command its future exertions, and
benefit from its resources under any events that could occur.” Sketch,
&c. p. 144. The opinion of two such distivguished functionaries of
the Company, so thoroughly conversant in the politics of India, respect-
ing the real import of those engagements, by which the native Princes
accepted the Company’s troops as the instrument of their defence, is
more instructive as throwing light upon the hypocrisy of preceding, than
the plain dealing of, subsequent, times.
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pretension of security against imposition and delay in BOOK Vi.
the Teceipt of the chout, the Mahrattas as often as _C°** "
possible insisted upon sending their own officers into  1794.
the country to collect it. This gave them a power

of interference in every measure of the government,

and the support of a body of partisans, who, exer-

cising the powers of Indian tax-gatherers, were

masters of the property, and to a great degree of the

person of every man subject to their exactions.

The dominions of the Nizam had long sustained
the Mahratta chout ; and previous to the connexion
which was formed between the Hyderabad govern-
ment and Lord Cornwallis, the Mahrattas exercised
so great an authority in his country, that the minister
of the Nizam was more attentive to the wishes of
the Mahrattas than the commands of his Master.
During the necessity of exertion against Tippoo, and
the union formed for his subjugation, the Mahrattas
had yielded to a temporary relaxation of their influ-
ence over the country of the Nizam. But they now
intended to resume it with improvements ; and a long
arrear of chout afforded the pretext for interference.

The English government offered its mediation.
- The ready acceptance of the Nizam was not a
. matter of doubt. The Mahrattas employed evasion ;
. and as soon as they were convinced that the inter-
position of the Governor-General would certainly
not be with arms, they treated his mediating propo-
sitions with frigid indifference.

A ecircumstance, calculated to alarm the English
government, occurred. Tippoo Sultan had an army
in the field, and either intended, or under terror was
suspected of intending, a confederacy with the Mah-
rattas for the subjugation of the Nizam. The ques-
tion was, what course it now behoved the English
government to pursue.

Dl .o
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The English decline Interference

BOOK VI. By the treaty of alliance, the Nizam, it might be

urged, was entitled to the assistance of the English

1794. against Tippoo; and so little were they released

from their engagement, by the infidelity of the Mah-
rattas, that they were rather bound to compel them
to fulfil the conditions of a treaty, of which the par-
ties were implied guarantees. Besides, the Nizam
had declared, that his accession to the alliance against
Tippoo was founded, not upon any confidence which
he could place in Mahratta, but on that alone which
he reposed in English, faith : Receiving him into the
alliance upon this declaration was a virtual pledge,
that the protection to which he looked from the
English was not to depend upon that security which
he expressly rejected: To make it depend upon that
security, was, therefore, a breach of engagement. At
the time when the Nizam, confiding in the security
of English protection, took part with the English,
the value attached to his alliance was such, that it
would have been purchased with eagerness at the
expense of an engagement offensive and defensive
with himself. Would the Nizam, being attacked by
Tippoo, have been entitled to assistance from the
English, if defended by the Mahrattas? And was his
title less, when about to be attacked by Tippoo, with
the Mahrattas conjoined? Such a disappointment
in hopes, on which he had staked the very existence
of his throne, could not do less than ensure to the
English the enmity of the Nizam. Nor could the
English abandon him, without the appearance at once
of weakness and infidelity ; without descending from
that high station in which they now over-awed the
Princes of India, as well by the terror of their arms,
as the purity of their faith.

Considerations presented themselves of an opposite
tendency. If the co-operation of all the parties in a
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" treaty were necessary-to the attainment of its end, BOOK VI.

. and the defection of any one of them rendered the at-
" tainment of the end no longer possible, the defection
of one dissolved, of course, the obligation of all.
Again, the treaty of alliance between the English,
- the Nizam, and the Mahrattas, bound the parties not
. to assist the enemies of one another. In the case,
therefore, of a war between any two of the parties,
- the third could not interfere. In such a case, the
- neutrality of the third party was that which the terms
" of the treaty expressly required. If the friendship
-"of the Nizam would be lost; if the opinion which
- prevailed of English power, and of the tenacity of
" English engagements, should endure a slight and
: temporary diminution, war was beyond comparison a
" greater evil. It was impossible for any body to
- suppose, that a war against Tippoo and the Mahrattas
- would be easily sustained. And as the revenue of
- .the Company was confessedly unequal to the expen-
_diture of war, a protracted contest was to be regarded
" as pregnant with ruin. Even the destruction of the
- Nizam could not be considered as adding to the
B dangers of the English; since, after subverting that
> power, the Mahrattas and Tippoo were much more
- likely to make war upon one another than to combine
_ their arms for an attack upon the British state. Fi-
_ nally, by the act of parliament the Company’s servants
- were clearly prohibited from interfering in the quarrels
. of the native princes, and from taking up arms against
them, unless to oppose an actual invasion of the British
-¢ provinces.
" By these considerations, the mind of the Governor-
~ General was determined; and he purposed to leave
the Nizam to his fate. That such a determination
was contrary to the expectations upon which the
Nizam was induced to enter into the alliance,

Cuar. 7.

1794,
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1794.

Nature of the English Policy.

expectations which for that purpose he was encour-
aged to entertain, there seems no reason to doubt.
The difficulties of the Governor-General, and the dis-
appointment of the Nizam, were created by the
looseness of the treaty. Two obvious cases, the
authors of that treaty had not been able to foresee ;
First, if one of the three contracting parties were at-
tacked by Tippoo, and one of the two who in that
case were bound to assist should decline ; Secondly,
if one of the three were attacked, and one of the two,
who ought to assist, instead of assisting, should join
the aggressor. 'There was nothing in the treaty
which determined what was to be done by the third
party in either of those cases.

If Tippoo had attacked the English, and the Mah-
rattas had either not assisted, or joined in the attack,
it may be strongly suspected that the English, in
that case, would not have held the Nizam released
from his engagement.

The opinion has also been urged, and it is not with-
out probability, that, by declaring themselves bound
to protect the Nizam, the English would not have
involved themselves in the calamities of war, but
would have prevented hostilities by the terror of their
interference.

When once the English have thoroughly imbibed
the dread of an enemy, Tippoo, or any other; that
dread, after the cause of it is weakened, or, peradven-
ture, wholly removed, continues for a long time to
warp their policy. In the opinion of the Governor-
General, great danger still impended over the Com-
pany by the existence of Tippoo: The Nizam he
regarded as too weak ; the Mahrattas alone as suffi-
ciently powerful to yield a counterpoise to that de-

' This opinion is given with confidence by Sir John Malcolm.
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tested sovereign: His policy, therefore, was to retain, BOI?AE ‘77_1~
" at some cost, the friendship of the Mahrattas; and
- for this purpose not to grudge the sacrifice of the 1794
. Nizam. N

He was relieved from a portion of his difficulties
by the assurance that, if Tippoo had entertained the
project of an attack upon the Nizam, it was now laid
aside. In the dispute between the Nizam and Mah-
rattas, the treaty, he thought, created, certainly, no
. obligation to interfere.
In the opinion of Sir John Malcolm, an obligation
_ existed. which cannot fail to be considered as a little
extraordinary. He seems to say, for it is seldom that
a rhetorical writer is entirely free from ambiguity,
that the native powers, by joining the English in any
war in which they were engaged, established a right,
which nothing but their own misconduct could ever
. forfeit, to their friendship, and to protection against
- any power to whom by that conduct they might have

given offence.’ He adduces Lord Cornwallis as a
party to this speculation ; who, * in his letter, under
date the 28th of February, 1790, to the resident at
Poonah, declared, that the Mahratta state, by acting
against Tippoo in concert with the British govern-
ment, became entitled, in reason and equity, to a de-
fensive alliance against that prince, even though no
previous engagement existed.” If this proposition
means any thing real; and if assistance in war creates
an obligation to assistance in return, except an obli-
gation of which the party obliged is alone to judge,
in other words an obligation binding him only when
agreeable, that is, no obligation at all; the receipt of
assistance in war is a snare, which carries ruin in its
consequences, and ought for ever to be shunned.

i : I-&*k:f.*a«-vhéﬁwi ®

! Sketch, &c. p. 167.
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War between

BOOK vI. One little consequence, in the present instance, it
Cuar.7. would appear that Sir John Malcolm overlooked.

1795.

The Nizam and Mahrattas were about to go to war:
The English had received assistance from both of
them: The English were therefore bound to lend
assistance to both of them; that is, to send one body
of English troops to fight against another.

Before hostilities commenced between the Subah-
dar afd the Mahrattas, Mahdajee Scindia died. 'The
power of this chief, and his ascendancy in the Mah-
ratta confederacy, had lately been so great, that his
death was expected to produce considerable changes;
and the resident at Poonah thought it probable, that
the opportunity might be so improved, as to effect an
adjustment between the Nizam and Mahrattas. The
Governor-General however would not risk offence to
the Poonah government, by any sort of interference
more forcible than words ; and the successor of Mah-
dajee Scindia, his nephew Doulut Row, soon assembled
his army from the remotest parts of his, dominions,
and obtained an ascendancy at once in the Poonah
councils, and in the confederacy which was forming
against the dominions of the Nizam.

The Nizam was the party in danger, but the first
in the field. He advanced to Beder, if not with a
view to actual aggression, at least with a view to
interfere in the internal affairs of the Mahratta go-
vernment, a considerable time before the movement
of the Mahratta armies. Early in March, 1795, the
advanced corps of the Mahratta army, under the com-
mand of Doulut Row Scindia approached; and the
Nizam advanced from Beder to meet him. A general
action took place. Both armies were thrown into
some confusion, and neither obtained any considerable
advantage. But the women of the Nizam were
frightened; and under their influence he retreated
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- from the scene of action during the night. He sought BOOK VI.

protection in the small fort of Kurdlah, where the ©=*T-

~ Mahrattas had the advantage of terminating the war 1795.

. without another blow. The fort is completely sur-
rounded by hills, except at one particular spot. The

. Mahrattas took possession of this outlet, by which

they completely shut up the Nizam, and cut him off

from supplies. After remaining some weeks in this

miserable situation, he found himself at the mercy of

his enemy, and concluded a peace on such terms as they

- were pleased to dictate. The particulars of the

. treaty were not fully made known; but, beside es-

.- tablishing all their former claims, the Mahrattas com-

. pelled him to cede to them a country of thirty-five

- lacs revenue, including the celebrated fort of Doulut-

abad; to pay three crores of rupees, one-third imme-

. diately, the rest by instalments of twenty-five lacs per

. annum; and to give up, as a hostage for the perform-

-~ ance of these conditions, his minister Azeem ul Om-

“ rah, whose abilities had for some time been the great

- support of his throne; who was the zealous friend of
the English connexion ; and a firm opponent of the
Mabhrattas.

No part of the conduct of the English had more
offended the Nizam, than the refusal to permit his
two battalions of British troops to accompany him to
the war. As the Mahrattas were the great source
from which he apprehended danger, an expensive
force which could not be employed against the Mah-
rattas, was a loss, rather than advantage. He, there-
fore, shortly after his return to Hyderabad, intimated
his desire to dispense with the service of the English
battalions ; and they marched to the territories of the

Company.
The Subahdar of Deccan had never, from the time
of Bussy, been without French officers in his service.
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The English jealous of the French Corps

BOOK VI. In the confederate war against Tippoo, he had two

Crar. 7. pattalions of regular infantry, officered by Frenchmen,

1795. and commanded by a gentleman of the name of Ray-

mond ; who began his military career in India, at an
early age, in the disastrous campaigns of Lally. At
first his establishment amounted to no more than 300
men ; and he hired their arms from a merchant of his
own country, at the rate of eight annas® a month.
By his services and address, he rapidly increased the
favour and liberalities of the Subahdar; of which he
availed himself for the augmentation and equipment
of his corps. It had received great accessions both to
its numbers, and appointments, since the peace of
Seringapatam ; and the Knglish resident reported,
probably with great exaggeration, that twenty-three
battalions of this description, with twelve field pieces,
accompanied the Nizam in his campaign against the
Mabhrattas.

After the return of that Prince to his capital, he
ordered new levies of this corps; and assigned a por-
tion of territory for its regular payment. The ex-
postulations of the British resident, and his intima-
tions that so much encouragement of the French
portended serious changes in his relations with the
English, were but little regarded.

A part of this corps was sent to occupy the dis-
tricts of Kurpah, and Cummum. These districts lay
upon the frontier of the Company’s possessions ; and
the Governor-General took the alarm. “ The measure
itself,” he remarked,”> * had a suspicious not to say
criminal appearance ; ” and he directed « the strongest
representations to be made, to induce the Nizam to
recall the detachment of Monsieur Raymond.” In
case of refusal, the resident was even instructed to

1 15 3d. 2 In his Minute, 15th June, 1795.
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threaten him with the march of a body of English BOOK VI.
troops to his frontier. The apprehensions of the E_“_P_"_
English government were increased by some French  1795.
officers, prisoners at Madras, who were detected in a
£ project of escape, and suspected of a design to join

& M. Raymond.
%  Whether the Nizam could have been led on to

* risk the displeasure of the English, or whether the
knowledge of his defenceless condition would soon
have brought him back to court their support, suffi-
cient time was not afforded to try. On the 28th of
June, his eldest son Ali Jah fled from the capital, and
placed himself in open rebellion; when his fears

were so vehemently excited, that he applied him-

self with the utmost eagerness to recover the friend-

ship of the English. He agreed to the recall of
Raymond’s corps from the district of Kurpah; and
warmly solicited the return of the subsidiary force.

The battalions were ordered to join him with the
greatest possible expedition; but before they were

able to arrive, an action had taken place, in which

Ali Jah was made prisoner. He did not long sur-

vive his captivity. The Nizam, however, enjoyed

but a few mounths tranquillity, when another member

of his family revolted, at the head of a large body of
troops. In quelling this rebellion, and recovering the

fort of Rachore, which the insurgents had occupied,

the English Dattalions had an opportunity of ren-
dering conspicuous service.

The Nizam, though brought again to a sufficient
sense of his dependance upon the English, could not
help reflecting that from them he had nothing to ex-
pect in seeking the means of his defence against that
insatiate neighbour, whom nothing less than his ruin
would content ; nor could he forbear turning with
particular favour to that body of his troops, on whom,
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BOOK VI.
Cuar. 7.

1795.

English Relations with the Nizam and Mahrattas

in contending with the Mahrattas, his principal de-
pendance must rest. The value of M. Raymond’s
corps had risen in his estimation by the activity
which it had displayed in the reduction of Ali Jah.
Its numbers and appointments were increased ; ad-
ditional lands for its support were assigned to its
commander; and arsenals and foundaries were es-
tablished for its equipment. The abilities of M.
Raymond qualified him to improve the favourable
sentiments of his prince; the discipline and equip-
ment of his corps were carried to the highest per-
fection, of which his circumstances would admit;
and his connexions with the principal officers of the
government were industriously cultivated and en-
larged. He was not anxious to avoid those little
displays, by which the fears and hatred of the English
were most likely to be inflamed. The colours of the
French republic were borne by his battalions ; and
the cap of liberty was engraved on their buttons.
While a detachment of this corps was stationed on
the frontier of the Company’s territories, a partial
mutiny was raised in a battalion of Madras sepoys.
It was ascribed, of course, to the intrigues of the
French abominable officers. Whether this was, or
was not the fact; two native commissioned officers,
with a number of men, went over to the French.

It was by no means without jealousy and appre-
hension, that the English government beheld the
progress of a French interest in the councils of the
Nizam. That Prince declared his readiness to dis-
miss the rival corps, provided the English subsidiary
force was so increased, and its service so regulated, as
to render it available for his defence. This, however,
the desire of standing fair with the Mahrattas dis-
suaded, and a succedaneum was devised. [t was
thought expedient to encourage the entrance of Eng-



affected by the Death of the Peshwa.

‘might form a rival corps to counterbalance the
Fretach. But the English were less qualified than
the French for this species of adventure ; there was no
man to be found whose abilities and address could
balance those of M. Raymond; and this project to-
tally failed.

An event, in the mean time, occurred, which ma-
terially affected the politics of this part of India.
On the 27th of October, 1795, happened the death
of the young Peshwa, Madhoo Row ; and introduced
the most serious divisions among the Mahratta chiefs.
- Nanah Furnavese desired to place upon the vacant
throne an infant whom he could use as a tool.
# Bajee Row, undoubted heir, the son of Ragoba, was
% supported by the influence of Scindia. In these cir-
; cumstances, Nanah Furnavese was anxious to
strengthen himself by the alliance of the Nizam.
. He released Azeem ul Omrah, opened a negotiation
# with that minister on behalf of his master; and con-
- -claded a treaty, by which all the cessions extorted at
- Curdlagh were resigned. 1n the mean time, Scindia
hastened to Poonah, with an army which his rival
was unable to oppose; aud Bijee Row was placed
; upon the musnud of Poona. The. treaty with the
% minister of the Nizam was of course annulled ; but a
- new one was concluded, by which the Nizam was re-
 quired to make good only one fourth of the cessions
% and payments which had been fixed by the conven-
% tion of Curdlah.
% The intercourse with Tippoo, during the adminis-
= tration of Sir John Shore, was bounded by the exe-
~ cution of the treaty of Seringapatam. When the
sons of Tippoo were restored, ' the officer who con-
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lish adventurers into the service of the Nizam, who Bé)bl{ ;7[.
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Effects of Misgovernment in Oude.

BOOK VI ducted them was empowered to make overtures to-

Char. 7.

wards a more amicable connection, provided a fa-

1795. vourable disposition appeared on the part of the

Sultan. But the pride of that Prince was too much
wounded to consort with friendship; and on this oc-
casion, the tyrant, as the English called him, dis-
dained to practise hypocrisy. He received the officer
with frigid civility.

Though Lord Cornwallis, upon taking the reins of
the Company’s government, had agreed with the
Nabob of Oude, that the government of his country
should be divided into two parts, of which the one,
namely, the business of defence, and all transactions
with foreign states, should belong to the Company,
and the other, namely, the internal administration,
including the collection of the revenue, the coercion
of the people, and the distribution of justice, should,
without interference or control, belong to himself .
the English rulers had, nevertheless, observed the
extraordinary vices of his government with great
solicitude, as leading necessarily to that desolation of
the country, with which the payment of the Com-
pany’s subsidy would soon be incompatible. On the
visit of Lord Cornwallis to Lucknow, in the first
year of his administration, “ I cannot,” he said, ex-
press how much I was concerned, during my short
residence at the capital of the Vizir, and my progress
through his dominions, to be witness of the disordered
state of his finances and government, and of the de-
solated appearance of the country.”' The Directors,

1 Letter from Lord Cornwallis, dated, ¢ On the Ganges, 16th Nov.
1787 ;” Papers relating to India, printed by the House of Commons in
1806, No. 2. p. 4. In the same letter his Lordship says, the Nabob,
“ urged, as apologies~that whilst he was not certain of the extent of
our demands upon him, he had no real interest in being economical
in his expenses; and that while we interfered in the internal manage-~
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with an extraordinary candour, declared, that the BOOK viI.
vices of the mative government were wot the only ©24™-7-
cause of this desolation; that for a great part of it 17gs,
the vices of their own administration were justly ac«
countable. *“ Under a system,” they say, ¢ defective
in almost every part of it, and the abuses which arose
out of that system, the present unfortunate state of
the country may, in our opinion, be fairly attributed
to a combination of causes. Among these is a claim
which is now very wisely relinquished, of right of
pre-emptions, and of exemptions from duties, in the
province of Oude; made, and exercised, by con-
tractors employed in providing the investment; and
which, in the opinion of Lord Cornwallis, has essen«
tially contributed to its ruin. The immense drain of
specie from that country of late years, amounting,
from February 1794, to September 1783, to the
enormous sum of two crores and thirty-nine lacs of
rupees, exclusive of what may have been sent down
to Calcutta to answer the bills drawn for the pay-
ment of the troops, and on private account, stands
foremost in our opinion, among the causes that have
operated so much to its prejudice.”’ Though the Di-
rectors saw but imperfectly the mode in which con-
nexion with their government had been ruinous to
Oude, they had the merit of tracing, in a general
way, the relation between cause and effect.?

In the year 1792 died Hyder Beg Khan, the mi-
nister. As the Nabob was a cipher in the hands of
his minister, and the minister was a mere instrument

ment of his affairs, his own authority, and that of his ministers, were
despised by his own subjects."
1 Political Letter to Gov.-Gen. 8th April, 1780 ; printed papers, ut
supra, p. 5.
2 The mysterv is explained 1n a subsequent page.
D 2
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Misgovernment in Oude

BOOK VI.in the hands of the Company, this was an event

Caar. 7.

1795.

which deeply interested the Company’s government.
The Nabob appointed a person of the name of
Hossein Reza Khan, who had enjoyed the principal
share of his confidence even in the time of the de-
ceased minister, to execute provisionally the duties of
the vacant office. As this person, however, was but
little acquainted with the business of revenue, Raja
Tickait Roy, to whom that business was confided
under Hyder Beg, was placed at the head of the
financial department. The final election remained
till the pleasure of the Governor-General should be
known ; who, satisfied of the inclination of both the
men to rely upon the English government, and not
acquainted with any persons who were better qua-
lified, signified his approbation of the choice of the
Nabob ; and, on condition of their good behaviour,
gave to the new ministers assurance of his support.
The influence of the new ministers was still less able,
than that of their predecessor, to limit either the ex-
penses of the Vizir, or the ruinous exactions upon the
people which those expenses, the English subsidy, and
the extortions of the tax-gatherers, imposed. In the
month of January, 1793, Lord Cornwallis thought it
necessary to write to the Vizir a solemn letter of ex-
postulation and advice. “ On my return,” said he,
 from the war in the Deccan, I had the mortification
to find that, after a period of five years, the evils
which prevailed at the beginning of that time had in-
creased ; that your finances had fallen into a worse
state by an enormous accumulated debt; that the
same oppressions continue to be exercised by rapa-
cious and overgrown aumils towards the ryots ; and
that not only the subjects and merchants of your own
dominions, but those residing under the Company’s
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protection, suffered many exactions contrary to the BOOK VI

commercial treaty, from the custom-house officers,
from Zemindars, aumils, and others.”

The Governor-General then proceeded to pen ad-
vices, which, though they were lost upon a sensual
and profligate prince, will not be lost upon the
people of England. “ As in a state,” said he « the
evils that are practised, by the lower class of men,
are to be attributed to the example held out to them
by their superiors, and to their connivance, or to their
weak government ; so am I obliged to represent, that
all the oppressions and extortions committed by the
aumils on the peasantry, take their source in the
connivance and irregularities of the administration
of Lucknow.”

His meaning, as he himself explains it, is, That
an expensive government is, by the very nature of
things, an unjust and oppressive government; and
that expense, when it proceeds to a certain pitch, is
the cause, not of misery alone, but of ruin and deso-
lation. ¢ Though the Company’s subsidy,” said he,
“ is at present paid up with regularity, yet I cannot
risk my reputation, nor neglect my duty, by remain-
ing a silent spectator of evils which will, in the end,
and perhaps that end is not very remote, render
abortive even your Excellency’s earnest desire that
the subsidy should be punctually paid. Thus, I
recommend economy in your own household disburse-
ments, as the first measure, whence all other correc-
tions are to take place.—I do not neglect the dignity
of your station: nor am I actuated by views for the
Company’s subsidy only. Your dignity does not
flow from a splendid retinue ; and unnecessary estab-
lishment of household servants, elephants, sumptuous
ceremonies, and other circumstances of similar na-

CHaP. 7.

1795.
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Expense described by Cornwallis

BOOK VL ture: But from a just and wise administration of

Caapr. 7,

1795.

your government and finances.”

Just before the departure of Lord Cornwallis, the
new ministers repaired to Calcutta; in order more
fully to explain the deplorable state in which the
government and population of the country were
placed, and to pray for counsel and support in con-
ducting the affairs of a prodigal government and an
impoverished people. The Governor-General, before
leaving India, addressed to the Vizir another letter,
of great length, from Madras. In this he repeats,
that the effects of an expensive government are two,
First, the oppression and misery of the people; and
secondly, the fall of the government itself. It is
well known,” says he ; “ not only throughout Hin-
dustan but to all Europe, that the revenues of your
Excellency’s dominions are diminished beyond all
conjecture.—Does not this consideration alarm your
Excellency >~Can any thing but ruin result from
such circumstances >—Are not these facts a decisive
proof of tyranny, extortion, and mismanagement, in
the aumils ?— And, what must be the situation of the
ryots who are placed under such people >—But your
Excellency knows, that the prayers of the oppressed
are attended to by the Almighty; and often call
down his vengeance upon their oppressors.—History
confirms the observation, by exhibiting innumerable
examples of monarchies overturned, and families
effaced from the earth, by a violation of justice in
the sovereign, or neglect in him to enforce its laws.”

He continues; “ The evils flowing from this source
would have been less felt, if, in proportion as the

* Letter from Lord Cornwallis to the Vizir, dated 29th Jan. 1793;
printed papers ut supra, p. 11—13.
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revenues declined, a diminution of expenses had taken BOOK V1.
place. But profusion, in fact, was the cause of the Case. 7.
first evil: and the continuance of it increased its 179s5.
magnitude.”

He adds, “ All the world concurs in encomiums
upon the dignity and splendour which adorned the
court of your illustrious father; but his splendour
did not arise from the gaudiness of equipage, from
frivolous dissipation, or from profuse expenditure.
He well knew, that the best ornament of sovereignty
is justice: that due economy is the source of order
and dignity : that the true splendour of a court is
. derived from equity and wisdom.”

« If,” says he, * the information which I have re-
ceived of the state of the country be true, the dis-
orders exceed all bounds, and all description. The
consequence is, that the revenues are collected, with-
out system, by force of arms; that the aumils (reve-
nue agents) are left to plunder uncontrouled; and
the ryots have no security from oppression, nor means
of redress for injustice exercised upon them.”!

In May 1794, Sir John Shore, in his letter to the
Resident at Lucknow, said; “ It has long been my
anxious wish, no less than that of my predecessor,
the Marquis Cornwallis, to prevail upon the Nabob
Vizir to arrange the internal administration of his
country, and establish it upon principles calculated
to promote the happiness of his subjects and the per-
manency of his own authority. I cannot, therefore,
observe, without regret, that his Excellency does not
appear to have adopted any measures for this pur-
pose, in consequence of the letter addressed to him
by Marquis Cornwallis from Madras, and which I
delivered to his ministers in Calcutta, with the most

i Printed papers, ut supra, p. 16, 17, 19.
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Progress of Delerioration.

BOOK VLI serious recommendation to them to use their utmost

CHaP. 7.

1795.

exertions in giving effect to the advice and represen-
tations of his Lordship.”’

Fyzoollah Khan, the Rohilla chief, to whom the
district of Rampore had been preserved, at the time
when the rest of his nation were exterminated from
the country to which they had given their name,
died, at an advanced age, in 1794, leaving the coun-
try over which he had ruled, in a high state of culti-
vation and prosperity. The succession went to
Mahommed AN, his eldest son, who was duly con-
firmed by the Vizir, and acknowledged by the prin-
cipal Rohilla chiefs. His younger brother Gholaum
Mahomed, an ambitious man, contrived in a little
time to get him into his power; when he put him to
death ; and sent a large present to the Vizir, with a
promise of augmented tribute, if he were confirmed
in the government of Rampore. Though the mur-
dered Prince left a son, in a state of nonage, the
Vizir was by no means disinclined to the proposition
of Gholaum Mahomed. It was, however, a proceed-
ing of too much importance to be concluded without
the permission of the British government; and that
was refused. The British troops, under Sir Robert
Abercromby, joined by such forces as the Vizir could
afford, were ordered to march against the usurper,
and treat him as a rebel. It was the purpose of the
Governor-General, to wrest the country entirely from
the family of Fyzoollah Khan, notwithstanding the
rights of the son of Mabomed Ali, guaranteed by
the British government ;> and notwithstanding the
rights of the people of the Country, happy under the
frugal government of the Rohilla chief, menaced with

1 Printed papers, ut supra, p. 14.
2 Sir John Malcolm, Sketch of the Political History of India, p. 195.
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misery and ruin under the exactions of the Vizir, to BOOK VI
which, with a full knowledge of the circumstances, Caar. T.
the British ruler was about to condemn them. The 170s.
rapidity of Sir Robert Abercromby anticipated the
arrival of the instructions which were forwarded te
this effect. A battle was fought at Bittawrah; in
which, after making a partial impression upon the
British line, the Rohillas were defeated. Negotiation
followed, and an arrangement was made. The trea-
sures of the late prince, Fyzallah Khan, were given
up to the Vizir. And a jaghire, of ten lacs of reve-
nue, under the express guarantee of the English
government, was granted to Asoph Jah, the son of
Mahomed AL

The retrograde movement was uninterrupted in
the Nabob’s affairs. ¢ The exigencies of his govern-
ment,” as we are informed by the Directors, “ were
supplied by loans, on terms increasing in proportion
to the sums demanded, and the discharge of one
debt was effected, not from the revenue, but by con-
tracting another of an increasing interest.” The
ministers Hussein Reza Khan, and Rajah Tickait
Roy, had become odious to him, by opposing ob-
structions to his will: and he accused them of the
embarrassments which bad grown upon him during
their administration. His desire was to make Rajah
Jao Loll his minister; who had been one of his inti-
mates for several years, and professed absolute sub-
serviency. 'The aversion of the English government
to this minion was not unknown. The Nabob there-
fore was advised to assume the appearance of acting
as his own minister; while the business and power,
in reality, passed into the hands of Jao Loll.

' Collection of Treaties and Engagements, with the Native Princes
and States of Asia, &c. printed for the East India Company in 1812,
p- 150—161. .
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Death of Asoph ul Dowlah,

BoOK VI. The English troops, employed in the country of
Cuar-7. the Vizir, were always on the increase. Instead of

1796.

the single brigade, which Hastings had pronounced
sufficient, even the two brigades, for which Lord
Cornwallis had made provision, in the subsidy of
fifty lacs, were now exceeded. In their dispatch of
the 22d of April, 1796, the Directors commanded the
two regiments of native cavalry, serving under the
Presidency of Bengal, to be augmented to four; and,
“in order to relieve the Company from a consi
derable part of the expense, they directed that
every possible effort should be made to induce the
Vizir to disband his own useless cavalry, and to
apply a part of the sums expended in their sapportto
defraying a part of the charges which the Company
incurred by the proposed augmentation.”' With
this proposition, the Vizir, at first, would by no
means comply. And in March, 1797, the Governor-
General paid a visit to Lucknow, for the ‘ two
avowed objects,” as he himself expressed it, “ of in-
ducing the Vizir to establish a reform in his adminis-
tration, and to pay part of the new cavalry establish-
ment, which he had already peremptorily refused.”
The influence of the British ruler was not entirely
without success; an agreement was obtained from
the wretched Vizir to add to his former subsidy the
expense of one European and one native regiment
of. English cavalry, provided the annual amount
should not exceed five and a half lacs of rupees; and
Tuffeizel Hussein Khan, a man in whose probity and
talents the Governor-General placed great reliance,
was appointed minister.

Only a few months elapsed, when, after a short
illness, the Vizir expired. The eldest of his brothers

! Printed Papers, ut supra, p. 28. 3 Ibid,
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was Saadut Ali, who, in fear of intrigues, had been BOOK VI.
. . Caar. 7.

compelled to reside on a pension at Benares. To the

succession of Mirza Ali, the eldest son of Asoph ul 1797.

Dowlah, Saadut Ali offered objections, asserting that

neither he, nor any other of the reputed children of

the late Vizir, was really his offspring : And he urged

his own pretensions to the vacant throne. The arbi-

ter in this great dispute was the Governor-General.

The acknowledgement of the late Vizir, who had

treated Mirza Ali as his son and successor; the un-
doubted principle of the Moslem law, which renders

~ that acknowledgement a valid title ; the acquiscence

of the Begums, the wife and mother of Asoph ul

Dowlah; the concurrence of the capital; and the

danger of admitting reports on the filiation of princes

to decide the question of their succession, swayed the

mind of the Governor-General ; and Mirza Ali, com-

monly known by the name of Vizir Ali, was placed

on the musnud, and recognised by the Eunglish go-

vernment as Nabob of Oude.

The young sovereign had not long enjoyed his
power and dignity, when complaints were received
by the Governor-General, both respecting his title,
and respecting his conduct. The situation of affairs
appeared to require the presence of the English ruler;
and he began his journey to Lucknow. Upon his
arrival, he found a scene of intrigue of extraordinary
activity, and extraordinary complication. The elder
Begum, having interfered with the conduct of the
Nabob, had been urged to return to Fyzabad; and
animosity succeeded to friendship. Almas Ali Khan,
who had been an object of distrust to the British go-
vernment for many years, and forced to keep aloof
from public affairs, had so successfully employed his
leisure, in carrying on the business of rcnter, that a
great proportion of the country was now placed in his




44 Dispute about the

Bglﬁfﬁ ‘;I- hands; and he was the most powerful individual in
___ the state. Upon her quarrel with the Nabob, the
1797. Begum had resigned herself to the councils of this
man; who advised an apparent reconciliation with
the Nabob. “ On my arrival at Lucknow,” says
the Governor-General, “ the confederacy between the
Nabob and Begum appeared indissoluble, and it was
the opinion of the minister that they could not be
disunited. The principal adviser of the Begum was
Almas, either directly, or through (her principal
eunuch) Jewahur Ali Khan. And Hossein Reza
Khan, and Tickait Roy, ranged under their banners.
With the Nabob, his father-in-law Sherf Ali Khan
was supposed to have the most influence.—The object
of all parties was to oppose the English influence.”
Presently the views of the actors began to disclose
themselves. And a malady which attacked the Nabob,
the measles, or small-pox, shortly after the arrival of
the Governor-General, afforded a favourable oppor-
tunity for intrigue.— I confess,” says the Governor-
General, « without reserve, that I never was involved
in a scene of more perplexity and profligacy.”
< On the 29th of December,” (I still use the lan-
guage of the Governor-General’s report,) ¢ Almas,
who has most sedulously studied appearances, waited
on the minister, and entered into conferences with
him which lasted several days. He began with strong
complaints of the conduct of Vizir Ali, whom he de-~
signated by a mest opprobrious term. He spoke of
him as spurious and profligate; as a man who would
ruin the country by his vices and profusion. He
mentioned the earnest wish of the Begum and him-
self, that he should be deposed, and some one of the
sons of Suja ud Dowlah, be placed on the musnud,
excluding all the sons of Asoph ul Dowlah, as spu-
rious.” The same representations were successively
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repeated to the Governor-General, and to the Gover- BOOK vI.
nor-General in company with the Commander-in- C®4%-7-
Chief. Mirza Jungly, a brother of the late Nabob, 1797,
younger than Saadut Ali, was the person whom the
Begum and Almas combined in recommending. And
“ a large pecuniary sacrifice,” says the Governor-
General, “ was promised, as a compensation for my
acquiescence.”—* Almas,” he continues, “ acts in the
name of the Begum; and while he pretends to dis-
avow, on her part, all wish to interfere in the admi-
nistration, his propositions to me were directly calcu-
lated to place it in her power.”

Great industry and skill had been employed in
prepossessing the mind of the Governor-General with
the most unfavourable opinion of the young Nabob,
as a man between whose character, and the interests
of the English, an irreconcileable contrariety was
placed. He was represented as extremely profuse in
his expenditure, and therefore likely to absorb the
funds from which annual payments to the English
might proceed ; as of a violent, ungovernable will,
and therefore unlikely to be obedient to the English;
and finally, as altogether averse to the English, and
likely to use his utmost endeavours to free himself
from their yoke.

The belief of these representations, communicated
to the Governor-General, appears to have decided the
question. It prepared his mind for annexing weight
to any evidence which might be preferred of the spu-
riousness of the man whom he wished not to reign.
It was no objection to the legitimacy of the Nabob,
that he was not the son of the Begum, who had no
child; that he was the son of a female, menially em-
ployed in the zenana. He was acknowledged by
Asoph ul Dowlah as his son, and, according to the
law of the Moslems, that was enough. Tehzeen Ali
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The Illegitimacy of Vixir Ali

BooK V1. Khan, however, a confidential eunuch of the late
Coar.7. Vizir, told the following story; That the mother of

1797.

Vizir Ali had a husband of her own rank ; was never
confined to the zenana, but quitted it daily, as is cus-
tomary with menials of the same description, and

went to her husband’s house; that Vizir Ali was not

the son of the Nabob, but purchased of his mother
for 500 rupees after his birth; that it was customary
for the Nabob, having no progeny, to purchase women
who were pregnant, and bring up their children as
his own; and that this was the origin of all the chil-
dren who were now regarded as the offspring of
Asoph ul Dowlah.!

In this statement, the only point of real importance
was, whether Asoph ul Dowlah was, or thought that
he was, the father of the child produced by the
mother of Vizir Ali. Tehzeen Ali Khan said, that
he was not, and did not know of her pregnancy till
after the birth of the child. And upon this story,
told privately to the Governor-General by Tehzeen,
who complained of having been treated with injustice
by the Nabob, and who might have been suborned
by his enemies ; told without confrontation with the
public, without confrontation with the Nabob, with-
out cross examination, without counter evidence,
without hearing any thing the party affected might
have to adduce in his behalf, without pushing the in-
quiry by examination of other peisons to whom the
secrets of the zenana might be known, and corrobor-
ated only by what he was told was the public opinion,
did the Governor-General declare, that a man whom
he had acknowledged as Nabob of Oude, and who
succeeded to the throne with the apparent concur-

' Minute of Sir John Shore, detailing the measures which led to the
deposition of Vizir Ali, &c, printed papers, ut supra, No. 1. p. 1.
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rence of all ranks, except the single voice of Saadut BOOK VL.
Ali, was not the son of the late Vizir, and ought to be “** T
displaced from the throne. 1797.

It is impossible, to read the account of this transac-
tion, drawn up by the Governor-General, and not to
be impressed with a conviction of his sincerity, and
his desire to do justice. But it is easy also to perceive
how much his understanding was bewildered; and
impossible not to confess that he decided against the
unfortunate Nabob the great question of a kingdom,
upon evidence upon which a court of English law
would not have decided against him a question of a
few pounds.”’

When the resolution of deposing Vizir Ali was
taken, the choice of a successor was easily made.
Saadut Ali was the eldest surviving son of Suja
Dowlah; and would not, as Mirza Jungly, become a
tool in the hands of the Begum and Almas. When
the treaty proposed by the Governor-General was
communicated to Saadut Ali, it was not the time to
dispute about terms. He gave his consent to every
particular. He then proceeded to Cawnpore; from
which he was escorted by a large body of European
troops to Lucknow. The military force of the
country was almost wholly English. The Nabob
was, therefore, completely helpless; and Saadut Ali

! The tale of Tehzeen, said the Governor-General, concorded with
public opinion. But what knew the Governor-General about the
public opinion of Oude, except what he was told? And what was he
told except by a few individuals who surrounded him; and who con-
curred, for their own purposes, in wishing Vizir Ali to be deposed ? The
utmost that can be said for the tale of Tehzeen is, that it is not in itself
incredible, or, perhaps improbable. But that was not the question.
The only question was, whether there was or was not evidence to estab-
lish the allegations. Undoubtedly his private conversation with the
Governor-General, aided by what a few individuals ¢old the Governor-
General about public opinion—was not evidence sufficient to vest alle-
gations with the charagter of facts.
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Vizir Al deposed, and Saadut Al proclaimed.

BOOK V1. was proclaimed, without opposition, on the 21st of

CHavr.

v January, 1798.

1798.

The terms, to which he had at first assented, were
somewhat modified after he came to the throne. It
was finally established, that the annual subsidy should
be raised to seventy-six lacs of rupees, and that the
fort of Allahabad should be made over to the English.
It was also arranged, that the regular amount of the
English forces stationed in Oude should be 10,000
men, including all descriptions; that, if at any time
the amount should exceed 13,000 men, the expense
of all the troops above that number should be de-
frayed by the Nabob ; if it should fall below 8,000, a
proportional deduction should be made. The Nabob
further agreed, to pay twelve lacs of rupees to the
English, as compensation money, for the expense of
placing him on the musnud; and not, without their
consent, to hold communication with any foreign
state, to employ no Europeans in his service, or
to permit any to settle in his dominions. Finally he
agreed to allow a lac and a half of rupees as an an
nual pension to the deposed Vizir Ali, who was re-
moved to Benares; and to afford a suitable main-
tenance to the rest of the reputed children of his
brother, the deceased Nabob.?

The transaction had one attractive feature; that of
gain to the Company : And it received the most cor-
dial approbation of the powers, ministerial, and direc-
torial, at home. The political letter to Bengal, dated
15th May, 1799, after a full commentary upon the
proceedings, thus declares: “ Having taken this
general view of the subject, with a minute attention,
however, to all the papers and proceedings, we are,

! Printed Papers, ut supra, p. 19=~22.—Collection of Treaties, ut
supra, p. 177.

e

T VIS I

ot SR b g



Affairs of the Madras Presidency. 49

upon the whole, decidedly of opinion, that the late BOOK VI.
Governor-General, Lord Teignmouth, in a most ar- Caar.T.
duous situation, and under circumstances of much 1795.
delicacy and embarrassment, conducted himself with

great temper, impartiality, ability, and firmness; and

that he finished a long course of faithful services, by
planning and carrying into execution an arrangement,

which not only redounds highly to his own honour,

but which will also operate to the reciprocal advantage

of the Company, and the Nabob Vizir.”*

On the 1st of August, 1792, Sir Charles Oakely
succeeded General Medows, as Governor of Fort St.
George, and President of the Council at Madras. Sir
Charles remained in the government till the 7th of
September, 1794, when Lord Hobart was placed at
the head of the Carnatic Presidency. On the 13th
of October, 1795, died, at the age of seventy-eight,
the Nabob Mahomed Ali, Walau Jaw; and was suc-
ceeded by Omdut ul Omrah, his eldest son. From
the date of the treaty, framed by Lord Cornwallis in
1792, the payments of the Nahob, being in years of
peace, had, through the agency of the money-lenders,
been regular. But the country, made over to the
cruel exactions of this description of men, had rapidly
declined. The continued operation of the same
causes threatened to extinguish the resources of the
government ; and, though no attempt had been made
to ameliorate the state of affairs, during the life of
Mahomed Ali, the succession of Omdut ul Omrah
appeared to Lord Hobart to present a favourable
opportunity for introducing those reforms of which
the necessity had become so urgent.

On the 24th of the same month, in which the
Nabob died, the President deemed it expedient to

! Printed Papers, ut supra, p. 31.
VOIL.. VI. E
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Effects of Cornwallis’s

BOOK VL. place on record, by a Minute in Council, a descrip-
Crav. 7. tion of the ruinous course in which affairs had pro-

1795.

ceeded, under the arrangement of 1792. The source
of the evil was laid in *the usurious loans, which,”
says he, it has long been the practice, principally
among the European gentlemen of the Presidency,
to make to the Durbar for mortgages upon the differ-
ent provinces of the Carnatic.” Some of the prin-
cipal houses of business at Madras, said the Governor,
or even some of the Company’s servants, enter into
an agreement with the Nabob for the payment of
the sums which may have become due to the Com-
pany’s treasury. They receive a mortgage upon a
portion of the territory. To render this availing,
they stipulate for the appointment of the manager
of the territory. It is also requisite to establish an
understanding with the military commanding officer
of the district. And, then, the chain of poweris com-
plete. Then, the unhappy ryots are delivered over
to the uncontrolled operations of men who have an
interest in nothing but exacting the greatest sums in
the shortest time, of men ¢ hardened by practice, and
with consciences lulled to rest by the delusive opiate
of interest upon interest.”!

It is not in the way of direct exaction alone, that
the mischief was accomplished. Another * endea-
vour,” said the President,  of those engaged in a
concern of this nature is to enhance the price of grain
by artificial means, lest the ordinary price of that
article, the sole subsistence of the natives, should fail
to answer the large advance of money, and the ex-
orbitant advantage expected upon it, by the soukars,”
or subordinate money lenders, to whose ruinous as-

1 Papers relating to the Affairs of the Camnatic, No. 2; printed by
order of the House of Commons, in 1803,
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Arrangement with the Nabob. 51

sistance the ryots are compelled to have recourse. BOOK vI.
“ The means of effecting this purpose,” continues CH+*7-
the magistrate, ““ is easy; for the necessitous con- 1795
dition of the ryots compels them to dispose of their
grain as soon as it comes into their possession,
in order to satisfy the urgent demands upon them
which I have already described : the purchasers of
this grain monopolize it, until the demand advances
the price. If, towards the expiration of the season,
any part of the grain should yet remain on hand, the
expedient is, to divide the whole quantity, in what-
ever condition it may be, among the inhabitants:
and the people are compelled (in general the manu-
facturers) to take it at a valuation considerably above
the market price.”

Such was the general course of oppression. The
modes were infinite. “ The subject,” says the indig-
nant Governor, * is exhaustless.”

“ After this exposition, no comment,” he cries,
¢ can be required, to show that this species of go-
vernment, if it deserves the name of government, con-
tains the most grievous oppression of the people, the
certain impoverishment of the country, and, conse-
quently, the inevitable decay of revenue.”

A fact is here very forcibly urged upon our atten-

1 ¢« I should hesitate,” he says, “ to advance if I was not supported
by the authority of public record, that during a late scarcity of grain m
the sonthern provinces, the Manager had the hardiness to write a pub-
lic complaiut, to the Company’s collector, against the Polygars, for
selling grain to the inhabitants.—Nor was the evil removed, without
the interposition of this government, who, by sending vessels loaded
with grain, induced the monopolizers, from regard to their own in-
terests, to restore their usual supplies to the market.” He adds; “ As
the means of cultivatian decrease, the price of grain is enhanced ;—and
it is a notorious, but inhmnan maxim of eastern finances, [Query, how
much it differs from the principle of an I ughsh corn luw]—that a time
of scarcity 1s more productive to the Sirkar than a time of plenty, owing
to the price at which the diminished quantity is sold.” Ibid.
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Dependence on the English

BOOK VI. tion, of which it is important to find the true expla-

CHapr. 7.
1795.

nation. Under their dependence upon the English
government, it has been seen, that the people of Oude
and Carnatic, two of the noblest portions of India,
were, by misgovernment, plunged into a state of
wretchedness, with which no other part of India,
hardly any other part of the earth, had any thing to
compare. In what manner did the dependence of
the native states upon the English tend to produce
those horrid effects ? The difficulty of the answer is
not very great. The oppressions of the native go-
verniments were limited by their weakness. When
they received the use of English strength, their op-
pressions were limited by nothing, but the physical
powers of the people to exist under oppression. So
ill has the science of government been hitherto un-
derstood, that under all the governments which ever
yet existed, except perhaps one or two, there is no
regular and effective restraint upon bad government,
except from the dread of the insurrection and re-
bellion of the people. In the governments of Asia,
this produces no inconsiderable effects; as the fre-
quent revolutions and changes of dynasty abundantly
demonstrate. When misery had produced disaffec-
tion, and disaffection had increased to a certain height,
there was generally some popular leader who offered
himself to the nation as an instrument of revenge,
and cast the unworthy possessor from his throne.
The progress, in general, was rapid, and easy. When
oppression produced a decline of revenue, the evi-
dent instability of the government deterred lenders;
money became wanting to pay the troops ; the troops
first clamoured and then mutinied ; the voice of the
nation joined that of the army; a revolution took
place ; and commonly, for two or three generations,
the new family governed comparatively well. Among
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the small sovereignties of India, misgovernment pro- BOOK VL

duced weakness, and weakness invited conques
The misgovernment, for example, of Carnatic and
Oude, would infallibly have produced the conquest,
of the one by Tippoo, and of the other by the Mah-
rattas ; and as a Prince was commonly strong, only
because he governed well, to be conquered was
among the happiest results which the people knew.
Till, indeed, governments attain that high pitch of
excellence, at which they really perform in the best
manner, and at the cheapest rate, the services of go-
vernment to the people, all changes are, in general,
for the good of the people. It is the stability of go-
vernments, which, before this state of excellence,
human nature has to dread. Now it is evident that
when the uncontrollable force of a British army is
lent to an Indian prince, his subjects are immediately
placed without the pale of hope. The Prince is
completely set above the only fears, which, in his
situation, could operate as a restraint upon his dis-
position to oppress ; that of insurrection, and that of
being conquered. The source of almost all oppression,
in Asiatic and European governments alike, is the rage
of extorting more and more of their earnings from
the people. This passion, instead of being abated by
connexion with the English, is prodigiously inflamed ;
when the tributary prince is carried to all the ex-
cesses of taxation, not only by bis own rapacity, but
the necessity of supplying the enormous demands of
his European masters; and when his soldiers, as well
as people, are kept in abject and hopeless subjection,
by the terror of European arms.

The progress of this oppression produced in the
English any determinate resolution of reform, only
when the visible desolation of the country presented
the prospect of a rapidly approaching moment, at

t. CHAP. 7.

1795.
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Lord Hobart’s Plan for assuming

BOOK VI. which the English subsidy could no longer be found.
Cusr-7. We have seen what anticipations of this disastrous
1795. period the English rulers had already expressed

with regard to Oude. The danger was still more
imminent in the case of Carpatic. I cannot,”
says Lord Hobart, « but look with extreme anxiety
to the nature of the security, provided by the treaty
of 1792, for those resources on which the British in-
terests on the coast of Coromandel materially depend.
I cannot but see that the present system of collecting
the revenues of the Carnatic manifestly invalidates
that security : And that, whenever a failure may
happen in the payment of his Highness’s kists, we
shall in vain have recourse to it for the recovery of
the defalcation.”

A palliative, if not a remedy, suggested itself, in the
prohibition of loans to the Nabob by Europeans ; be-
cause, “though the dealings of Soukars (native money
lenders) in the collection of revenue, were not of re-
cent establishment, yet the terms of loans had never
been carried to so usurious an extent as since the
practice had been introduced among Europeans.”

This, however, the Governor declared to be com-
pletely ineffectual. ¢ The prohibitory orders hitherto
published, have,” he says, * all failed of their object :
Because the evasion of them is easy to Europeans,
through the agency of their native servants; and be-
cause the emormous profits which arise from those
usurious loans, hold out an irresistible temptation
to adventurers. To prohibit the intercourse of
Europeans at the Durbar, is ineffectual. Other chan-
nels of communication are open; and the superin-
tendant of an usurious loan at Palamcotah conveys
his demands to the ears of the Nabob with no less
certainty than he who lives in the precincts of Che-
pauk. As long, therefore, as his Highness shall be
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so regardless of his true interests, as to deliver up his BoOE vI.
provinces, and his people, to public depredation, so 2+7-7-
long will there be found men, who, in the pursuit of 17gs,
extravagant advantages, will overleap the bounds of
discretion and moral obligation.”

In these circumstances, what is to be done? “ So
desperate a malady,” said the President, « requires a
remedy that shall reach its source. And I have no
hesitation in stating my opinion, that there is no mode
of eradicating the disease, but by removing the ori-
ginal cause; and placing those districts, which are
pledged for the security of his kists, beyond the reach
of his Highness’s management;” in other words,
assuming the collection of the revenue, and the whole
of the internal government. And even this was a
partial remedy ; for though it might alleviate the dis-
tress of those particular districts, it left the remainder
of the country to all the deplorable consequences of
the misgovernment of the Nabob.

The Governor describes, in a style instructive for
other occasions, the tissue of interests by which radical
reform was opposed. * The disposition,” says he,
“ which his Highness has already evinced to oppose
such an arrangement, leaves me no doubt of the real
cause. It is not possible to calculate the extent and
variety of interests which are involved in this one
pursuit. And, though they are subdivided in every
direction of the Carnatic, yet at the call of danger they
all rally round a common centre. The great houses
of business, who are the principal money-lenders at
the Durbar, borrow from individuals, who, though not
absolutely engaged in the loan itself, are partakers of
the speculation in a remote degree, and feel, with no
less sensibility than their principals, the approach of
danger. Similarity of interest makes a common
cause. And the great body of interest which is con-
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The Plan of Lord Hobart

BOOK VI.densed upon this principle, is uniformly exerted to

Cuar.7.

1795.

support his Highness in an inflexible resistance against
a melioration of system, and to oppose a reformation
which I consider essential to the national welfare.”’
This representation is the more worthy of regard, as
it is applicable, mutatis mutandis, to every govern-
ment under the sun, in which there is need of re-
form.

On the day following the date of the Minute from
which these particulars have been taken, the Governor
of Fort St. George addressed a letter to the Governor-
General in Council, in which he represents, that, incon-
sequence of several communications which he had with
Mr. Dundas, and with Lord Cornwallis, before leaving
England, respecting the necessity of a change in that
state of things which was established by the treaty of
1792, he had opened a negotiation for that purpose
with Omdut ul Omrah; and that he had not com-
municated his intention to the Supreme Government,
or waited for its concurrence, on account of the in-
trigues of those, who, from personal interest, endea-
voured to prevent the accomplishment of his object.

The first of the points, which the Governor endea-
voured to gain, was the transfer of the collections,
including all the powers of internal government, in
the districts pledged for the subsidy. The benefits
would be; to the Nabob, the saving of the exorbitant
interest which the usurers received; to the people,
deliverance from extortion ; to the Company, security
against the desolation of the country. The second
point regarded the Southern Polygars. The right of
collecting the tribute from the country of the Polygars
had been yielded to the Company by the treaty of

! See the Minute of Lord Hobart, printed papers, ut supra, p.
99—104.
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opposed by the Nabob. 57

1792, but the nominal right of sovereignty reserved BOOK VL
to the Nabob. This proved a source of obstruction Cuar. 7.
to the right ordering of the country ; and the Gover- 1795,
nor was desirous of seeing it resigned. In the third
place he endeavoured to obtain the cession of the forts
in Carpatic, which, according to an expression in the
treaty of Cornwallis, were to be garrisoned by the
troops of the Company.

To obtain the consent of the Nabob, Lord Hobart
offered to relinquish certain claims, to the amount of
thirty lacs of pagodas, or more. The influence of
those who had opposite interests prevailed. « It has
been with the deepest regret,” said the Governor,
“ that I have found the Nabob unmoved by my en-
treaties and remonstrances upon this subject: Not
that he has been insensible to the justice and expe-
diency of what I havé proposed : but, as he has can-
didly confessed at several interviews with me, that
he has not the resolution to comply ; informing me,
that his native ministers and European advisers, so
perplexed, plagued, and’intimidated him, that he
could not venture upon the measure, notwithstanding
his conviction that he ought to do so.”?

The Members of the Supreme Government carried

! President’'s Minute in Council, 24th November, 1795 ; printed
papers, ut supra, p. 104. Lord Hobart felt what reformers are sure to
experience, wherever the interests opposed to reform continue to exist :
“I am aware,” said he, “ of the numerous enemies who will start up
against me, for the part I have taken. But 1 have a shield in the con-
sciousness of an honest execution of my duty, which blunts their arrows,
and which will ultimately render all their efforts impotent and unavail-
able.—I have forborne to bring forward the names of individuals, not
because I am not able to do so, but because the subject is above personal
considerations.—Let those who have amassed wealth, by such means,
enjoy it as well as they can. Let it be my pride to have paid this tribute
to suffering humanity, by deternng others from the commission of
similar enormities.” Ibid. The enemies of reform in India, and the
enemies of reform in Eogland, are of one and the same caste.
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Dispute belween Lord Hobart

BOOK VI. their expectations even farther than the President of

CHa? 7- the Council of Madras ; for no sooner was the decease

1795. of the preceding Nabob known than they sent to that

Governor their instructions, dated the 28th of October,
1795, to endeavour to obtain the consent of Omdut ul
Omrah to the cesssion of all his territories.

Upon the failure of his endeavours to obtain the
concurrence of the Nabob, Lord Hobart intimated
his intention, to assume the district of Tinivelly, for
the liquidation of the debt termed the cavalry loan;
and to insist upon possession of the Carnatic forts.
To this the Supreme Government objected, as an
indirect mode of compelling the Nabob. They argued,
that the treaty, in which that loan was not mentioned,
gave no right to any assumption of territory for its
liquidation ; and, although the treaty did say abso-
lutely, and without any specification either of time or
circumstances, that « all the forts in the Carnatic
were to be garrisoned with the troops of the Com-
pany;” as some case had not occurred which was
specified in one of the negotiating letters of Lord
Cornwallis, the Supreme Government contended that
even this measure it was not lawful to enforce.

Lord Hobart was of opinion, That the Nabob had
himself infringed the treaty, and thereby liberated
the Company from its engagements, by granting as-
signments, which the treaty probibited, upon the dis-
tricts mortgaged for security of his annual payments :
That self-preservation, threatened by the rapid deso-
lation of the country, and the loss of resources which
it implied, justified the Company in such interference
as the necessity of the case required : And, above all,
that the people of the Carnatic, to whom, beside the
claims of humanity, it would be infamous to suppose,
that the Company bad not, by sharing the fruits of
their labour, contracted sacred obligations, ought not

o gl

g .

BT IR N

-

G W Y e



and the Governor-General and Council. 59

to be sacrificed in millions, to any obligations, to any BOOK VI.
one man, which it was possible to contract. Caar. 7.

On this subject, the Supreme Government declared 1795.
“ That their principles were fairly at issue with those
of the Governor of Fort St. George,” and appealed
to the authorities at home. That jealousy, which
was so apt to arise between the heads of the two Pre-
sidencies, especially when the head of the Supreme
was inferior in rank to the head of the subordinate
government, appears on this occasion to have embit-
tered the opposition of the Governor-General. In
the address from the Supreme Government to the
Court of Directors, commenting upon the arguments
of the Governor of Fort St. George, it is said; « On
the language of declamation or intemperance we shall
never animadvert, unless it becomes necessary to the
support of the authority of the Supreme Government ;
leaving it, on this, as on former occasions, to the ob-
servation and notice of your Honourable Court.” On
this expression Lord Hobart remarked; « If I am
not to defend my conduct, when attacked—attacked
in terms, not indeed of intemperance and declamation,
but of cool, deliberate censure and severity, impeach-
ing my character, as a public servant, in a manner not
possible to be misunderstood, I am placed in a situa-
tion wholly incompatible with a due regard to my
own reputation.”

As for the principles stated by the Supreme Govern-
ment as in opposition to his, he remarked that they
could only be useful, in as far as they afforded “ rules
sufficiently definite to refer to, when exigencies called
for specific measures of government; but that prin-
ciples, professedly admitting of deviation, fluctuating
with circumstances, neither alluded to, nor enume-
rated, but to be estimated, as they arise, by the exist-
ing government—the propriety, or impropriety of that
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Dutch Settlements taken.

BOOK VI estimation to depend, not upon precedent, analogy,

CHapP. 7,

1795.

or any written law, but upon the subsequent opinion
of the world—can never be productive of those bene-
ficial effects, avowedly sought for by the Supreme
Board.”' In this instance, the Governor of Fort St.
George saw clearly, and justly exposed, the futility
of those loose and indefinite expressions of obligation,
which are so fondly and frequently made use of by
the half-informed persons at the heads of govern-
ments; expressions which are so effectual in mislead-
ing their understandings; but, at the same time, so
fortunately adapted to enlarge the sphere of thetr
arbitrary power.

Though, by the compound opposition of the Su-
preme Government, and of the powerful class of
individuals whose profit depended upon the mis-
government of the country, no reform could be in-
troduced, the war, which the progress of the French
revolution brought on with the Dutch, provided for
the Governor a sort of triumph, to which the
enemies of reform, that is, of mankind, have seldom
any objection. In 1795, an armament was fitted out
at Madras, which, aided by a squadron of his Majes-
ty’s fleet under Admiral Ranier, completely reduced
the settlements of the Dutch, on Ceylon, Malacca,
Banda, and Amboyna, without any incident of suf-
ficient importance to require a particular description.
Their possessions on the Peninsula were likewise
subdued; Cochin, after a great resistance. And
their grand settlement at the Cape of Good Hope
fell into the hands of the English, the same year.
In 1797, preparation was made for expeditions against
Mauritius, and the Spanish settlement of Manilla.

! Letter from Lord Hobart to the Court of Directors ; printed papers,
ut supra, p. 87—93.
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The first division of the armament against Manilla ook vr.
had actually sailed to Penang, the port of rendez- C24F-7-
vous; when the accounts received of the treaty of 179s.
Campo Formio, and the suspicions excited of Tippoo
and the Mahrattas, frightened the government, after
incurring the expense, into a renunciation of both
enterprises.

In the beginning of the year 1798, Sir John
Shore, who had been raised to the peerage, by the
title of Lord Teignmouth, resigned the government
of India, and sailed for England. Lord Clive, who
was appointed to succeed Lord Hobart in December,
1797, arrived at Madras on the 21st of August, 1798.
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Lord Mornington

CHAP. VIIL

Lord Mornington Governor-General—Agents of
Tippoo at the Isie of France—Governor-General
resolves on immediate War—Import of the Cir-
cumstances—QOpinions in India—Nizam Al re-
ceives more English Troops and dismisses the
French—Unfruitful Negotiations at Poonah—
Progression of Governor-General's Demands—
War begins—Plan of the Campaign.— March of
the Army—Siege of Seringapatam——Alarming
Situation of the British Army in regard to
Food—Seringapatam taken, and the Sultan killed
—Division and Settlement of the conquered
Country.

WHEN the play of private interest is not instruc-
tive, either by the inferences which may be drawn
from it, or by the consequences to which it leads, it es-
capes the curiosity of the historian, whose views are
directed by utility alone. Whatever share ministerial
intrigues may have had, in the fluctuations of counsel,
which attended the choice of a new Governor-General,
it is sufficient for us to relate, that after Lord Hobart
was appointed, on the 23d of October, 1793, to be
Governor at Madras, he was nominated, on the 24th
of December, in the same year, to succeed the Mar-
quis Cornwallis, as Governor-General of India. That,
enjoying honourable and affluent prospects at home,
and at that time filling an office of high dignity and
trust, Lord Hobart would not have left his country
for less than the assurance of the highest place in
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India, was well understood. Ministerial volition, of BOOK VI.
course, was the origin of both the one appointment Crae. 8.
and the other. The administration, however, of Sir 179s.
John Shore, who succeeded to the place of Governor-
General, as senior member of the council, immediately

upon the resignation of Lord Cornwallis, was net
interrupted till the month of March, in the year 1797;

when Lord Cornwallis was nominated a second time

to fill the offices of Governor-General and Commander-
in-Chief. The appointment was announced to the
different Presidencies in India; and a measure, so
extraordinary, seemed to declare that there was
something extraordinary in the cause of it. Extra-
traordinary as it was, it remained without effect. In

the month of October, of the same year, it was
notified to the different Presidencies, that the Earl

of Mornington was appointed to be Governor-General,

in lien of Marquis Cornwallis. He was appointed,

it was said, * under circumstances, and for reasons,

of a peculiar nature.” The Directors added, that

« yarious circumstances had induced the Marquis to

resign his appointments.”' Such were the myste-

rious terms to which the actors thought fit to confine
themselves.

The Earl of Mornington had recently distinguished
himself by a brilliant speech, in the House of Lerds,
against Jacobinism, which recommended him to the
ministry, as a personage both of good principles, and
of good abilities. The breach of faith to Lord He-
bart it was proposed to compensate, viz. by money ;
and that out of the Company’s purse. A proposition
was brought forward for bestowing upon him a pen-
sion of 1,500/. per annum, and this after being once

! Public Letter to Fort St. George, 18th Oct. 1797. Pz.lpers relating

to the Affairs of the Carnatic, ordered by the House of Commons to be
printed 10th August, 18083, i. 244.
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BOOK VI. rejected in the General Court, was, nevertheless, by
Carr.8 the due application of influence, finally confirmed.

1798.

The Directors, when pushed for their reasons, hinted,
that the attempt of Lord Hobart to transfer to ‘the
Company the civil, as well as the military, govern-
ment-of the Carnatic, was, in some way, which they
said it was delicate to explain, the cause which ren-
dered it inexpedient that he should continue longer
in India. “ That attempt,” they observed, * whether
owing to the ardour of Lord Hobart, or some other
cause, unfortunately failed. 'This failure involved his
Lordship in an altercation with the Supreme Govern-
ment; upon which the Court of Directors thought it
right to support their Government-General and to
recall Lord Hobart.”!

"Liord Mornington arrived at Calcutta on the 17th
of May, 1798, carrying out with him a mind more
than” usually inflamed with the ministerial passions
then burning in England; and in a state peculiarly
apt to be seized both with dread and with hatred of
any power that was French. He had possessed but
little time for acquainting himself with the com-
plicated affairs of India, when all his attention was
attracted to a particular point. On the 8th of June,
about three weeks after his arrival, a paper was
received at Calcutta, which purported to be a procla-
mation issued by the Governor at the Isle of France.
The paper imported, that two ambassadors had ar-
rived from Tippoo Sultan, with letters addressed to
the constituted authorities of the island, and dis-
patches to be forwarded to the government of France ;
that the object of the embassy was, to propose an
alliance offensive and defensive with the French;

1 Speech of the Chairman in the Geperal Court, 6th Feb. 1708.
See the Report of the Debate, in the Asiatic Annual Register, vol. i.
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and to request a supply of troops for the purpose of a BOOK VI.
war against the English; a war, which, with an Casr. &
earnest desire to expel the said English from India, 1798,

the Sultan was ready to commence, as soon as the

French should arrive to assist him. The proclama-

tion then invited the citizens to offer their services,

on the liberal terms, which the ambassadors of the

Sultan were ready to offer.

This paper, which the Governor-General calls truly
an “ extraordinary publication,” he was at first in-
clined to regard as a forgery; because, if a scheme,
of the nature here described, were really entertained,
it was so much the interest both of Tippoo and the
French,. to conceal, and an act. of such contemptible
folly, to divulge it, that such a total want of all
capacity -for husiness was scarcely credible, on the
part either of a man entrusted with the government
of the Isle of France, or of men whom Tippoo would
choose for a delicate and important commission.

The Governor-General, nevertheless, received so
violent .an impulse from the paper that he dis-
patched a copy of it, even on the following day, to
General Harris, the Commander-in-Chief on the
coast of Coromandel, at that time occupying, tem-
porarily, the station of Governor of Fort St. George.
His doubts respecting the authenticity of the docu-
ment were declared ; but General Harris was com-
manded “ to consider without delay the means of
assembling the army on the coast of Coromandel, if
necessity should unfortunately require such a precau-
tion.”

On the 18th of June a letter was received, written
by the Earl of Macartney at the Cape of Good Hope,
for the purpose of conveying to the Indian govern-
ment intelligence, that such a proclamation had in
fact been issued at the Isle of France. And about

VOL. VI. F
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BOOK V1. the same time, several persons arrived at Calcutta,
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—
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who had been present on the island, when the inci-
dent occurred. “ A strict examination ” of those, whom
the Governor-General calls “ the most respectable of
those persons,” was performed. If their information was
to be relied upon, it appeared that toward the close of
the month of January, 1798, two persons arrived at
the Isle of France, by a ship from Mangalore; that
they were received with great demonstrations of
respect, treated as ambassadors from Tippoo, and,
during their stay on the island, entertained at the
public expense ; that, without any previous rumour
or notion on the island that aid was about to be given
to that prince, or a war about to commence between
him and the English, the proclamation in question,
two days after their arrival, was fixed up, and cir-
culated; that the persons, thus treated as ambassa-
dors, were so far from disowning the publication, that
they ostentatiously held the same language, saw it
publicly distributed by their agents at the place of
their residence, and made promises in the name of
the Sultaun, according to its terms ; and that on the
7th of March they embarked on board the French
frigate La Preneuse, accompanied by the men on
whom the inducements held out by them had pre-
vailed, to the amount of about two hundred, including
some officers.* TFrom other sources the Governor-

! This is the account which is given in the Governor-General’s Letter
to the Court of Directors, dated 20th March, 1799. In his minute, in
the secret department, 12th of August, 1798, the following is the
account. “ The ambassadors aided and assisted in the levy of 150
officers and privates, for the service of Tippoo, under the terms, and
for the purposes, stated in the proclamation. Few of the officers are
of any experience, and the privates are the refuse of the democratic
rabble of the island. Soimne of them are volunteers; others were taken
from the prisons, and compelled to embark. Several of them are Caffrees,
and people of balf cast. With such of these troops as were volun-
eers, the ambassadors entered into several stipulations and engagements,
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General was informed, that the French frigate ar- BOOKVI.
rived at Mangalore on the 26th of April ; that both ™™ %
the Frenchmen and the persons by whom they 179s.
had been brought, were received with great marks
of satisfaction by the Sultan, and that the principal
part of the Frenchmen were admitted into his
service.

That the Governor-General should have regarded
these incidents as tokens of the hostile mind of Tippoo,
was natural. = The only material question relates to
the nature of the impression on the mind of a wise
man, which that inference was calculated to pro-
duce. That the mind of Tippoo, in regard to the
English, was full of hatred, and the spirit of revenge,
it needed no new incident to disclose, or to confirm.
In fact, the peace of Seringapatam was concluded
with him, under a perfect conviction that his mind
was breathing all the rage of disappointed ambition
and humiliated pride ; and if the hostility of his sen-
timents had constituted a reason for war, in the opi-
nion of the persons in India and Europe, who at that
time composed the compound government of India,
that peace would never have been made, as it was
made, abroad; nor applauded, as it was applauded,
at home. The basis on which the wisdom of that
agreement rested was the supposed soundness of the
conclusion, that the power of Tippoo, far from able
to resist the British when entire, was so little formid-
able when diminished to one half, that the hostility
of his sentiments, however intense, and however
certainly known, was a matter unworthy of particular
regard, on the part of a people who declared all
increase of territory unfavourable to their interests,

in the name of Tippoo.” In Tippoo’s own letter to the French Direc-
tory, under date the 30th of August, 1798, he says he received only
sixty soldiers,

F2
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BOOK VI and who, in the opposition of interest between Tippoo

Caar. 8.

1798.

and the Mahrattas, could not fail to behold a security
against the most formidable of the enemies whom
India could raise them up. :

The impression made upon the mind of the Go-
vernor-General, by the incidents of which the above
is the account, appears to have been strong and agi-
tating in the highest degree. * Under all these cir-
cumstances, an immediate attack,”” says he, ¢ upon
Tippoo Sultan, for the purpose of frustrating the ex-
ecution of his unprovoked and unwarrantable projects
of ambition and revenge, appeared to me to be de-
manded by the soundest maxims both of justice and
policy.—Such was the tenor of my opinions as early
as the 20th of June, 1798;” that is, only two days
after any authentic information of the facts had been
received. 1 therefore,” continues he,  recorded
my decided judgment, that it was necessary to as-
semble the armies on the coasts of Coromandel and
Malabar without delay, and I issued my final orders
for this purpose on that day. I have no hesitation
in declaring, that my original intention was—if cir-
cumstances would have admitted—to have attacked
the Sultaun instantly, and on both sides of his domi-
nions, for the purpose of defeating his hostile prepa-
rations and of anticipating their declared object. I
was concerned, however, to learn, from persons most
conversant in military details at Fort St. George, that
the dispersed state of the army on the coast of Co-
romandel, and certain radical defects in its establish-
ments, would render the assembling a force equal to
offensive movements against Tippoo, a much more
tedious and difficult operation than I had appre-
hended,”*

1 Letter from Lord Mornington to the Court of Directors, dated 20th
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* "Either the Governor-General condemned the po- BOOK VI.
licy of the treaty which was concluded by Lord CH4 8-

Cornwallis, and highly applauded by the ministers,
by the parliament, and by the people of England;
Or, such was the change in circumstances, that the
enmity of Tippoo, which was neither formidable, nor
offered any reasonable prospect of being formidable,
in 1792, had become intensely formidable in 1798;
Or, lastly, the mind of the Governor-General was in
a state of inflammation, and decided upon suggestions
totally different from a cool and accurate contem-
plation of the circumstances of the case.

No where, in his official correspondence, as he lays
down the reasons of his conduct, does he state any
disapprobation of the treaty of Seringapatam. It
seems, therefore, a proper conclusion, that no disap-
probation of it existed in his mind.

‘Whether, in the circumstances of Tippoo or the
English, there was any thing at that time, which ren-
dered the inimical mind of Tippoo more alarming,
than at the date of the peace, is the next point of ra-
tional enquiry. The English, unless we are to sup-
pose that the government which they had established
in India was too bad to admit of progression, must
have advanced in all the elements of political power.
They had enjoyed uninterrupted peace; they had

March, 1799. Papers presented to the House of Cotmons relating to
the late War in the East Indies with Tippoo Sultaun; ordered to be
printed 26th Sept. 1799. ¢ The necessarily dispersed state of the
troops,” (says Col. Beatson, View of the Origin and Conduct of the
War with Tippoo Sultaun, i. 15,) ¢ would have been of less impor-
tance but for those radical defects, which have in a certain degree at all
times existed. These proceed from a system of economy, which pre-
cludes the expense of establishing depots of grain in diffcrent parts of
our possessions, and of maintaining a fixed establishment of draught
and carriage cattle; without which no portion of the Madras army,
however amply it might have been supplied with every other requisite
for field operations, was in a condition to act with promptitude and
effect.”

1798.
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French and Dutch settlements in India; time had
been given to improve their experience, and their in-
stitutions, and to reap the greatest possible fruit from
the extensive districts which the partition of one half
of Tippoo’s former territories had added to their do-
minions. On the side of Tippoo no change could
possibly have taken place, except by the exertions
which he might have made to improve his revenues,
and his army—revenues completely exhausted, and
an army conquered and reduced—out of the resources
of a country desolated in every guarter, by the ra-
vages of war; and reduced to one half of that extent,
over which the English had found it so easy to
prevail,

It would be ridiculous, and at the same time the
deepest imputation upon the English government, to
suppose, that, intrinsically, the power of the English
had not risen upon that of Tippoo, and rendered its
preponderance still greater, during the interval of
only six years which had elapsed since the pacifica-
tion of Seringapatam. If then any danger to the
English now accrued from Tippoo greater than the
danger of 1792, it must be sought for in causes ex-
terior to the condition and resources of the countries
appertaining to each. The connection with allies
was the only circumstance from without, by which
the power of either government was affected.

With respect to the English, it was indeed alleged
that their allies, the Nizam and the Mahrattas
yielded a prospect rather of danger than of aid.
This, however, was a circumstance which presented
consequences of two different sorts. If the want of
allies increased the causes of their dread of Tippoo, it
rendered them less able to fight with him, and there-
fore increased the motives to peace. If they were
perfectly able to fight with him, notwithstanding the
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want of allies, this very circumstance proved, that BOOK VI,
they had nothing to apprehend from remaining at C#4™-8-
peace, If it was alleged that they were able to 179s.
fight now, but should not be able, after the lapse of
some time, it implied that Tippoo’s government was
better than theirs, and would more rapidly increase
his resources.

Besides; it was not true, that the English were
to a considerable, if to any degree, less sure of
auxiliary operations, than at the commencement, or
any moment since the commencement of the peace.
The Mahrattas, it was supposed, would stand aloof,
even if the Company were attacked. But, in the first
place, it was to be remembered, that as the Mahrattas
dreaded nothing more than the increase of Tippoo’s
power, the natural conclusion was, that, if they saw
the Company in any danger, they would be too
strongly impressed with a sense of interest not to
offer effectual assistance, and if at present they
showed indifference to the dispute, or rather a
jealousy of the English, the reason was, because
they saw the English not likely, by suffering at
the hand of Tippoo, to make Tippoo formidably
strong, but much more likely, by crushing Tippoo,
to raise their own power to a great and formidable
height. It was also true, that at the moment
when Lord Cornwallis concluded the treaty, a
knowledge of the case was all that was necessary
to convince any man, that hardly any dependance
could, even then, be placed on assistance from the
Mahrattas, in the event of a subsequent dispute ; and
in fact, every circumstance, to which a hope of the
co-operation of that people against the aggressions of
Tippoo could be attached in 1792, existed in equal
force at the present hour, and was as likely to pro-
duce the desired effect.

The only source of jealousy which regarded the
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corps of sepoys commanded by Frenchmen. In the
state of mind by which the Governor-General, and
Englishmen of his intellectual and moral cast, were at
that time distinguished, the very existence of a
Frenchman was a cause of alarm: and a military
corps, under the direction of Frenchmen, assumed the
dreadful aspect of a most enormous evil. It was, at
the same time, however, a circumstance perfectly
known, that this evil, whatever it was, it depended
upon the KEnglish themselves, by an act totally free
from difficulty, completely to remove. The Nizam
had already proposed to Sir John Shore the dismissal
of the French officers in his service, and the abolition
of the corps, provided the English troops in his pay
were so increased, and their services so extended, as
to enable them to defend him against the aggressions
of the Mahrattas. The English themselves indeed
were eager to hold forth, that the French officers, by
the avidity with which they absorbed the powers of
the state, had become odious to the Nizam, who was
now alarmed at their daring encroachments, and eager
for their destruction. In point of fact, it was found,
that, as soon as the Governor-General proposed to
agree to the conditions upon which the Nizam had
already offered to dismiss the French, his assent was
obtained, and this cause, if such it is to be deemed, of
seeking the destruction of Tippoo, was speedily taken
away. The truth is, that the English were, in the
first place, stronger, intrinsically ; and, in the next
place, not weaker, on any rational ground of com-
putation, in respect of allies, in the year 1798, than
in the year 1792. If there was any thing real,
therefore, in the ground of alarm, it is not in the cir-
cumstances of the English, but in those of Tippoo,
that it is to be found.

The revenue- which it was possible for the very li-
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mited territory of the Sultan to yield, and the mode- Book vrI.
rate army which that revenue could maintain, it is ©=4™ 8
miserable to contemplate as having been a subject of 1798,
alarm, to a people, possessing the resources of the Eng-

lish, and so many degrees advanced beyond their oppo-

nents in the art and science of war. Of course, it is

in circumstances extrinsic to his dominions, if in any,

that Tippoo can be regarded as having been for-
midable to the English, or as laying them under any
obligation, beyond that which existed in 1792, to

adopt extraordinary measures of self-defence. But

of such circumstances one only can be named; and

that is, his union with the French. To clear up,
therefore, every difficulty in this question of policy, it

only remains to inquire how much of danger was im-

plied in the connexion which he had formed with that
formidable people.

Tippoo was by no means without a connexion with
the French at the date of the treaty of Seringapatam.
A French corps had formed a distinguished part of
his army from the moment he ascended the throne.
When that treaty was concluded, a war was impend-
ing between the English and the French; and no
man could have a doubt that Tippoo would gladly
join the enemies of those whom he regarded as his
inveterate foes, should those enemies think of carry-
ing their arms to that distant part of the globe.
With all these circumstances fully before him, Lord
Cornwallis thought it wise to make peace. Had
any new circumstance occurred, to make it wise in
Lord Wellesley to come to the determination, which
he says he had formed on the 20th of June, 1798,
of attacking Tippoo immediately, if he had found it
possible to assemble the troops? Two men had ap-
peared at the isle of France, and a proclamation had
been issued by the Governor. ¥rom this, as far as then
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Cuaz-8. tionally be drawn : Either that it set forth a number
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of falsehoods, for the purpose of precipitating the Eng-
lish into an Indian war: Or that it was the act of a
madman making public a communication which it
was so much the interest of both parties to keep in
the profoundest secresy: Or, which was by far the
most probable supposition, that it was nothing but an
act of boasting, bragging, folly, with something of very
small importance for its foundation. Nothing was
more likely than that Tippoo, seeing the increase
which had taken place in the French carps in the ser-
vice of other native powers, both in that of the Nizam,
and that of the principal Mahratta power, was very
desirous of increasing his own; and might have sent
agents to the Isle of France for the purpose of en-
gaging both officers and men. It is well known,
how much of boasting, and of exaggeration, enters
into the verbal intercourse of the East; it is well
known, also, that Tippoo carried this weakness to ex-
cess, and might be regarded as a braggart even
among orientals. It is still further known, that
on nothing was he fonder of bragging, than his
power in relation to the English, and the vengeance
which, if provoked by them, he should one day in-
flict. It was, therefore, not incredible, it was highly
probable, that with a view to obtain a more favour-
able reception to his application for leave to enlist
soldiers in the Isle of France, his agents were in-
structed to talk very high, to boast of his enmity to
the English, and even his power, if well supported by
the French, to expel them from India. Vapour, of
this kind, was a thing too commeon in India to excite
any particular regard. But it was not surprising, if
it produced on the French Governor a very different
effect. It was very well known, at the period when
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the Governor-General was called upon to deliberate, BOOK vI.
or to decide without deliberation, upon the question Cuar. 8
of peace or war, that a high degree of excitability 1798,
had, by the events of their revolution, been conveyed
to the minds of Frenchmen ; that they were almost
as much disposed to the language of vanity and os-
tentation as the orientals themselves: and the only
rational conclusion was, that the French Governor,
evidently a very ignorant and foolish man, had been
eager to adopt any occasion, however insignificant, of
indulging his propensity for boasting, exaggeration,
and display ; that the loose, hyperbolical talk of In-
dians had been held forth as the momentous langunage
of a solemn negotiation; and that two agents for
recruiting soldiers had been transformed into ambas-
sadors, for the purpose of contracting an alliance,
offensive and defensive, between the Sultan of My-
sore, and the Republic of France.

But, even should we go so far as to allow the wis-
dom of supposing that Tippoo had made an overture
of the most serious kind for an alliance offensive and
defensive against the English, an important question
is still to be asked. Did this, in the smallest degree,
alter the circumstances of the English in regard to
Tippoo? Was their danger, in any respect, increased ?
Would they have been perfectly safe to remain at
peace, had not this overture been made? If so, in
what respect did this overture increase the probability
of evil? It may be affirmed, without any dread of
refutation, that it produced no effect of that descrip-
tion whatsoever. In reality, the incident disclosed
nothing with regard to the mind of Tippoo, which
was not perfectly known, believed, and acted upon
before ; namely, his eager desire to do mischief to the
English, and to unite with any power that would em-
bark in the same design, more especially with the
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great a resource. In fact, the incident made a dis-
closure, which might have been regarded as agreeable ;
that the conmnection between Tippoo and the French
was so trifling, and their mode of intercourse so very
childish and absurd. It might have been expected,
and it ought to have been beforehand supposed, that
a perfect and regular channel of communication was
opened between them, and that their conjoint means
of annoying the English had been well digested, and
perfectly understood.

But, if this incident disclosed nothing with regard
to the minds of Tippoo, and the French, except that
they were less capable of doing mischief to the English,
than might before have been reasonably expected, it
can hardly be supposed, that an overture so loose, in-
definite, full of negligence and mismanagement, could
add any thing to the motives of the French for carry-
ing hostilities to India, if their circumstances admitted
so costly an experiment. And, lastly, if this overture
intrinsically altered nothing, either in regard to the
dangers of the English, or their knowledge of that
danger, except by showing that it was less than they
might have supposed, was there any thing (for that
is the last hypothesis) in the state and condition of
the French nation, at that particular time, which ren-
dered it more likely they should now send an army
to India, than at any period since the conclusion of
the treaty of Seringapatam? During the two days
between the 18th and the 20th of June, 1798, in
which confracted space the Governor-General made
up his mind, upon the strength of the incident in
question, to attack the sovereign of Mysore instantly ;
it may be affirmed, that he had no rational ground for
supposing it more likely that the French would then
make war upon India, than it had been at any period
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since the war between them and England began. It Book vI.
evidently follows, that there was no reason for destroy- Cuar-8.
ing Tippoo, at this particular moment, which had not 17gs.
existed at every moment since the commencement of
the negotiation for peace.

Still, the character of the policy which was pursued
by the Governor-General remains to be determined,
by the solution, not of the question whether more
reason, than at any preceding period, existed for the
destruction of the Sultan, but of the question, wheth-
er then sufficient reason existed as well as, 1if
such were the coincidence, at any antecedent time.
More obscurity rests upon this determination. If it
be true, that the Governor-General ought to have
been guided by the act of parliament, made and pro-
vided for the express regulation of his conduct, the
answer is not doubtful. By that act, all augmentation
of territory, and every act of war against an Indian
prince, except for self-defence, in the case of actual
hostilities, was declared to be contrary to the interest,
and injurious to the honour of the British nation. It
will be impossible to show, that the war into which
the Governor-General was so eager to plunge, was a
war of self-defence, except by such arguments as will
show, that no war which has a prospect of adding to
the securities of a nation can ever be a war of a differ-
ent sort. If it was proper in the Governor-General
to treat the act of parliament with contempt; as the
parliament itself soon after declared that it was, by
thanking and applauding him for his flagrant viola-
tion of that act; and if the only question was, whether
or not the British interests were to be promoted,
or the contrary, by the ruin of this dreaded foe, the
inquiry is more complicated. What was to be gained
was abundantly obvious; it was the saving of the
expense, which the maintenance of a force, sufficient
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BOOK VI. to guard against any chance of evil from his malignity,
Caar.8. would have required. This expense, if the war by

1798.

good fortune had not been so very short, would not
perhaps have equalled the interest of the money ex~
pended by the war. Had this been the fact, more
would have been lost, it is evident, than gained by
the destruction of Tippoo; for as to the mere increase
of dominion, independent of security, that, in the
shape of a good, was not less violently renounced by
Lord Mornington, than by the parliament, and by
the nation at large. It was on this foundation, or
otherwise it will be difficult to find one, on which,
after conquering the dominions of Tippoo, instead of
keeping the whole for the benefit of his country, he
gave to others an important part, and even urged
upon the Mahrattas a portion which they refused.
With regard to what was lost to the British interests
by the destruction of Tippoo (for even the power of
Tippoo was an evil not without its good), it is much
less easy to form any thing like a determinate opinion.
While Tippoo existed, the Mahrattas might be con-
fidently expected to be much more subservient to the
English, on whom alone they depended for assistance
against this their greatly dreaded foe, than they were
likely to be after his destruction, when every source of
apprehension was taken away. What amount of evil
might be involved in thus relieving the Mahrattas
from all dependance upon the English cannot of
course be exactly defined. The English were able
to chastise them when they thought chastisement
requisite. A case might even be supposed, in which
Tippoo, instead of being an opponent, might have
been a confederate of the Mahrattas against the
English. This supposition, however, is obviously
confined to one case, that in which the English, re-
nouncing their pacific policy, should bring the Mah-



Governor-General, examined, 79

rattas into greater dread of unprovoked evil from the BooK vI,
English, than they lay under in regard to Tippoo. C2¥-8-
As affairs were actually situated, the effects of their 1793,
emancipation from the dread of Tippoo soon began
to appear; and the Governor-General found himself
under the supposed necessity of checking their auda-
city by a war.

That the contemplation of the facts made, on other
occasions, an impression, correspondent to the in-
ferences which have here been drawn : made such an
impression, at the time, on the minds of the most in-
structed men in India, there is a remarkable document
to show. On the 24th of July, 1798, a meeting was
held of the British inhabitants of Calcutta, on the
subject of the voluntary contributions in support
of the war against the French, contributions pro-
moted with great zeal, by all expectants and depend-
ants on government, in every part of the British
dominions. To this meeting great importance was
attached ; and all the persons highest in their conse-
quence, and warmest in their aspirings, were forward,
by the exhibition of their persons, and of their fer-
vour, not to omit so easy an opportunity of establish-
ing a new title of merit in the eyes of their superiors.
In this splendid, and numerous assembly, the Advo-
cate-General, Mr. Burroughs, made the introductory
address, at great length, and with the best of his
eloquence. He introduced in it the following observa-
tions, which constitute an article of evidence, of some
weight, in determining the questions which arise out
of the circumstances of that important era. * Every
man,” he said, ¢ at all acquainted with our situation,
must know that in India we never hefore were so
powerful and so unassailable, as at the present
moment. We have an army infinitely stronger, in
number and discipline, than we ever had before in
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BOOK VI, India, We are without an enemy who can venture
Cuar.8. {4 attack us; and he would assert that there was not

1798.

a single native who would now even wish to attack
us, unless, indeed, our old enemy Tippoo might have
such a wish. But that Prince had received such a
lesson in the last Mysore war, as must deter him from
any such enterprise again, even if he could have the
aid of France in doing so. Any aid from Europe it
was impossible he could have, considering the total
want of ships in France, on which troops could be
transmitted ; and we know besides, that the English
fleets maintained the entire dominion of the seas, and
that our enemies were every day lamenting their
inability to send one sail in safety from any of their
ports, as they were all blocked up by the British
navy. The French islands in India had thrown off
all connection with France, and, instead of taking
any part against us, must now look to us as friends,
to protect them from any attempts which might be
made on them by France.”*

Compelled reluctantly to abandon the design of
immediately invading Mysore, the Governor-General,
nevertheless, renewed his orders for assembling the
army with the smallest possible delay. In the policy
of this measure the Madras council by no means con-
curred. Besides the length of time necessary for as-
sembling the army, the expense, they said, would be
so enormous ; and so much danger would be una-
voidably created of provoking hostilities with Tippoo,
by vast preparations importing the design of war;
that they could not think themselves justified, without
a strong representation, in obeying the orders which
they had received.?> “ Not discouraged,” says the

1 See a Report of the business of this meeting: Asiatic Annual
Register, vol. i. Chronicle, p. 31.
? A Review of the Jate War in Mysore, in a Letter from an officer in
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Governor-General, “ by these suggestions and repre- BOOK VL

sentations, I insisted on the immediate execution of Cuar. 5.

my orders.”! 1798,
During the interval which was required for assem-

bling the army, the Governor-General found employ-

ment in negotiating with Nizam Ali the dismission

of the French officers, and the dissolution of their

corps. His minister, to whom the business of the

state was almost wholly committed, was a partisan of

the English, and well disposed for the annihilation of

the French party ; as soon as the British government

would consent to replace them by a force adequate to

the service which the French performed in the pro-

tection of the country. The Nizam was not altoge-

ther blind to the dangers of placing himself in a state

of helpless dependance upon a superior power. But

totally unequal, as he knew that he was, to the de-

fence of himself, against the Mahrattas, against the

Sultan, or against the English, it was easy for the

minister to convince him, that he was safer in the

hands of the English than of either of the other two.

From the attainment of what he regarded as an ob-

ject of unspeakable importance, the dissolution of a

French corps in the service of the Nizam, Lord Morn-

ington was far from allowing himself to be restrained

by any dread of offending the Mahrattas; the motive

by which the mind of his predecessor had been swayed.

His instructions were issued to the acting resident at

India. Puoblished by M. Wood, Esq. M. P. Colonel, and late Chief
Engineer, Bengal, p,10. The Governor-General’s Letter, ut supra,
parag. 38.

*1bid. Colonel Beatson says (View of the Origin and Conduct of
the War with Tippoo, i. 4), * The apprehensions entertained from
the designs of Tippoo Sultan were certainly, at that period, cousiderably
increased by the bold and decided measures of preparation and defence,
which the Marquis Wellesley judged proper to adopt, a very few weeks
after he had taken charge of the supreme government of India.”

VOL. VI. G
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BNOK VI. Hyderdbad, on the 8th of July, fo open a nogotiation
Cuited: with the Nizam: und on the 1st of September a
1768. treaty was concluded, by which four battalions of
British troops were added to the former two, and the
British government was pledged for the protection of
the Nizam, against afiy unjust demands of the Mah-
fattas. The Nizam, on his part, engaged to disband
the French corps in his service ; to deliver over its
officers to the British government, whenever thé whole
of the British force sheuld arrive in his cspital ; and
to raise the subsidy, which he paid for the mainte-
nance of the British troops, from 57,713, to 2,01,425
ritpees per month.

Though the force which the French officers com-
manded consisted, after all the dlarm which it oeeca-
sioned, of less than 14,000 men, it was necessary fo
take precautions against the chance of their resistance.
Pending the negotiation, theadditional troops destined
for the service of the Nizam were collected in that
part of the Company’s territory which touched upon
his frontier ; and on the 10th of October joined the
twe fortiter battalions at Hyderabad. Fortunately
for the schemes of the Governor-General, Raymond,
whese talents and great influence might have been
foreridably exerted for the preservation of his power,
had died a few months before; and a struggle for
ascendancy had introduced great animosity and dis-
union inte the corps. Not only the Nizam, but
even the minister himself, wavered, however, and
drew back, when the enterprise came to the verge of
execution. In so little respect was this greatly
dreaded corps really held by the British officer, who
commanded the six subsidiary battalions, that he did
not hesitate to take a deeisive step. He declated his
determination, unless the Nizam came to the imme-
diate resolution: of fulfilling his engagements, to make
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aii attack on the French camp with hi§ own forces, BOOK VI

and proclaim the want of faith in the Nizam’s go-
vernment as the cause of all the consequerices which
might enstie. A proclama’clon was soort after sefit to
the Fiench camp, announcing the discharge of the
officers; arid declaring it tredson in the soldiers fo
bbey thein: The soldiers were already in a state
approaching to mutiny. The disorders now proceeded
to greatér violence; and the officérs were inmiprisoned
by theit mén. In this helpless situation, the camp,
which at the time did ot contain above 11,000 men,

the rest of the corps being on a distant detachment,

was surfounded by the whole of the British battaho‘hs,
and a strong body of the Nizam’s horse. The mien,
upon a promise of their pay, and continuancé of ser-
vice, ldid down their arms; and fhe arrest of the
officers was accomplished without difficulty or danger.

Notwithstanding the unfriendly passions which
Frénchmen at this moment excited in the breast of the
Governor-Genéral, he was éarefal to itisure to the
individuals, who had fallen into his power, that gene-
rosity of treatment which a gallant mind is evér
prouipted t6 bestow. Their property, together with
such arrears as were due to thém by the Vlzam, weré
secured to their use; they were c0nveyed to Calcufia,
undeér every indulgence compatible with the sécurity
of their persons; and on their arrival in Eng1and the
Governor-General plOVIded that they should iot bé
treated as prisoners of war, but transported to their

country without detention.”

1 Letter of the Governor-General to the Court of Directors, dated
21st Nov. 1798. Printed papers, ut supra, p. 6. Malcolm’s Sketch,
P 236—244. Beatson fells us (i. 50) that the secref was wéll Lept,
that the éause of sending the detachmient ffom Guntoor to Hyderabad
was not made known to the government of Madras; and that the in-
telligéiice of the anifiilation of the French corpy came by surprise upon

G 2
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1798.
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The Governor-General fails

The chances of good or evil from the Mahrattas,
also, forced themselves upon the attention of the
British government ; and negotiations were carried
on at Poonah, at the same time with those, which,
at Hyderabad, were conducted to an issue deemed so
exceedingly favourable. The negotiations, however,
attempted with the Mahrattas, produced not equal
results. The substance of the treaty negotiated at
Hyderabad was communicated to the Peshwa, both
before and after its conclusion. ¢ And at both
periods,” says the Governor-General to the Court of
Directors, “ he expressed his entire approbation of
the nature and tendency of the new engagements, as
well in their operation upon the interests of the Mah-
ratta empire, as upon those of the Nizam.”* On
the other hand, Sir John Malcolm says, “ The mea-~
sures taken at Hyderabad were regularly commu-
nicated to the Peshwa: but that prince, either in-
fluenced by his weak counsellors, or acting under the
control of Dowlut Row Scindia, obstinately continued
to withold his formal consent to any acknowledge-
ment of the right of the British government to arbi-
trate in his disputes with the court of Hyderabad.”?
Of course, it may be said, the Governor-General knew
best. It may also, however, with equal certainty be
said, that he had the greatest temptation to lay on
a colour; that if none except agreeable consequences
were supposed to flow from his measures the favour
of his employers would be enhanced ; that from this
species of art, which had been amply practised by
his predecessors, Lord Mornington must have been a
man far superior to his predecessors to stand always

the English of Calcutta and Madras. e tells us also, that their minds
were in such a state as to regard the transactionas a perfect master-piece
of policy.

! Letter, ut supra, parag. 24. 2 Malcolm's Sketch, p. 244.
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exempt ; and that of those expedients for a colour, BOOK VE,

the two letters which have just been quoted appear
to present us with instances. In the first place, when
mention is made of the time which would be required
for assembling the army of the Carnatic, no mention
whatsoever is made of the disapprobation expressed
by the Madras council. In the next place, when the
execution is described of the measures taken for the
destruction of the French corps, in the service of the
Nizam, the reluctance exhibited by the Nizam, when
the crisis arrived, is not only covered with silence,
but with a language which implies uninterrupted
alacrity and zeal. Beside the difficulty, in such a
situation as that of Sir John Malcolm, of remaining
long ignorant of such a general and important fact,
the consequences also tally with his representation,
for all the efforts of the Governor-General to draw
the Mahrattas into an intimate connection with him,
totally failed. And again; as Scindia, not the
Peshwa, was at this time predominant over the Mah-
ratta councils, the assent of the Peshwa had little
value; and if presented to people ignorant of the
state of the facts, as equivalent to that of the Mah-
ratta power, was only calculated to produce decep-
tion. It seems to be affirmed, from private informa-
tion, by Colonel Wilks, that both Scindia and the
Peshwa, under alarm at the symptoms of ambition
which at this moment distinguished the movements
of the British power, were actuated by favourable
dispositions towards the sovereign of Mysore; but
Scindia was afraid to take a positive step, on account
of his dominions in the North, which the English
had an army ready to invade; and the Peshwa,
beside the imminent danger to which the hostility of
the English would expose him, had ne liberty tq act

Cuapy. 8.

1798,
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Intelligence of the

but as Scipdig directed. 'The Governor-General,
gecordingly, when at last he found that assistance
from the Mahrattas was pot to be obtained, engour
raged hy the prohahility that he would receive ne
opposition, resolved to proceed in bis warlike eperas
tions without them,’

On the 18th of June, the Secret Commitiee of the
Counrt of Directars wrote from England to the Go-
verngr-(General in Couneil, that they had just received
from his Majesty’s ministers, information of a large
armainent which had sailed from Tounlon on the 19th
of the preceding month; and that gmid the various cons
Jectures respecting its destination, it was not eonceived
impossible that India might be the object of attack,
by way of the Red Ses, or its coast, after conquest of
Egypt; ¢ or even,” the Directors add, ¢ by the Black
Sea, or by Bussora. His Majesty’s ministers,” they
continue, ¢ have therefore informed us, that immes
diate measures will be taken for a considerable aug-
mentation of the European force in the East Indies:
You may expect that not less than 4,000 seasoned
and disciplined troops, and perhaps a larger number,

.may be sent to the Company’s settlements with all

possible expedition, part of which will, we trust,
reach India not many months after the receipt of this
dispatch.” 2

It was not before the 18th of October that the
Governor-General first received authentic intelligence
of the expedition from Toulon, and the invasion of
Egypt; when his preparations against Tippoo were
approaching maturity. The constituted authorities
in England, under impression of the danger which
the invasion of India by so great an army would
produce, gave directions to the Governor-General, to

# Hist. Bketches, iii. 361~—366, *Printed papers, ut suprs, No. 1. -
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make war upon Tippoo, if he appeared to be actually pook vI.
accumulating the means of seconding invasion by the Ca4»- 8.
French. They seem not to have regarded the pro- y7g9s,
clamation at the Mauritius as satisfactory evidence of

any such design; of which they express themselves

in the following words: “ We are unable to judge,
whether this proclamation be in reality what its im-

port declares it to be; or intended merely as a feint,

with a view to embroil us with Tippoo.” And they
marked out unambiguous preparations for war, as the
circumstance by which the judgment of their subor-
dinates in India ought to be determined. ¢ It is
highly improbable,” they say, < that Tippoo should

have entered into any league with the French, with-

out some apparent preparation, on his part, of an
hostile nature, in furtherance of their designs. If

such shall have been the case, it would be neither
prudent nor politic to wait for actual hostilities on his

part.” Preparation for war, in the only sense which

can here be applied, is such an augmentation, or such

a disposition, of the instruments of war, as, to some
considerable degree, is both unusual, and increases

the dapger of the suspecting state. That any such
augmentation or disposition of the instruments of war

had taken place on the part of Tippoo, no evidence

was ever produced ; while evidence to the contrary
appears in abundance. Even with the permission

whick the alarm of the French expedition extorted

1 %It was supposed” (says Colonel Beatson, p. 57)  that Tippoo
Sultaup’s army had suffered essentially, both in numbers and discipline,
since the last war: his finances were in disorder: his councils were
perplexed by discordant opinions; and his spirits dejected and broken
by the disappointment of his hopes of French assistance ; by the retreat
of Zemaun Shah ; by the failure of his intrigues at the courts of Poonah
and Hyderabad ; and by the unexampled vigour, alacrity, and extent of
our military preparations.” # Tippoo Sultaun’s field army " (he says
P- 204) “was estimated at 47,470 fighting men,*
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Preparations nearly complete.

BOOK VI from ‘the Directors, they thought proper to enjoin
Cuar. 8 that in resorting to hostilities, “the utmost discre-

X798,

tion” should be used; “that we may not,” they:say,

‘% be involved in a war in India, without the most

inevitable necessity.”—That inevitable necessity ex-
isted, or any necessity at all, will not easily, after
the first impartial exposition of the facts, be again
alleged. The war might be advantageous, or it
might be not advantageous. But the word must be
used in an extraordinary sense, if it ever be deno-
minated necessary.

On-the last day of October, that is, in less than a
fortnight after he was informed of the invasion of
Egypt, the Governor-General received intelligence of
the destruction of the French fleet by Sir Horatio
Nelson, at the mouth of the Nile. Notwithstanding
this decisive event; * I did not,” he says, “relax
any part of the naval or military preparations which
had been commenced under my orders ;—being still
uncertain of the fate of the French army in Egypt,
and ignorant whether an additional force might not
have been intended to co-operate with it in India, by
the ordinary passage round the Cape of Good Hope.”*
The chance of the invasion of India, from either
quarter, will not at the present moment be regarded
as having been very great. It will not come up to
the description of what constituted an ¢ inevitable
necessity” for going to war with Tippoo.

« The immaturity, however,” says Sir John Mal-
.colm, “ of the Sultan’s plans formed, in Lord Welles-
ley’s opinion, the strongest reason for an immediate
attack upon his possessions; but the delay, which
was likely to occur in assembling the army on the
coast of Coromandel, which had been reduced to a

! Printed papers, ut supra, No. 8,



Tippoo threatened. 89

very low establishment, and was in a very divided BOOK VL
and unequipped state, obliged him to alter it; and C24%-%
he made no communication whatever to Tippoo Sul- 1798,
taun on the subject of his proceedings, till the military
preparations, both at Madras and Bombay, were
complete; and the alliance with the Nizam had not

merely been restored, but rendered so efficient, as to

secure the full application of the resources of that

Prince in aid of the common cause.”’

During all the time of these remarkable proceed-
ings, it is singular that Tippoo was either without
the means, or without the inclination, of making any
considerable addition to his habitual state of equip-
ment for war, and, with an appearance of insensi-
bility to all that surrounded him, forbore even to
remonstrate against the accumulation which was
going forward of the instruments of his destruction.
‘When the beginning of November arrived, the Gover-
nor-General thought the opportunity was now favour-
able to exhibit his complaints. On the 8th of that
month, he addressed a letter to the Sultan, in which
the expressions were conciliatory, rather than hostile,
but in which he informs him of the counection which
he was aware had been formed between him and the
French, “* Whom you know,” says he, * to be the
inveterate enemies of the Company, and to be now
engaged in an unjust war with the British nation.”
He then gives him a lecture, on French principles ;
which will be appealed to hereafter as a monument
of the times. < It appears not,” he adds, * either
necessary or proper, that I should any longer conceal
from you the surprise and concern with which I per-
ceived you disposed to involve yourself in all the
ruinous consequences of a connexion, which threatens,

* Malcolm’s Sketch, p. 254.
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BOOE VI.not enly to subvert the foundations of friendship
Cran.B. hotween you and the Company, but to introduce,

1788.

into. the heart of your kingdom, the principles of
anarchy and confusion; to shake your own autherity ;
and to destroy the religion which you revere,” On
the disposition of the Company to preserve inviolate
the gbligations imposed by the relation of amity and
peace, the Governor-General cited the remarkable
instance which had recently occurred; of a district
of cpuntry to which, though possessed by the Com-
pany, the Sultan laid claim, and of which, his right
having been ascertained by arbiters mutually chosen,
restitution had been made. As the result of these
premises, the Governor-General proposed to send to
him a British officer, whom he already knew, to coms
municate to him, on the part of the English, and of
the Peshwa and Nizam, their allies, the plan which
in their opinion was calculated “ to remove all exist-
ing distrust and suspicion, and to establish peace and
good understanding on the most durable founda-
tions.” ?

Of the terms which, at different periods, the Go-
vernor-General was disposed to allow Tippoo Sultaun,
he himself has given a very instructive history, in his
letter to the Court of Directors, under date the 3d
of August, 1799.2 What was the extent of his views
in relation to the attack which he was so eager to
make immediately after he first received intelligence
of the foolish proclamation at the Isle of France, he
has no where disclosed. When he found the execy~
tion of this design impossible, and how much time it
would require to put the army in a condition for

1 Letter from Lord Mornington to Tippoo Sultan, printed papers, ut

supre, p. 24.
? See the papers relating to East India Affairs, printed by order of

the House of Commons in the year 1360,
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action, he would, he says, have been “ contented BQOE VL
with any adjustment which offered a reasonable S54% -
prospect of detaching. Tippoe from his copnexion 3798,
with the French;” and that, * in the arrangement
which then occurred to him, his views were limited
to the establishment of permanent residents, on the
part of the Company, and of the allies, at Seringa-
patam, to the dismission of all the French then in
the Sultaun’s service, and to the perpetual exclusion
of the French from his armies and dominions.”
Before preferring these demands, he first, however,
deemed it politic, to place the armies in a pesture
for action ; and to take measures for lessening the
changces of evil, as well as improving the chances of
good, at the hands of the Nizam and the Mahrattas.
The month of November had thus arrived before he
was ready to make his first communication. But,
at that time the French had invaded Egypt, which
appeared to increase the dangers of the English
dominion in India; on the other hand, the mili-
tary preparations of the English were advancing to
mafurity on a great scale, the Fremch party at
Hy.derabad was destroyed, the resources of the Nizam’s
eountry were by the late arrangement placed at the
disposal of the Company’s servants, and the English
now had power to enforce whatever demands they
might think proper to advance. The Governor-
General, therefore, resolved not to content himself
with the terms which, without having communicated
them, he would have thought sufficient for all
necessary purposes before. If, however, the real
ground of the war was not the love of conquest,
which was so fervently disclaimed, but the chance of
danger from the power of Tippoo, as was the grand
pretence, the new degree of security which had
accrued to the Company was a reason, not for war,



92 The Governor General at Madras,

BOOK VI. but peace. The additional chance of invasion, by
CHae.8. ¢he presence in Egypt of the French, presented, as
1799, far as it went, a demand for additional security. But
that chance was to be weighed, and its value ascer=
tained. Except to an eye surrounded by the mists of
ignorance or passion, which saw its object hideously
enlarged, it could not appear to be great. Besides,
as the British government would not long remain
without a grand effort to expel the enemy from
Egypt, the Company might have quietly rested on
its guard, without incurring the mischievous expen-
diture, not to speak of any more of the detestable
consequences of actual war, at least for a little time,
till they understood what was the result of the mea-
sures adopted against the invaders of Egypt, and
whether a few months would not set India free from
any danger on account of the French. However, the
terms, beyond which the Governor-General did not
think as yet of proceeding, were not extravagant,
Beside the conditions first meditated, he meant to
demand the cession of Canara, a maritime province
on the western coast, which appeared to facilitate
the communication of Tippoo with the French; but
to allow him an equivalent in some other quarter
distant from the coast. This, then, in the opinion of
the Governor-General, who now felt himself in a
condition to enforce any demand, and whose apprehen-
sion from French invasion, and the rooted enmity of
Tippoo, was then at its height, was all the security,
as against "T'ippoo, which the British interests really
required. If nothing followed to create occasion for
more security, every addition which was made to the
sacrifices exacted of the hated foe, was made either
in the spirit of revenge, or from the love of conquest;
for no other solution remains.
The Governor-General professes, and with all the
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marks of sincerity, his expectation to have been, that BOOKVI
Tippoo, overawed by the discomfiture of the French Cusr. 8.
fleet in Egypt, by the ascendancy of the English at  1799.
Hyderabad, the strength of the English army, and

an English fleet on the coast of Malabar, would accede

to the terms which he meant to propose, and that the
calamities of war might still be avoided. For the
purpose of accelerating measures, whether of a pacific

or hostile description, he thought it expedient to be

near the scene, aud in a letter dated the 10th of
December acquainted the Sultan with his intention

of repairing shortly to Madras. He arrived on the

31st of the same month, and found waiting for him

an answer from Tippoo.

In the letter of the Sultan, the expressions were
not less pacific than those of the Governor-General.
He declares the highest satisfaction at the naval vic-
tory gained on the coast of Egypt. by the English
over the French ; the former of whom he describes
as possessing almost every virtue, the latter every
vice. The charge which had been urged by the Go-
vernor-General, of soliciting an hostile connexion with
the French, he endeavoured to answer thus; “ In this
Sircar (state) there is a mercantile tribe, who employ
themselves in trading by sea and land. Their agents
purchased a two-masted vessel, and having loaded her
with rice, departed with a view to traffic. It hap-
pened that she went to the Mauritius, from whence
forty persons, French, and of a dark colour, of whom
ten or twelve were artificers, and the rest servants,
came here in search of employment. Such as chose
to take service were entertained, and the remainder
departed beyond the confines of this Sircar : .And the
French, who are full of vice and deceit, have perhaps
taken advantage of the departure of the ship to put
ahout reports with the view to ruffle _the minds of
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Tippov’s Létier deemed evasive.

BOOKk Vi, both Sircars.” He then miade protestation of his

,é“”" é; earnest desire to preserve and to strengthen the bands

-1799.

of peace between himself and the Company ; described
his own occupations as all in the highest degree
patific; and added, < In this case, the allasion to war
in your friendly letter, and the following passage,
namely; that prudence required that both the Corn-
pany and their allics should adopt certain measires
of pre‘cautwn (Zﬂd self:defence, have given me the
greatest surprise.” As the proposition of sending to
Him a deputy, and opening a negotiation; appearéd to
imply, that new sacrifices were to be exacted 6f Him,
he appealed to the existing treaty, as affording the
proper and adequate adjustment of the rights and
irterests of thé contracting parties; and said, I
cannot imagine that means more effectual than thesé
ean be adopted, for giving stability to the founda-
tiofis of fiiendship and harmony, promoting the se-
carity of states, or the welfare and advantage of all
parties.” ! This letter the Governor-Geneéral regarded
as marked by prevarication and falsehood, in respect
to his intercourse with the French ; and by criminal
eévasion, in regard to the moderate and amicable pro-
position for opening a negotiation. He replied, ac-
cordingly, by a letter, dateéd the 9th of January, 1799,
in which he described the embassy to the Isle of
Francé ; and explicitly declared, that the new en-
gagetrrents thto which he affirmed that Tippoo had
thus entered with the enemies of the allies required a
péw arrangement for their security. He recommended
that only one day should be taken to reply to this
letter; intimating that dangerous consequences might
result from a greater delay.* That time might not
be wanting for the campaign before the commeénce-

* Printed papers, ut supra; No. 8, inclosure, No. 4. * Ibid. No. 5
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ment of the rains, was the motive which impelled the BoOk VE
Governor-General to hasten; and, beside the estab- CFa® 8
lished practice, and inveterate habits of all Orientdl 1799,
courts, the same circumstance afforded a strong

motive to the Sultan to make use of every expedient

for delay.

The end of Jdanuary approached, and an answer
from the Sultan had not yet arrvived. This was in-
terpreted contempt and obstinacy. It is even assigned
as proof of more determined enmity than was pre-
viously supposed. The army was now irresistible.
“ On these grounds,” says the Governor-General,
 towards the close of the month of January, 1799,
my intention was to have required from Tippoo
Sultaun, in dddition to the terms already stated, the
payment of a considerable sum of money, as an in-
demnification for the expense to which his hostile and
treacherous conduct had suabjected the allies.” *

Before the 3d of February, Lord Mornington re-
ceived intélligence, that Tippoo had prepared two
native vakeels, who, together with one of the French
officers who had lately arrived from the Isle of France,
were waiting at Tranquebar, to embark on a missioit
to the Execufive Directory of France. This cannot
be regardéd as a very extraerdinary proceeding in a
prince who knew that a vast army had been levied
against him before any complaint had been preferred,
or so much as an explanation asked, of his conduct;
and might by himself have been represented, with
surely not less plausibility than by the English their
preparations for attack, as a proceeding purely defen-
sive, and imperiously called for by the dangers with
which he was copspicuously threatened. At this

1 Letter from the Governor-General to the Court of Directors, dated
3d August, 1799, ut supra.
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BOOK VI. time, however, the Governor-General determinéd to
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suspend all negotiation, until the united forces of the
Company and their allies should, to use his own ex-
pressions, ¢ have made such an impression on the
territories of Mysore, as might give full effect to our
Just representations.”

On the 3d of February, his Lordship dispatched his
commands to General Harris, to enter the territory
of Mysore, with the army which had been assembled
at Velore, and to General Stuart to co-operate with
the Bombay army from Malabar; while at the same
time he gave intimation to the allied courts, and the
British admiral on the coast, that he now considered
the Company as at war with Tippoo Sultan.

Another addition was now made to the severity of
the terms. From this time nothing less was to be
exacted of the Sultan than a cession of his maritime
provinces in perpetuity tothe English; an equal terri-
tory on their respective frontiers to each of the allies,
amounting to about a fourth part of his dominions, and
acrore and a half of rupees. But, in the second place,
if any decisive advantage should be obtained in the
field, or the operations of the war should be advanced
to the opening of the batteries upon Seringapatam,
the General was not to content himself with less than
the cession of one whole half of the territories of
which the Sultan was in possession at the commence-
ment of the war, the relinquishment of all claim to
any of the places, on the frontiers of the Company
and their allies, about which there was any dispute,
and the payment of two crores of sicca rupees. The
dismission of all Europeans belonging to any country

. at war with the English, the renunciation of all con-~

nexion with the French, an engagement never to

¢ Letter, 20th March, 1799, utsopra.
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retain any individual of that nation in his service, or BOOK VI.
even to permit him to reside within his dominions, Caar. 8.
to receive at his court a permanent ambassador from 1799,
each of the allies, to keep with each of them an
ambassador of his own, and to give up certain forts
and hostages as security for the execution of the treaty :
These were articles common to this, with the former
catalogue of terms.!

~On the 13th of February, the Governor-General
received a letter from Tippoo, in which, after acknow-
ledging the receipt of his letters, he desires, as he is
going upon a hunting excursion, in which he fre-
quently indulged, that he would send the deputy
(about whom his friendly pen had repeatedly written),
slightly atterded. This consent, which was sufficiently
cold and ungracious, the Governor-General describes,
as reluctant and insidious; and he answered it by
referring him to General Harris, to whom all his
communications were now to bhe addressed. This
answer was even transmitted through that General,
who had orders to forward it to the Sultan, on the
same day on which the army should pass the frontier.

The army, now assembled at Velore, exceeded

20,000 men, whereof 2,635 were cavalry, and 4,381
Europeans : It was joined, before the commencement
of its march, by the whole of the British detachment
serving with the Nizam, 6,500 strong, by about an
equal number of the Nizam’s infantry, including a
portion of Sepoys lately commanded by the French,
but now by British officers, and a large body of
cavalry ; “ an army,” than which, says the Governor-
General, one “ more completely appointed, more
amply and liberally supplied in every department, or

! Inclosures A. and B. of the Gov.-Gen.’s Letter to the Commander-
in-Chief, dated 22d Jgnuary, 1799.

VOL. VI. H
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Disproportion of the English Force.

BOOK V1. more perfect in its discipline, and in the acknowledged

Cuap. 8.

1799.

experience, ability, and zeal of its officers, never took
the field in India:” The army of the western coast,
equal in excellence, assembled at Cananore, under
General Stuart, amounted to 6,420 fighting men, of
whom 1,617 were Europeans: And a force, described
as considerable, but of which the amount is not spe-
cified, under Colonels Read and Brown, were to join
or co-operate with the Commander-in-Chief from the
southern districts of Carnatic and Mysore. All this
was directed against the chieftain of Mysore, who, six
years before, was stripped of one half of his dominions ;
and left in possession of a territory yielding a revenue
of little more than a crore of rupees, or one million
sterling ; while the revenue of the Anglo-Indian go-
vernment alone, without speaking of that of its ally,
exceeded nine millions. What a mass of talent the
petty prince of a petty country must have been sup~
posed to possess ! !

The army of Bombay, under the command of Ge-
neral Stuart, marched from Cananore on the 21st of
February ; it arrived at the head of the Poodicherrum
Ghaut on the 25th of the same month ; and took post
at Seedapore and Seedasere, on the 2d of March,
where it both protected the large supplies which had
been collected in the district of Coorg; and could
readily communicate with the main army as it ap-
proached to Seringapatam. General Harris entered
the Mysore territory on the 5th of March, and com-
menced his operations by the reduction of several forts

i «The victories of the Marquis Cornwallis (says Col. Beatsop, i. 47)
had greatly facilitated any future plan of operation against the power of
Tippoo Sultaun. By diminishing his resources, and increasing our own,
they had produced a twofold effect. And the extension of our frontier,
by the extension of the Barramaul and Salem districts, and a thorough
knowledge of the defences of Seringapatam, and of the routes leading to
that city, were considered at that moment as ingstimable advantages.”
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upon the frontier ; of which none made any consider- BOOK Vi.
able resistance ; and some made no resistance at all. _C247- 8

At the time when the British General passed the 1799.
eastern frontier of Mysore, Tippoo was supposed to
be encamped in the vicinity of Madoor, and was ex-
pected to move in the direction of Bangalore, for the
purpose of opposing the progress of the army. Having
succeeded in raising this expectation, he left his camp
near Senapatam, on the 28th of February, taking with
him the principal part of his army; and on the morning
of the 5th of March, a large encampment was observed
by General Stuart, forming between him and Peria-
patam, a town about seven miles distant from
Seedasere. On the morning of the 6th, little intelli-
gence was yet obtained of the amount of the enemys;
or the meaning of their appearance; and General
Hartley, the second in command, went forward to
reconnoitre. From his hill of observation, at day-
break, he perceived the whole of the hostile force in
motion; the country, however, was covered with
Jungle; the atmosphere was hazy, and it was impos-
sible to judge correctly either of their numbers or
object. Between the hours of nine and ten, the
enemy had penetrated with so much secrecy and ex-
pedition through the jungle, that they attacked the
front and rear of the British advanced position at
almost the same instant.

The nature of the country had induced General
Stuart to place the army in several divisions. Three
native battalions, under Colonel Montresor, were
posted at Seedasere, to which another battalion was
added, after the appearance of the enemy on the 5th;
the main body of the army, with the park and pro-
visions, remained at Seedapore and Ahmootenar, the
first eight ‘miles, the latter twelve, in rear of the ad-
vanced position., General Hartley remained to aid in

H 2
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The Attack repelled.

BOOK VI.repelling the attack. The best position, of which the

Cuapr. 8.
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circumstances admitted, was assumed ; and this body
of Sepoys, though completely surrounded, and con-
tending not only with a great disparity of numbers,
but other unfavourable circumstances, defended them-
selves with such determined gallantry, that the Sul-
tan's troops were unable to break them. The Ge-
neral hastened forward with the rest of the army,
excepting the fourth corps, which being posted at
some distance in the rear, was intercepted by a co-
lumn of the enemy, and upable to join. It was not

" till half past two, however, that he arrived in sight of

the division of the enemy which had penetrated to
the rear. It withstood and answered a brisk fire of
musquetry, for about half an hour; but then fled
with precipitation through the jungles, to join the
rest of the army to which it belonged. The General

‘now advanced to join Montresor and his brave com-

panions. The men had for more than six hours been
engaged with a superior enemy; were spent with
fatigue; and their ammunition almost exhausted.
The advance of the troops with the General was the
signal for the enemy to intermit the attack, which
till this time they had upheld in front; and at
twenty minutes past three they were retiring in all
directions. General Stuart, apprebending a return
of the enemy, which might place them in his rear, and
perhape in possession of the great magazine of rice
collected by the Coorg Rajah, deemed it of more im-
portance to concentrate his army at Seedapore, than
to maintain the position of Seedasere, which was
chiefly useful, as the only spot from which the signals,
concerted between the two armies, could be observed.

1 The Rajah accompanied General Stuart, and was present with him
in the battle; which he described with vast admiration, in a letter to
the Governor-General, quoted by Col. Wilks,
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The killed, wounded, and missing, according fo the BOOK VI.
regimental returns, in the British army, were only 2™ 5
143. The loss of the enemy was no doubt con- 1799.
siderable. Tippoo remained in his camp at Peria-
patam till the 11th, desiring, but afraid, to strike a
second blow; and arrived at Seringapatam on the
14th, whence he hastened to meet the army approach-
ing from the east.

So little, in truth, did the Governor-General re-
spect the power of the Sultan, that the plan uponwhich
he determined implied a confidence in the inability
of that prince to offer almost any obstruction to the
army which was sent to destroy him. It was planned,
that it should not wait to reduce any of the inter-
mediate forts between the frontier and the capital of
the Sultan, or to form a clear line of communication,
but march directly upon Seringapatam, and by a
single blow terminate the contest.

The Governor-General, amid the talents for com-
mand which he possessed in a very unusual degree,
displayed two qualities of primary importance: He
has seldom been surpassed in the skill with which he
made choice of his instruments: And baving made
choice of his instruments, he communicated to them,
with full and unsparing hands, the powers which were
necessary for the end they were employed to accom-
plish. General Harris was not only invested with
unrestricted military powers, but was authorized to
exert all the civil authority which would have be-
longed to the Governor-General himself, in his si-
tuation. His instructions embraced the two sets of
terms, to which, in two events, the Governor-Gene-
ral determined, upon the march of the army. to ele-
vate his demands. And he was further provided with
a political and diplomatic commission. This was
composed of the Honourable Colonel Wellesley, Lieu-
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Disordered March

BookK vI. tenant Colonel Close, Lieutenant Colonel Agnew, and
Cuar. 8. Captain Malcolm, with Captain Macaulay as their
1799. secretary. The commission was not entitled to act,

except in obedience to the orders of the General.
The army was not ready to make its first united
movement on the enemy’s ground before the 9th of
March ; within one day of the time which the Com-~
mander, in his orders to General Stuart, had de-
scribed, as the latest moment at which he could with
safety arrive at Seringapatam. The British army
was overloaded with equipments: It carried an enor-
mous train of battering cannon for the siege of Serin-
gapatam ; it required a prodigious mass of vehicles
for the provisions and stores of a campaign to be
carried on without an open line of communication ;
to all this was added the cumbrous baggage of the
Nizam’s army, a host of brinjarries, and the innume-
rable followers of the camp. No sufficient measures
were prepared for the orderly movement of this vast,
unwieldy machine. Colonel Wilks alleges that such
measures were impossible. If so; either this was one
of the most rash and hazardous expeditions that ever
was undertaken ; or the British leaders must have
counted upon a wonderful inferiority, either of means,
or of understanding, on the part of their foe. As-
suredly, had an enemy, with any thing like an ade-
quate force, employed himself with any considerable
degree of activity and skill, in making war upon the
movement of this disorderly mass, which it was by
no means possible to cover with the troops, it is
hardly probable that he would not have retarded it,
till the commencement of the rains; and so harassed
the infantry, and worn out the cavalry, that a great
portion of the baggage, stores, and ammunition would
have fallen into his hands. The great thing to be
dreaded, in marching at once to Seringapatam,
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without regard to the communication behind, was BOOK vI.
famine. This evil was all but incurred; and nearly Crar. 8.
the whole of the draught and carriage bullocks died, 1799.
though the arrival of army was probably not re-

tarded a single day by the efforts of the enemy.

So great was the confusion, even on the first day’s
march, that the army halted on the 11th, to see if a
remedy could in any degree be applied. It moved on
the 12th, but with so little improvement, that it
halted again on the 13th.

From Bangalore, within sight of which, now dis-
mantled, the army encamped on the 14th, there were
three roads by which it could march upon Seringa-
patam. The expectation of the enemy was, that the
British would occupy and repair Bangalore, form a
line of communication in the same manner as before,
and advance by.the middle and shortest of the
roads.

The confusion of the march was so great, that the
British army halted a third time on the 15th; and
destroyed as much of the mass of stores as it was sup-
posed that by any possibility the exigencies of the
service would allow. On the 18th, it again halted a
fourth day; and ¢ the loss of powder, shot, and other
military stores, had already been so considerable, as
to excite some degree of alarm, at this early period of
the campaign.”!

Of the roads leading to Seringapatam, the southern,
by Kaunkanhully, was that selected for the advance
of the British army ; and so well had the design been
disguised, that while the forage on the expected
route had been completely destroyed, it was still
preserved upon this. No memorable incident oc-

' These are the words of two distinguished officers of the same army;
Beatson, p. 65, and Wilks, iii. 407,
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‘BOGK Vl.curred from the time when the army entered the
Casr.8. Kaunkanhully route on the 16th, till it reached the

1799.

tanks at Achel, between Kaunkanhully and Sultanpet.
These tanks were of so much importance, that the
destruction of them,” says Colonel Wilks, “in 1791,
had compelled Lord Cornwallis to make the longer
march, the injurious effects of which, on his ex-
hausted cattle, were sensibly and severely felt during
the remainder of the campaign.” Of a similar de-
struction, that intelligent officer adds, *the conse-
quences on this occasion would have been still more
injurious than those experienced in 1791.” It was
by the merest accident, that this fatal event was pre-
vented. A detachment sent forward on the night of
the 21st, arrived not till the breaches were made in
the embankment, and were just in time to save the
total loss of the waters.

When the Sultan, after his return from the attack
upon General Stuart, left his capital to meet the
advancing army, he made his first movement on the
middle road, but being soon made acquainted with
its true direction, he deviated by his right to Malvilly,
and encamped, on the 18th, at the Madoor river,
where he was joined by the two corps of his army,
which had been left during his absence to hang upon
the British line. “ The southern road,” says Colonel
Wilks, ¢ from this river, to the point where General
Harris first entered it, presented numerous situations,
where the advance of the British army might have
been obstructed, and at least materially delayed, by
steady troops, without any risk of disaster to them-
selves.” What is more remarkable, Tippoo, as we
are told by the same high authority, “ after examin-
ing and occupying the finest imaginable position for
opposing the passage of the river in front, and placing
beyond it a strong corps to operate at the same time
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on his enemy’s right flank, from very advantageous BOOK VI
ground, with an open rear and a secure retreat from Cuar- 8.
both positions, abandoned the intention of giving 1799.
battle on this ground;” and determined to fight on
ground, about two miles from Malvilly, which, among
other advantages gratuitously bestowed on his enemy,
gave them, during the intended action, the most con-
venient cover for their unwieldly impediments.”

The slow movement of the English brought them
to the Madoor river on the 24th, where they learned
the particulars of the march which had been made
by the Sultan upon General Stuart; and on the
evening of the 27th, on approaching the intended
ground of encampment to the westward of Malvilly,
they espied the army of the Sultan, at a few miles
distance, drawn up on a height. As the first grand
object of the General was, to carry his equipments
safe to the walls of Seringapatam, he determined
neither to seek nor avoid an action. The advanced
picquets, however, being attacked by the enemy, and
more troops being sent to their aid, a general action
came on. The British army under General Harris
tormed the right wing; the Nizam’s army with the
35d regiment, under Colonel Wellesley, formed the
left. On the right wing, which had deployed into
line, and begun to advance, an opening between two
brigades, produced by the ground, tempted the Sul-
tan. He advanced in person with a body of cavalry,
till in the very act to charge. The effort was against
the Europeans; coolly directed ; and executed with
so much spirit, that many of the horsemen fell on the
bayonets. But it produced not so much as a mo-
mentary disorder in the ranks; and the line advanc-
ing in such a manner as to outflank the enemy’s left,
his guns were soon after withdrawn from the heights.
The cushoons of the Sultan faced Colonel Wellesley
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BOOK VI. with some steadiness, till within sixty yards, when,
Cmar. 8. the 33d regiment quickening step, they gave way;
1799. and Colonel Floyd, seizing the critical moment,

charged them with his cavalry, and destroyed them
to a man. The efficient state of the Sultan’s equip-
ments, and the deplorable state of the British, ad-
mitted not an idea of pursuit. The loss of the
English was sixty-nine men, that of the Sultan, more
than a thousand. :

Immediately after this injudicious affair, the Sultan
marched, with a design to place himself on the rear
of General Harris, during the remainder of his march
to Seringapatam. But he expected him to advance
on the same road which had been taken by Lord
Cornwallis in 1791. As it was anticipated, that the
forage on this road would be completely destroyed,
the project had for some time been contemplated of
crossing the Cavery at Sosilla, about fifteen miles
east of Seringapatam, if the ford upon examination
should appear to be practicable. The success was
complete, and the battering train, with the last of
the army, was over on the 30th, while the enemy
was at a distance looking for them in a different
direction. This last disappointment struck a damp
to the heart of the Sultan. Having received the
whole of his principal officers, “ We have arrived,”
said he, “ at our last stage, what is your determi-
pation ?” * To die along with you,” was the una-
nimous reply.! It was the opinion of this meeting of
Tippoo and his friends, that General Harris would
not make his attack on the southern side of the fort,
but would cross over into the island. The determi-
nation was, to meet him on this route, and find
either victory or death. The Sultan and his friends

1 Wilks, 1ii. 414.
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took a most affecting leave, as if for the last time in BOOE V1.
this world, and all were bathed in tears. It was easy Cuar.s.
for the Sultan, whose equipments were in order, to 1799.
anticipate the approach of the English. He crossed

at the ford of Arakerry, and took up the intended
position near the village of Chendgil. It was not
however the intention of the English General to cross

into the island ; and when, instead of pointing to the

fords, he made a circuit to the left, to avoid some
inconvenient marching, and reach the ground occu-

pied by General Abercromby in 1792, the Sultan,

whose dispositions were not calculated for such a
movement, ventured not to make opposition; and

the English army took up its ground for the siege of

the capital, on the 5th day of April, exactly one

month after it passed the enemy’s frontier, having
advanced at the rate of not seven miles a day on
enemy’s ground, and not five miles a day from the
commencement of its march.

A new line of entrenchments had been constructed
on this side of the fort, which, reaching from the
Dowlut Baug to the Periapatam bridge, and within
six or seven hundred yards of the walls, avoided the
fault of the redouts in 1792, distant too far to be
supported by the guns of the fort. Between these
works and the river, the infantry of Tippoo was now
encamped. To save the British camp from annoy-
ance, and advance some posts, an attack was ordered
the same evening under Colonels Wellesley and Shaw,
on a part of the enemy, occupying a water-course in
front. It failed, not without loss. But next morn-
ing a force was sent, which the party of the enemy
could not resist; and strong advanced posts were
established within 1800 yards of the fort, with their
left on the river, and their right on Sultanpet.

On the 6th, General Floyd, with four regiments
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BOOK VI of cavalry, and the greater part of the left wing of
C";"'B_'_ the army, marched for the purpose of bringing on
1799. General Stuart ; a proceeding, which the cavalry and

part of the infantry of the Sultan marched at the
same time toimpede. The junction was made on the
14th; the active and well-conducted exertions of the
Sultan’s cavalry having produced no other effect than
the necessity of a little more caution, and a little
more time. And on the next day the Bombay army,
having crossed the river to the north, occupied a
ground in continuation of the line of General Harris,
with a view particularly to the enfilade both of the
face to be attacked, and the exterior trenches.

On the 9th, Tippoo, who had not before made
any answer to the letter of the Governor-General,
forwarded to him when the army crossed his frontier,
sent to General Harris a letter, of which the follow-
ing is a translation :

“ The Governor-General, Lord Mornington, Ba-
hauder, sent me a letter, copy of which is enclosed :
you will understand it. I bave adhered firmly to
treaties : What then is the meaning of the advance
of the English armies, and the occurrence of hosti-
lities? Inform me.—What need 1 say more.”

The British commander replied in the following
terms:

“ 10th April, 1799.

“ Your letter, enclosing copies of the Governor-
General’s letter, has been received. For the advance
of the English and allied armies, and for the actual
hostilities, I refer you to the several letters of the
Governor-General, which are sufficiently explanatory
on the subject.”

On the 16th was made an alarming discovery.
The General, in his letter to Liord Mornington, dated
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the 18th, says; “ On measuring the bags, to ascer- BOOK VI.
tain what rice they really contained, they were found ©®4*- 8
so much diminished by loss or fraud, that eighteen 1799.
days, provision, for the fighting men, at half allow-
ance, is all that remains in camp. Our supplies
must, therefore arrive before the 6th of May, to
save us from extreme distress.”

On the 17th, operations of considerable importance,
less difficult because simultaneous, were accomplished
on both sides of the river. The enemy were dis-
lodged from a ground commanding that which was
intended for the approaches and batteries of General
Stuart ; the troops were established under a good
cover within 1,000 yards of the western angle of the
fort ; and while the enemy’s attention was engaged
with these operations, the bed of a water-course was
seized on the southern side, which formed a parallel
at an equal distance from the fort.

The state of the grain constituted now an object of
the greatest solicitude, and every thing was to be done,
for the purpose of hastening the arrival of the two
corps, which were expected to bring a supply from
Coimbetore and Baramahl. To conduct them, Ge-
neral Floyd marched on the 19th toward the Caveri-
poram pass, with the whole of the regular cavalry,
the whole of Nizam Ali’s cavalry, and a brigade of
infantry, followed by all the brinjarries, and all the
superfluous followers of the camp.

The 20th produced several events. A battery
opened from the northern bank on the enfilade of the
south-western face, and of the enemy’s entrenchment
on the southern side of the river. The enemy were
dislodged from a position 400 yards in advance of
their general entrenchments; and a parallel was
established on the spot within 780 yards of the fort.
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BOOK VI In the evening, the following letter from the Sultan
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was received in camp :

¢ In the letter of Lord Mornington, it is written,
that the clearing up of matters at issue is proper, and
that therefore you, having been empowered for the
purpose, will appoint such persons as you judge pro-
per for conducting a conference, and renewing the
business of a treaty. You are the well-wisher of
both Sircars. In this matter what is your pleasure ?
Inform me, that a conference may take place.”

On the 22d, General Harris replied by a letter,
stating, that security, not conquest, was the object
of the English government, to whose pacific proposi-
tions he complained that Tippoo had hitherto refused
to listen; and transmitted the draught of a prelimi-
nary treaty, drawn up according to the second and
severest set of terms contained in the Governor-
General’s instructions.

In the situation to which affairs were now reduced,
the annexation of the following severities was deemed
adviseable : That four of the Sultan’s sons, and four
of his generals, to be named by the British com-
mander, should be given up as hostages; That ac-
ceptance of these conditions should be transmitted
under his hand and seal within twenty-four hours;
and the hostages, and one crore of rupees, be deli-
vered in forty-eight : And that if these pledges were
not given, the British commander would hold himself
at liberty to extend his demands for security, even to
the possession of the fort of Seringapatam, till the
conclusion of a definitive treaty.

It was the instruction of the Governor-General,
that the set of terms now put in the shape of a treaty
should be sent just before the opening of the bat-
teries upon the fort of Seringapatam. But the ad-
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vanced period of the season, and the failure of provi- BooxK vi.
sions, when nothing but possession of the fort could, CuA*-8.
in the opinion of General Harris, justify him in delay- 1799,
ing the siege for an instant, made him deem it hazard-
ous to be the leader in an overture toward peace.
The sentiments to which the Governor-General was
brought by the progress of events are thus described
in his own words. ¢ Towards the end of April, fresh
circumstances arose which disposed me to think, that
if the course of the war should favour the attempt, it
would be prudent and justifiable entirely to overthrow
the power of Tippoo: Accordingly, on the 23d of
April, I signified to Lieutenant-General Harris my
wish, that the power and resources of Tippoo Sultan
should be reduced to the lowest state, and even ut-
terly destroyed, if the events of the war should furnish
the opportunity.”*

On the night of the 24th, the approaches to the
fort were advanced 250 yards. On the 25th, a bat-
tery of four guns was erected to destroy the defences
of some works which bore on the assailants; and it
opened with considerable effect on the morning of the
26th. The enemy’s guns were now almost wholly
silenced. On the evening of the same day, the
enemy’s entrenchments, in advance, were attacked ;
and carried, after an obstinate contest, which lasted
a great part of the night. This acquisition was im-
portant, because it furnished the ground on which
the breaching batteries were to be erected. The
British troops occupied the works on the 27th; and
in the following night made their lodgement secure.

On the morning of the 28th, another letter arrived
from the Sultan, intimating the magnitude of the
questions to be determined, and signifying his inten-

' Letter to Directors, 3d August, 1799, ut supra.
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BOOK VI. tion to send two persons, for the immediate commence-
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ment of a conference, without which an adjustment
of so much importance could not be satisfactorily per-
formed. To this the General replied, that no modi-
fication would be made of the terms already trans-
mitted; that ambassadors were, therefore, unnecessary,
and would not be received, unless they were accom-
panied by the hostages, and specie, already demanded ;
and that only till three o’clock the next day would
time be allowed for an answer.

A breaching battery of six guns was erected on the
night of the 28th ; and on the morning of the 30th it
began to fire. On the first day it demolished part of
the outward wall at the west angle of the fort, and
made an impression on the masonry of the bastion
within it. On the second itsfire was attended with
increased effect. An additional battery, constructed
on the night of April the 30th, opened in the morn-
ing of the 2d of May. On the 3d, the breach ap-
peared to be practicable, and preparations were
eagerly made for the assault. On the morning of
the 4th, the troops destined for the service were
placed in the trenches before day-light, that no extra-
ordinary movement might serve to put the enemy on
their guard. The heat of the day, when the people
of the East, having taken their mid-day repast, give
themselves up to a season of repose, and when it was
expected that the troops in the fort would be least
prepared to resist, was chosen for the hour of attack.
Four regiments, and ten flank companies of Europeans,
three corps of grenadier sepoys, and 200 of the Ni-
zam’s troops, formed the party for the assault. Colo-
nels Sherbrooke, Dunlop, Dalrymple, Gardener, and
Mignan, commanded the flank corps; and the conduct
of the enterprise was entrusted to Major-General
Baird, who had solicited the dangerous service. At
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one o’clock the troops began to move from the trenches. BUOK VI.
The width, and rocky channel of the river, though at _Z#**- &
that time it contained but little water, its exposure .1799.
to the fire of the fort, the imperfection of the breach,

the strength of the place, the numbers, courage, and

skill of its defenders, constituted such an accumula-

tion of difficulties, that nothing less than unbounded
confidence in the force and courage of his men could

have inspired a prudent General with hopes of suc-

cess. The troops descended into the bed of the river,

and moved, regardless of a tremendous fire, towards

the opposite bank.

- From the time when General Harris sat down

before the fort, the Sultan had remained on the ram-

parts, varying his position according to the incidents

of the siege. The general charge of the angle
attacked, was given to Seyed Saheb, and Seyed Ghof-

fir, the last, an able officer, who began his career in

the English service, and was in the number of the
prisoners at the disaster of Colonel Brathwaite.

The angle of the fort which the English attacked
was of such a nature, that a retrenchment to cut it
off might have been easily effected; and this was
counselled by the most judicious of the Mysorean
officers. But the mind of the Sultan, which was
always defective in judgment, appears to have been
prematurely weakened by the disadvantages of his
situation. By the indulgence of arbitrary power, and
the arts of his flatterers, his mind was brought into
that situation in which it could endure to hear no-
thing but what gratified the will of the moment. He
had accordingly estranged from his presence every
person of a manly character; and surrounded himself
with young men and parasites, who made it their
business not only to gratify his most childish inclina-

VOL. VI. I
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" of wretched pursuits. He seems, therefore, when
adversity came upon him, to have been rendered too
effeminate, to look it steadily in the face ; and, ex-
ploring firmly the nature of the danger, to employ
in the best manner the means which were in his
power for averting it. The flatterers were able to
persuade him, partly that the fort was too strong to be
taken, partly that God would protect him; and they
maintained successfully that indecision which was .
now congenial to the relaxed habit of his mind.
“ He is surrounded,” said Seyed Goffhar, who was
wounded early in the siege, *“ by boys and flatterers,
who will not let him see with his own eyes. I do not
wish to survive the result. I am going about in
search of death, and cannot find it.”

On the morning of the 4th, Seyed Goffhir, who
from the number of men in the trenches inferred the in-
tention to assault, sent information to the Sultan. The
Sultan returned for answer, that it was good to be on
the alert, but assured him, as persuaded by the flat-
terers, that the assault would not take place till night.
And in the mean time he was absorbed in religious
and astrological operations; the one, to purchase the
favour of heaven; the other, to ascertain its decrees.
Seyed Goffhir, says Colonel Wilks, * having satisfied
himself, by further observation, that one hour would
not elapse before the assault would commence, hur-
ried in a state of rage and despair towards the Sul-
tan: I will go,’ said he, ‘and drag him to the
breach, and make him see by what a set of wretches
he is surrounded ; I will compel him to exert himself
at this last moment.” He was going, and met a party
of pioneers, whom he had long looked for in vain, to
cut off the approach by the southern rampart. <1
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‘must first,” said he, ¢ show those people the work they BOOK VI.
"have to do;’ and in the act of giving his instructions, Z™%- %
was killed by a cannon shot.” ! 1799,

The Sultan was about to begin his mid-day repast,
under a small tent, at his usual station, on the nor-
thern face, when the news was brought him of the
"death of Seyed Goffhér, and excited strong agitation.
‘Before the repast was finished, he heard that the
‘assault was begun. He instantly ordered the troops
which were about him, to stand to their arms, com-
‘'manded the carbines to be loaded, which the servants
‘in attendance carried for his own use, and hurried
along the northern rampart to the breach.

% In less than seven minutes, from the period of
issuing from the trenches, the British colours were
planted on the summit of the breach.” It was regu-
‘lated that as soon as the assailants surmounted the
rampart, one half of them should wheel to the right,
‘the other to the left, and that they should meet over
the eastern gateway, The right, which was led by
'General Baird, met with little resistance, both as the
enemy, lest retreat should be cut off, abandoned the
cavaliers, and as the inner rampart of the south-
western face was exposed to a perfect enfilade. The
assailants on the left were opposed in a different
manner. Lieut.-Col. Dunlop, by whom it was com-
manded, received a wound in the ascent; and the
Sultan passed the nearest traverse, as the column
quitted the breach. A succession of well-constructed
traverses were most vigorously defended; and a
flanking fire of musquetry from the inner rampart
did great execution upon the assailants. All the

1+ Hist, Sketches, ili. 436, 437. For the interior history of the My~
soreans, at this time, Colonel Wilks, who afterwards governed the
-country, enjoyed singular advantages; and we may confide in his dis-
crimination of the sources and gualities of his information.

12
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panies, were soon either killed or disabled; and the
loss would, at any rate, have been great, had not a
very critical assistance been received. When the as-
sailants first surmounted the breach, they were not a
little surprised by the sight of a deep, and, to appear-
ance, impassable ditch between tbe exterior and inte-
rior lines of defence. A detachment of the 12th regi-
ment, having discovered a narrow strip of the terre-
plein, left for the passage of the workmen, got up the
inner rampart of the enfiladed face, without much op-
position, and wheeling to the left, drove before them
the musqueteers who were galling the assailants of the
left attack, and they at last reached the flank of the
traverse, which was defended by the Sultan. The
two columns of the English, on the outer and inner
rampart, then moved in a position to expose the suc-
cessive traverses to a front and flank fire at the same
time; and forced the enemy from one to another, till
they perceived the British of the right attack, over the
eastern gate, and ready to fall upon them in the rear;
when they broke, and hastened to escape. The Sul-
tan continued on foot during the greater part of this
time, performing the part rather of a common soldier,
than a General, firing several times upon the assail-
ants with his own hands. But a little before the time
at which his troops resigned the contest, he complained
of pain and weakness in one of his legs, in which he
had received a severe wound when young, and ordered
ahorse. When abandoned by his men, instead of seek-
ing to make his escape, which the proximity of the
water gate would have rendered easy, he made his way
toward the gate into the interior fort. As he was cross-.
ing to the gate by the communication from the outer
rampart, he received a musket ball in the right side
nearly as high as the breast, but still pressed on, till
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he arrived at the gate. Fugitives, from within, as BOOK VI.
well as from without, were crowding in opposite direc- Cra. 8.
tions to this gate; and the detachment of the 12th 1799,
had descended into the body of the place, for the pur-
pose of arresting the influx of the fugitives from the
outer works. The two columns of the assailants,
one without the gate and one within, were now pour-
ing into it a destructive fire from both sides, when
the Sultan arrived. Endeavouring to pass, he re-
ceived another wound from the fire of the inner de-
tachment ; his horse also being wounded sunk under
him, and his turban fell to the ground, while his
friends dropped rapidly around him. His attendants
placed him in his palanqueen, but the place was
already so crowded, and choked up with the dead
and the dying, that he could not be removed. Ac-
cording to the statement of a servant who survived,
some English soldiers, a few minutes afterwards,
entered the gateway; and one of them offering to
pull off the sword belt of the Sultan, which was very
rich, Tippoo, who still held his sabre in his hand,
made a cut at him with all his remaining strength.
The man, wounded in the knee, put his firelock to
his shoulder, and the Sultan, receiving the ball in his
temple, expired.

The two bodies of assailants, from the right and the
left had met over the eastern gateway; and the pa-
lace was the only place within the fort not now in
their possession. In this the faithful adherents
of Tippoo, whose fate was yet unknown, were ex-
pected to make a desperate stand in defence of their
sovereign and his family, The troops, exhausted by
the heat and the toils of the day, stood in need of re-
freshment. In the mean time Major Allan was sent
with a guard to inform the persons within the palace,
that if they surrendered immediately their lives
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BOOK VI, should be secured ; that any resistance on the other
Crar- 8. hand would be fatal to them all. When that officer

1799,

arrived at the palace, before which a part of the
British troops were already drawn up, he observed
several persons in the balcony, apparently in the
greatest consternation. Upon communicating his
message, the Kelledar, another officer of distinction,
and a confidential servant, came over the terrace of
the front building, and descended by an unfinished
part of the wall. They exhibited great embarras-
ment, and a disposition to delay; wpon which the
British officer reminded them of their danger, and
pledging himself for the protection of the inmates of
the palace, desired admittance, that he might give
the same assurance to the Sultan himself. They ma-
nifested strong aversion to this proposition ; but the
Major insisted upon returning with them; and de-
siring two other officers to join him, they ascended by
the broken wall, and lowered themselves down on a
terrace, on which there was a number of armed men.
The Major, carrying a white flag in his hand, which
he had formed on the spur of the occasion by fasten-
ing a cloth to a serjeants pike, assured them it was a
pledge of security, provided no resistance was at-
tempted : and as an additional proof of his sincerity
took off his sword, which he insisted upon placing in
the hands of the Kelledar. All affirmed that the fa-
mily of the Sultan wasin the palace, but not the Sul-
tan himself. Their agitation and indecision were
conspicuous. The Major was obliged to remind them,
that the fury of the troops, by whom they were now
surrounded, was with difficulty restrained; and that
the consequences of delay would be fatal. The rapid
movements of several persons within the palace, where
many hundreds of Tippoo’s troops still remained,
made him begin to think the situation critical even of
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himself and his companions, by whom he was ad- BOOK VL
vised to take back his sword. As any suspicion, C%A%&
however, of treachery, reaching in their present state 1799,
the minds of the British scldiers, would inflame them

to the most desperate acts, probably the massacre of

every human being within the palace walls, he had

the gallantry, as well as presence of mind te abstain

from such an exhibition of distrust. In the mean

time, he was entreated by the people on the terrace

to hold the flag in a conspicuous manner, as well to

give confidence to the people within the palace, as to
prevent the British troops from forcing the gates.
Growing impatient of delay, the Major sent anether
message to the Princes. They now sent him word,

that he would be received as soon as a carpet for the
purpose could be procured; and in a few minutes the
Kelledar returned to conduct him.

He found two of the Princes seated on the carpet,
surrounded by attendants. ¢ The recollection,” says
Major Allan, * of Moiz ad Dien, whom on a former
occasion I had seen delivered up with his brother,
hostages to Marquis Cornwallis; the sad reverse of
their fortunes; their fear, which, notwithstanding
their struggles to conceal it, was but too evident, ex-
cited the strongest emotions of compassion in my
mind.” He endeavoured by every mark of tender-
ness, and by the strongest assurances of protection and
respect, to tranquillize their minds. His first ob-
Jject was, to discover where the Sultan was concealed.
He next requested their assent to the opening of
the gates. At this proposition they were alarmed.
Without the authority of their father, whom they
desired to consult, they were afraid to take upon
themselves a decision of such unspeakable importance.
The Major assured them, that he would post a guard
of their own sepoys within the palace, and a guard of



120

Treatment of the -

BOOK VI. Europeans without; that no person should enter but
Cuar- 8. by his authority ; that he would return and remain
1799. with them, until General Baird should arrive ; and

that their own lives, as well as that of every person
in the palace, depended upon their compliance.
Their confidence was -gained. Upon opening the
gate, Major Allan found General Baird and several
officers with a large body of troops assembled. It
was not safe to admit the troops who were - burning
for vengeance. And Major Allan returned to con-
duct the Princes, whose reluctance to quit the palace
was ot easy to be overcome, to the presence.of the
General. General Baird was one of those British
officers who had personally experienced the cruelty of
their father, and suffered all the horrors of a three
years’ imprisonment in the place which he had now
victoriously entered. His mind too had been inflamed
by a report at that instant received, that Tippoo had
murdered all the Europeans made prisoners during the
siege. “ He was nevertheless,” says Major Allan,
“ sensibly affected by the sight of the Princes; and his
gallantry on the assault was not more conspicuous, than
the moderation and humanity which he on this oc~
casion displayed. He received the Princes with every
mark of regard : repeatedly assured them that no
violence or insult should be offered to them, and he
gave them in charge to two officers to conduct them
to head quarters in camp.” They were escorted by
the light company of a European regiment ; and the
troops were ordered to pay them the compliment' of
presented arms as they passed.

The mind dwells with peculiar delight upon these
instances in which the sweet sympathies which one
human being has with another, and which are of in-
finite importance in private life, prevail over the de-
structive passions, alternately the cause, and conse-
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quence, of war. The pleasure, at the same time, BOOK VI.
which we feel in conceiving the emotions produced in C54*- 8.
such a scene, lead the bulk of mankind to overvalue 17gg, °
greatly the virtues which -they imply. When you
have glutted upon your victim the passions of am-
bition and revenge; when you have reduced him
from greatness and power, to the weakness and de-
pendance which mark the insect on which you tread,
a few tears, and the restraint of the foot from the
final stamp, are not a very arduous virtue. The
grand misfortune is to be made an insect. When that
is done, it is a slight, if any addition to the misfor-
tune to be crushed at once. The virtue to which
exalted praise would be due, and to which human
nature is gradually ascending, would be, to restrain in
time the selfish desires which hurry us on to the
havoc we are vain of contemplating with a sort of
pity after we have made it. Let not the mercy, how-
ever, be slighted, which is shown even to the victim
we have made. It is so much gained for human na-
ture. It is a gain which, however late, the progress
and diffusion of philosophy at last have produced ;
they will in time produce other and greater results.
When the persons of the Princes were secured,
Tippoo was to be searched for in every corner of the
palace. A party of English troops were admitted,
and those of Tippoo disarmed. After proceeding
through several of the apartments, the Kelledar was
entreated, if he valued his own life, or that of his mas-
ter, to discover where he was concealed. That officer,
laying his hand upon the hilt of Major Allan’s sword,
protested, in the most solemn manner, that the Sul-
tan was not in the palace ; that he had been wounded
during the storm; and was lying in a gateway on
the northern side of the fort. He offered to conduct.
the inquirers; and submit to any punishment if he
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officers who accompanied him, proceeded to the spot ;
covered with a promiscuous and: shocking heap of
bodies wounded and dead. At first, the bodies were
dragged out of the gateway to be examined, it being
already too dark to distinguish them where they lay.
As this mode of examination, however, threatened to
be very tedious, a light was procured, and Major
Allan and the Kelledar went forward to the place.
After some search, the Sultan’s palankeen was dis-
covered, and under it a person wounded, but not
dead. He was afterwards ascertained to be the
Rajah Khan, one of Tippoo’s most confidential ser--
vants, who had attended his master during the whole
of the fatal day. This person being made acquainted
with the object of the search, peinted out the spot-
where the Sultan had fallem. The body being
brought out and sufficiently recognized, was conveyed
in a.palankeen to the palace. It was warm when
first discovered ; the eyes were open, the features not
distorted, and Major Allan and Colonel Wellesley
were for a few moments doubtful, whether it was not
alive. It had four wounds, three in the trunk, and
one in the temple, the ball of which, having entered
a little above the right ear, had lodged in the cheek.
His dress consisted of a jacket of fine white linen,
locse drawers of flowered chintz, the usual girdle of
the east, crimson-coloured, tied round his waist ; and
a handsome pouch, with a belt of silk, red and green,
hung across his shoulder. He had an amulet on his
arm ; but his ornaments, if he wore any, were gone.!

The speedy fall of the place was an event of great
importance to the British army ; for though the Ge-

1 See Major Allan’s own account of the scenes at the palace, and the
gateway ; annexed (Appendix 42) to Beatson's View of the War with
‘Tippoo Sultaun,
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neral had received a casual supply of provisions from BOOK VT.
an officer whose foresight exceeded that of the men Cu4%-%-
who provided for the army, this afforded a supply for 17gg,
not more than a small number of days. The want of
draught cattle rendered the magazines in the Coorg
country totally useless: and though the General
counted upon being in absolute want by the 6th of

May, General Floyd did not return before the 13th

with the convoys from the south. Of the operations

which during the above transactions had taken place

under the officers with whom General Floyd now re-
turned to Seringapatam, the following arethe principal.

The corps which was placed under the command of
Colonel Read began by reducing the country north of
Rayacottah. The plan of his operations embraced a

great extent; but after a little progress he was ap-
prised of the necessity of abandoning every thing to
hasten with the grain which he had collected to Se-
ringapatam. The troops under Colonel Brown began

the campaign with the siege of Caroor, which sur-
rendered to them without any serious resistance on

the 5th of April. 'On the 8th they proceeded against
Errode, and meant to prosecute the reduction of the
remaining fortresses in Coimbetore, when they were
summoned to join Colonel Read, for the purpose of
advancing to Seringapatam.

Colonel Read arrived at Cauveryporam, on the 22d
of April, which surrendered to him without resistance.
Having there collected the Brinjarries, and other
supplies, he left them under the protection of the fort,
and with his detachment proceeded to clear the pass.
This was an operation of considerable difficulty, which
required all his exertions till the evening of the 27th;
and the 6th of May arrived before the whole of the
Brinjarries had ascended. General Floyd had by
this time arrived at a place a few miles distant from



124: Dhoondia Khan.

BOOK VL the pass ; and on the same day he was re-inforced
Cmar- 8. by junction of the southern corps of the army under
1799. Colonel Brown. On the 7th of May, the whole body,
with their convoy, moved from Hannoor towards
Seringapatam. As Tippoo’s cavalry, under his best
General, had closely followed General Floyd from
Seringapatam, he expected to meet with considerable
interruption to retard him on his return; and from
this danger he was saved, only by the great event

which had already arrived.

Such of the sons and officers of Tippoo, as were
not taken in the fort, surrendered within a few
days after the fate of the capital and its sovereign
was known; and an adventurer of the name of
Dhoondia was the only exception to the quiet sub-
mission of the whole country. This man, of Mahratta
parentage, was born in the kingdom of Mysore, and
served in the armies both of Hyder and Tippoo. He
deserted during the war with Lord Cornwallis; and
headed a predatory band in the region of the Toom-
budra. Tippoo induced him by fair professions to trust
himself ia his hand, and then immured him in a prison,
where he had lain for several years, when he contrived
to make his escape during the capture of Seringa-
patam ; and soon collected around him a band of de-
sperate adventurers; which rendered it necessary for
General Harris to move the army to the northward
1o dislodge him. This, however, was not the last
effort of Dhoondia, whose history it is proper to
finish at once. He was followed by his band of
adventurers to the south ; and made such rapid strides
toward the establishment even of a sort of empire,
that after a little time the government thought it
proper to employ against him the army left under
Colonel Wellesley for the government of Mysore.
Dhoondia displayed no ordinary talents in his de-
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fence; and by his activity and judgment protracted BOOK VL
for several months the efforts employed for his de- ™%
struction. He could not, however, permanently 1799.
resist the great superiority of force which was brought
against him ; and fell in a charge of cavalry which
was led by the Colonel in person.

The Sultan, when he lost his empire and his life,
was about fifty years of age. He was rather ahove
the middle size, and about five feet eight inches high;
had a short neck and square shoulders, and now bor-
dered on corpulency ; but his limbs were slender, and
his feet and hands remarkably small. His com-
plexion was brown, his eyes large and full, his eye-
brows small and arched, his nose aquiline; and in
the expression of his countenance there was a dignity,
which even the English, in spite of their antipathy
and prejudices, felt and confessed.

Though French power was the grand resource
upon which Tippoo relied, both for the gratification
of his resentments, and for his protection against
that reduction to the condition of a pensioned Na-
bob, the fate to which he believed that he was
destined by the English, he made some efforts,
but marked with his usual want of good sense,
for obtaining support from other quarters. Beside
his embassy to the Grand Signor at Constantinople,
which excited, without much deserving, the attention
of the English, he opened a communication in 1796
with Zeman Shah, the King of the Afghauns, and
sent an embassy which pointed out to that brother of
the faith a glorious career against the nonbelievers or
misbelievers of India. The Shah might conquer
Delhi, drive out the Mahrattas, and establish his
dominion over all that region of India, in one year;
in the next, assail the Mahrattas and Deccan from
the north, while the Sultan co-operated with him
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BOOK VI. from the south ; and after this it would cost them
Cusr- 8- jittle trouble to extend their empire over every part

1799.

of India. 'This invasion of the Afghauns, the English
government for several years contemplated as an
object of apprehension; and it was the ostensible
cause, why the Commander-in-Chief was left in
Bengal, and the conduct of the army committed to
General Harris, in the last war against Tippoo.

The Sultan was too well apprized of the weakness
of Nizam Ali, to expect from his alliance any ma-
terial advantage ; and, besides, he expected to in-
duce the Mahrattas to yield him any useful assist-
ance, chiefly by offering to join with them, in seizing
the dominions of the Nizam. He maintained, from
the time of the accession of Bijee Row, a secret
agent at Poona, whose endeavours were used to
effect an intimate union. But Bijee Row was held
in thraldom by Scindia; and any combination of
Bijee Row and Tippoo, which could have a tendency
to emancipate the Peshwa from his subjection, was
opposed by the interests of Scindia; and though
Scindia would have been well contented to join with
the Sultan in any scheme of hostilities against the
English, if it were not attended with danger, he was
too much alarmed for his dominions in the north,
which the English could easily invade, to be willing
for the present to expose himself to the chance of so
great an evil. From this state of affairs Tippoo
seems to have despaired of getting the Mahrattas to
act with any efficiency on his side; and for that
reason not to have made any very strenuous exertions
to induce them.

In these circumstances, beholding, as he must have
done, the great inferiority of his power, his utter
inability to maintain a contest against the English,
and the probability that resistance would bring on
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his fall, it may well be regarded as surprising, that BOOK VL.
he did not endeavour, by prompt attention to their ™%
complaints, and early negotiation, to escape from the 1799.
storm which he was unable to face. One of the most
remarkable characteristics, however, of the Sultan’s
mind, was the want of judgment. For an eastern
prince, he was full of knowledge. His mind was
active, acute, and ingenious. But, in the value
which he set upon objects, whether as means, or as
ends, he was almost perpetually deceived. Besides,
a conviction appears to have been rooted in his mind,
that the English had now formed a resolution to
deprive him of his kingdom, and that it was useless
to negotiate, because no submission, to which he
could reconcile his mind, would restrain them in the
gratification of their ambitious designs. Nor was
he deprived of grounds of hope, which over a mind
like his were calculated to exert a fatal influence.
‘He never could forget the manner in which his father
had triumphed over a host of enemies by shutting
himself up in his capital, and defending himself, till
the season of the rains ; nor had all his experience of
the facility with which Europeans overcame the
strongest defences in his power to rear, yielded him
on this point any decisive instruction. The principal
part of his preparations for war had consisted in
adding to the works of Seringapatam, and storing it
with provisions for a siege. With the attempt to
disable the Bombay army, the idea of even obstruct-
ing the march of the invaders, if not altogether
abandoned, was very feebly pursued. And, till the
English were upon the ramparts, he could not per-
suade himself that the fort of Seringapatam would
‘be taken. His grand military mistake is acknow-
ledged to have been the neglect of his cavalry; a
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The mental Defects of Tippoo increased with Age.

BOOK V1. proper use- of which would have rendered thecon<

CHaPF, 8.

1799.

quering of him a far more arduous task. ot
- The original defects of his mind, arising- from the‘
vices of his education, appear to have increased -as
he .advanced in years, .and with peculiar rapidity
since the loss of his dominions in 1792. The obe-
dience which the will of princes, especially eastern
princes, is habituated to receive, not only renders
them - wretched when it is opposed, but gluts and"
palls them with the gratification. Each recurring-
instance ‘becomes by familiarity insipid, or rather dis-.
gusting, and leaves the .mind restless and impa-:
tient for a new gratification. This serves:to account:!
for the fickle and capricious disposition which; so;tems.:
monly marks the character of .princes ; and in generals
prevails in them to a greater.or less degree;in propers;:
tion to the natural vivacity and susceptibility.of thejr:
minds. This disease. infected:the- whole conduct of 1
Tippoo Sultan, public and .private, and lattexly‘in;a.
manner so extraordinary, that, when- joined: ta;a:
similar .growth -of his impatience at every:disagnees
ment between that which he willed and that.ahigh..
fell out, it produced in his subjects a persuasion.that
his mind was partially deranged. Like many -ather..
persons of active, but not powerful minds, he-run .
violently upon the observance of minuteness in minute .
details, but with little capacity of taking a marshaling.
view of a great whole. He saw but few therefore of .
the relations and dependencies of things; and was, of.
course, unable to anticipate justly their distant con-.
sequences. 'The temptation to please, rather than to.’
serve, excluded Tippoo, as it excludes other princes,
from the benefit of counsels wiser than his. own.
Accustomed to hear, from those who approached him,
that every sentiment which he uttered exceeded.in

EEIRAE S
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wisdom that of every other man, any difference with BOOE VI
his opinions struck him at last in the character of a C®4%%
mere demonstration of folly. As a general, he pos- 1799.
sessed, as had been abundantly proved by the English
in former wars, no other talents than the vulgar
ones of great activity, courage, and that turn for stra-
tagem, which the cunning of a rude age has a
tendency to produce. As a domestic ruler, he sus-
tains an advantageous comparison with the greatest
princes of the East. He bestowed a keen attention
upon the conduct of his government, from which he
allowed himself to be diverted neither by pleasure nor
by sloth. He made a methodical distribution of his
time for business, in which he was laborious and ex-
act; but in which his passion for detail made him
frequently waste that attention upon minor, which
ought to have been reserved to the greatest affairs.
He had the discernment to perceive, what is so gene-
rally hid from the eyes of rulers in a more enlightened
state of society, that it is the prosperity of those who
labour with their hands which constitutes the prin-
ciple and cause of the prosperity of states; he there-
fore made it his business to protect them against the
intermediate orders of the community, by whom it is
so difficult to prevent them from being oppressed.
His country was, accordingly, at least during the
first and better part of his reign, the best cultivated,
and his population the most flourishing in India;
while, under the English, and their dependants, the
population of Carnatic and Oude, hastening to the
state of deserts, was the most wretched upon the
face of the earth; and even Bengal itself, under the
operation of laws ill adapted to the circumstances of
the case, was suffering almost all the evils which the
worst of governments could inflict. That Tippoo
was severe, harsh, and perhaps cruel, in superintend-
VOL. VI K
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Allowances due,

BOOK VI. ing the conduct of those who served him, . may.be.so
Cuar.8 far easily believed, as his inordinate pride would

1799.

make every offence which appeared to be committed
against himself assume gigantic dimensions; and his
hahit of willing, and seeing his will realized, made
bim expect every event, willed by himself, as by alaw
of mature, which nothing but the misconduct of
others could have disturbed, That the accounts,
however, which we have received from our country-
men, who dreaded and feared him, are marked with
exaggeration, is proved by this circumstance, that his
servants adhered to him with a fidelity which those of
few princes in any age or country have displayed.
Of his cruelty we have heard the more, because. onr
own countrymen were among the victims of it.... But
it is to be observed, that, unless in certain Instanges,
the proof of which cannot be regarded as better, than
doubtful, their sufferings, however intense, were. only
the sufferings of a very rigorous imprisonment, of
which, considering the manner in which it is lavished
by their own laws, Englishmen ought not to be very
forward to complain. At that very time, in the dun-
geons of Madras or Calcutta, it is probable that
unhappy sufferers were enduring calamities for debgs
of 100/.; not less atrocious than those which Tippoo,
a prince born and educated in a barbarous country
and ruling over a barbarous people, inflicted - upon
imprisoned enemies; enemies belonging to a nation,
who, by the evils they had brought upon him, exas-
perated him almost to frenzy, and whom he regarded
as the enemies both of God and of man.! Besides,

! After the capture of Seringapatam, some native spies, employed by
the English, asserted that the Sultan had ordered the death of thirteen
Eoglish prisoners, taken during the siege: and a scrap of paper was
found, said to be in his hand-writing, which bore the character of an
order for the death of 100 Coorg prisoners.—All the evidence which
accompanies these allegations would not be worthy of regard, but that
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‘there is among the papers relating to the intercourse BOOK VI.
of Tippoo with the French, a remarkable proof of his C®4™ 8-
‘humanity, which, when these papers are ransacked 17gg.
for ibatters to criminate him, ought not to be sup-
pressed. In the draught which he transmitted to
the- isle of France, of the conditions on which he
‘wished that a connexion between him and the
French should be formed, the following are the very
words of a distinct article: “ I demand that male
and female prisoners, as well English as Portuguese,
who shall be taken by the republican troops, or by
ine, shall be treated with humanity; and with
regard to their persons, that they shall, (their pro-
perty becoming the right of the allies,) be trans-
ported at our joint expense, out of India, to some
place far distant from the territories of the allies.”

" Another feature in the character of Tippoo was his
religion, with a sense of which his mind was most
deeply impressed. - He spent a considerable part of
every'day in prayer. He gave to his kingdom, or
state, a particular religious title, Cudadad, or God-
given; and he lived under a peculiarly strong and
operative conviction of the superintendance of a Divine
Providence. His contidence in the protection of God
was, indeed, one of his snares; for he relied upon it
to the neglect of other means of safety. To one of
his French advisers, who had urged him with pecu-
liar fervour to use greater zeal in obtaining the sup-
port of the Mahrattas, he replied, “ I rely solely on
Providence, expecting that I shall be alone and un-
supported ; but God, and my courage, will accom-

the moral and intellectnal state of the age and country of Tippoo renders
such an act by no means improbable, under strong temptation, by any
prince of the East. This, however, does not conclude Tippoo to be
worse; it only supposes him uot to be better than his neighbours,

K 2



152

Ambition of Tippoo.

BOOK VI. plish every thing.”* - Tt is true, that his zeal for Gdd
Cusr-8. fike the zeal of so many other people, was support%&

170g.

by the notion, and by the desire, of being the- fa\iou-
rite of God ; of being honoured with the- chisf place
in his affections, and obtaining the best share in‘the
distribution of his favours. Hisreligion resembled the
religion: of most of the persons anxious to distinguish
themselves for pious zeal, in this respect also; that it
contained in it a large infusion of the perséétiﬁﬁé
spirit. He imagined that he exceedingly p’leasea
the Almighty, by cultlvatmg within himself a° ha-
tred of all those whose notions of a God did not’ cor-
respond with his own'; and that he should také “otlé
of the most effectual modes ‘of recommendmg ininseif
to that powerful and good Béing, if; in order to “raul-
tiply the number of true believers, he apphed ‘vl to
the bodies of those Who were niot of that blesséd de
scription. Ay

It would not be reckoned pardonable by Eﬂ“shs -
men, if an historian were to omit ambition,’ and"{fle
hatred of the English, afnong the mgredlents in t‘he
character of Tippoo. But ambition is too vulgar a
quality in the minds of princes to deserve partlcuiér
commemoration; and as for his hatred of the En; héh
it only resembled the hatred which the English boré
to him, or to the French; and which proud ’md'i-
viduals, and proud nations, are so prone to f'eel “to
wards all those who excite their fears, or circumscribé
their hopes. Besides, among the princes of Inidiia;
who, except the drivellers, were less ambitious than
he? Was it Scindia, or was it Holkar? Even in
hatred of the English, is it understood, thati Vthesfs

1 See the letter from Tippoo Sultaun to M. Da Buc, dated Seringa-
patam, 2d Jan. 1799 ; papers prlnted by order of the House. ofCom-.
mons in 1300

v 3 ;t"ﬁf‘;:
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Mahrattas .were exceeded by the sovereign of My- Bgox XL
sore '? ) . HAP,
.When the papers of Tippoo, found in the palace of 1799, -

Sermgapatam, were examined, the correspondence
was discovered which had passed between him and
the French. With this Lord Wellesley shows that
he was singularly delighted; as if, without such
means of . persuasion, he had dreaded, that the
grounds of the war, successfully terminated, would
not have appeared satisfactory to all those whose ap-
probation he was interested in obtaining. It is,
therefore, necessary that the amount of its contents
should be declared. Some time before the beginning
of Apnl 1797, the Captain of a privateer from the
M;;untlus, Citizen Ripaud by name, whose ship, da-
maged din some engagement, had nearly foundered at
sed, ,arrmed in the country of ‘Tippoo, and was con-
veyed to the capital ; where several of his countrymen
had; long been high in the service of the Prince. This
man, so. illiterate that he could not spell his own lan-
guage, and ready, as appears by his letters of the
"’3d ~of May, 1797, for the perpetration of any
crime,  even against his own countrymen, was eager
by impdsture to recommend himself to the favour of
the Sultan. He represented that the French go-
vemment were not only burning with a desire to in-
vade the possessions of the English in India, but
were almost ready for the execution of that great
design, having made vast preparations, forwarded a
large body of troops to the Isle of France, and
chiefly waiting till they could learn how much as-
sistance they might expect from their ancient friend,
the Sultan of Mysore. Tippoo, as eager fully as
Emnglishmen, to believe what he eagerly desired,
thought he could not be too expeditious in sending
men to ascertain the circumstances: and in endea-
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French Papers

BOOK VI, vouring to derive advantage from them shauld.they

Crar.

- appear to correspond with report. So completely
1799. was Tippoo deceived by the representation of Ripand,

that he thought it was only necessary to name the.
extent of the assistance which he wished to receive.
He demanded an army of from 30,000 to 40,000
men, of whom he required that from 5000 to 10,000
should be veteran troops; and in addition to an
army of this magnitude, he thought it proper to
exact the assistance of a fleet. In contributing to
the common enterprise, he proposed to take -the
whole expense of the army upon himself; and, as
soon as it arrived, to join it with all his forces; when
the expulsion of the English, he trusted, would not.
be a tardy result. As he believed, according to the
statement of his informer, that nothing was wanting
for the immediate departure.of such a bedy of troops,
but his assent to the conditions with which it was
expected he should comply, he took the requisite
measures for its beipg immediately bestowed. ; Four,
vakeels proceeded to the coast in April, 1797; but.
before they were ready to depart, the monsoon set.in.
During the delay which it occasioned, the vakeels are.
said to have fallen into disputes and dissensions.
This, with other causes, induced the Sultan to annul
their appointment; and the actual mission, which at
last consisted of only two persons, did not depart till
the October following. Extreme was the disappoint-
ment which these vakeels, whom in the whole of
this intercourse, the Governor-General, to exalt the
notion of its importance, dubs with the title of am~
bassadors, though the agent whom the meanest indi-
vidual employs to transact for him a business of a few -
rupees, is his vakeel, experienced upon their arrival
in the isle of France. They expected to have nothing -
further to do than to set their seal, in the name of
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their’ master, to the conditions which he had gwen BOOK VI,
them i writing. This was called, in the pompous lan- “24™- &
guage of citizen Ripaud, to contract an alliance offen- 1799,
sive anid defensive with the French Republic, one and
indivisible, terms which the Sultan could not under-
stanid, ‘as his language wanted words to correspond.
And, when this simple operation was performed, they
expected to return with a grand army to Mysore. They
found that not only was there at the Isle of France
nio force whatsoever, which could be spared for the use
of ‘their master, but that no intimation had, by the
governtnent of France, been conveyed to the consti-
tutéd authorities of the island, of any intention to
send #h army to India; and that those authorities
weére “not vested with a powe1 to form engage-
meiits with Tippoo of any description. Nothing did
the riflers of the island find themselves competent to
perform, except to forward the letters of the Sultan
to 'the‘government of France, and offer aid to them
iri‘Jii'éising a few volunteers. Assistance, so con-
temptible in comparison of what they and théir
master expected, the vakeels at first refused to accept.
And no small importunity appears to have been ne-
cessary to conquer their determination.

‘Im 'the report of their proceedings, which they were
required to give to their master upon their return,
they say, ¢ The four chiefs of Mauritius told us per-
sonally, that the European Ripaud had brought us
here on a false representation to the Sultaun; and
that at present they had no forces.” A member of
the legislative body of the island, who, because he had
served in a military capacity in India, and was known
to the Sultan, sent him a letter along with the re-
turning vakeels, declared; « Our grief was profound
to learn that you had been deceived by Ripaud as to
our forces on this island. The only reinforcement
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The-Treasure of Tippoo.:

‘BOOK ¥I: whi¢h has- beensent :to us: from- France,. since :the

"Cuap. 8.

g T

-4799.

-eommencement of the war, is onehattalion, 'wbich we
-have sent to Batavia, to.assist the Dutch;in thepre-

~servation- of :that place.- - This we-did, .in veturn for

the assistance which we had:drawn from -thence in

- money, . provisions, -and .naval stores; .for yeu must
-know, great Prince, that our own resources are: insuf-

ficient for our support; and we have sworn to-.bury
.ourselves under the ruins of our island, .rather:than
see-our enemies its possessors.”? The hopes which
the French rulers held . out :that ‘more efficient-assist-
ance might possibly be abtained, by application te the

- French- government. at~Paris, :obviously deserve attien-
- tion merely as expedients to'evade:the chagrin-of:the

vakeels. The number of :Frenchmen in-the -service

' of the Sultan amounted not:to more than 120 men:?

The confidence which Tippoo - reposed: -inuthe
strength of Seringapatam; especially. 'when ipratécted

/by {=od, -and his - own.:courage, . had . prevented. him

from making any provision -against an eventiwhich
+he reckoned so very improbable as.its fall. -Notionly

“his:family, therefore, but the whole of “his treasure,

‘was deposited in the fort : and as the palace’ was @b-

-tained by a species of capitulation, without the irrup-
tion of the soldiers, there was no suspicien that.any

portlon of the money or jewels which he had'in store,

il

+"'1 See the papers relating to the war with Tippbo, printed by vrder of

* the House of Commons, in 1800. In the report which the vakepls,

upon their return made to the Sultan of their proceedings, they . expressly
state, that the Governor of the Isle of France waited upon them, dnd

-'aaid,**¢ that Ripaud had ade an erronéous representation'to your. High-
- mess, which occasioned us to be deputed.”.  And before their departyre,
_ they were informed by the Governor, that he would send with them a

gentleman, (one of ‘those by whom they were actually accompanied)
“ who should reside at the presence .in quality of vakeel, that the other
Frenchmen might not, Ly telling falsities, like.Ripaud, deceive your
H]ghness 7 .

-3 Beatson, i, 139, T ML R N
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weas.not publicly obtained, and fully brought ‘t0.ac- BOOK VL
~eount. It hence.appeared, to the clearest. satisfaction, Cunr- 8.
~how-exaggerated and extravagant had been the con- 1799
-ceptionof : his enormous riches, and hence of his dan-
- gerous: resources for war. The whole amount of the
:remaining-specie, which Tippoo had treasured up, was
‘about sixteen. lacks of pagodas (640,000..); and his
-jewels, of which in common with the Princes-of the
:East he was fond, and with which they never.part,
except -in their greatest extremity, were valued at
-about-nine lacs (360,000/.) moore. . So far was such a
'sam from. rendering its owmer formidable to a power
-:like that of the British-in India,that the Governor-
~{General in Council .did not: reckon it too much to be
~isrmediately distributed:to the army, as a donative,
in,reward of the: virtues which it had dlsplayed
;durmg the campaign.
;~i:%he English were now in: possessmn of the kmgdom
08 Mysare; . and the only question which it remained
--for the:Governor-General to -decide, was the momen-
- tous.one, how a kingdom was to be disposed of. He
. was.-not - insensible to the difficulties which attended
upon. his decision; and the delicacy which was re-
+quired, in balancing between the love of territory, on
the :one hand, and the suspicion and odium on the
-:other,:to which the destruction of another prince, and
the annexation of any considerable part of his king-
" dom to0 an empire already of vast dimensions, would
be-exposed, both in Europe and in India. This part
__of his task he performed with the greatest address.
The Nizam, though from the inferior part which he
“had taken in the war, he was not entitled to an equal
. share with the English in the benefits which resulted
-~ from -it, was gratified by receiving an equal portion
“of territory. The necessity, however, was inculcated
of moderation in the desires of both; and the princi-
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BOOK ¥1; ple which was laid down was, that they:should cor-
Cus#: 8 temt- themselves ‘with such a portion of territery; a
1799. would indemnify them for the chargés of the war, and-
yield security. The word security, brought in ipon
this occasion, was calculated to answer any purpose,
to which they, who made use of it, had, or could:have,
any ‘desire to apply it. Demands for security had no
limit, but the pleasure and power of those by whom
they were set up. When the subsequent inquirer
asks, Security against whom? It is not easy to find
an answer. Security against Tippoo? He was ho
more. ‘Security to Nizam Ali, and the English;
against one another ? - That was impossible; for they
were both to he aggrandized, and in an equal degree.”
‘Was it security against the Mahrattas? No, for théy
also were to be offered & part-of the divided territory;
which was the way to make them more, not Iéss
dangerous neighbours than they were: before. Oii’
the principle, then, -of indemnification: and' security, -
it: was decreed, -that the English, on- their part,
should take to themselves the whole of the territory
possessed by the Sultan on ‘the Malabar coast, ‘the
district of Coimbetore and Daramporam; the wholé’
of the country which intervened between the Com-
pany’s territory on the western, and that onthe
eastern coast, yielding now an uninterrupted dominion
from' sea to sea; along with these possessions, the
forts :and posts forming the heads of the principal
passes above the Ghauts on the table land ;! the dis-
trict of Wynaad; and, lastly, the fortress, city, and
island of Seringapatam, as a place which effectually
secured the communication between the British tei-

1 Cel, -Beatson says, (p. 254) that in 1788 -be * ascertained the
position and nature of not less than sixty passes through the mountaips, :
several of which are practicable for armies, and two thirds, at least, of
that-wumber sufficiently open to the incursions of cavairy.” S
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ritory:on .both coasts, and strengthened the lines of BOOK VI.
defence in every direction. A territory, affording an =% 8
egual revenue with that which by the English was 1790.
taken for themselves, was given to Nizam Al in
the districts-of Gooty, Gurrumcondah, and the tract
of country which lies along the line of the great
forts of Chittledroog, Sera, Nundidroog, and Colar,
but without the forts, which it was supposed would
render his frontier too strong. With regard fo
the :third party in the alliance against Tippoo, they
had .entirely abstained from all participation in the
war; and it would mot, in- the opinion of the Go-
vernor-General, have been good policy, to place on
the same level, in the distribution of the spoil, those
who. .did all, and these -who did nothing, in the
acquiring. of it. This would be to encourage
allies to be useless, when their services were re-
quired. . So much territory. as was taken by the
English, and given to Nizam Ali, weuld, also, yield
to. the Mahrattas more than enough of strength.
Still it. was desirable to coneciliate the good- will
of that people to the present proceedings; and to
give them an interest in the arrangements which’
were made. A portion of territory, from one half
to two thirds of the value of that which was taken
by the English and given to Nizam Ali, would, it
was concluded, answer all these ends. This portion
was to include Harpoonelly, Soonda above the Ghauts,
Annagoody, and some other districts; with part ef
the territory, not however including the fortresses,
of Chittledroog and Bednore.

Of the portion which still remained of the terri-
tory gained from Tippoo, yielding thirteen lacs of
pagodas, a revenue greater than that of the ancient
Rajahship of Mysore, it was accounted politic to form
a separate state. For sovereign, the choice lay be-
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Bé)HOK VL tween the family of Tippoo, and that of the ancient
Hindu. Rajahs, who had been kept in ccnﬁnement.
'1799. but not extinguished, by Hyder Ali and his son..,.In
the sons of Tippoo, the due degree of passive sub-
mission was reckoned much less .probable than in
those of a family, who, having lost all expectation of
reigning, would take even liberty as a boon, much
more sovereignty, though in its most shadowy form.
The .direct male descendant of the Mysore Rajahs
was a child of a few years old; and to him it was
decreed that the title of sovereign should belong.
The conditions upon which he was to receive his dig-
nity were as follows; That the whole of the military
force maintained for, the defence of the country. shouid
be English; That for. the expense of it he should an-
nually pay seven lacs,of pagodas; That in case.of war,
or of preparation for war, the Enghsh might, exact
any larger sum, which they .deemed proportlonal fo
the resources of the Rajah; And last of 3ll, should
they be dissatisfied with his government in zp;y Ie-
spect,. they might interpose to any extent in the,in-
ternal administration of the coun.ry, or even take the
unlimited management of it to themselves, _Jn;h;s
manner, it is evident, that the entire sovereignty of
the country was assumed by the British, of whom
the Rajah and his ministers could only be regarded as
Vlcegerents at will. It was, therefore, with some
reason the Governor-General said, “I entertain a
sanguine expectation, that the Rajah and his minis-
ters, being fully apprised of the extensive powers re-
served to the Company, will cheerfully adopt such
regulations as shall render the actual exercise of these
powers unnecessary;” for knowing themselves to
held a situation totaily dependant upon the will of
another, whatever emanated from that ‘will, they were
.bound, without a choice, to obey. How long, mth
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whatever d:sposmons to obedience, their performance BOOK 'VI.
of'thie services-exacted of them will give satisfaction, Cuar.8.
depends - tipon c1rcumstances of a sort-which cannot 1799.
be foreseén. :

" The ‘Governor-General was -perfectly aware of the
shate of the sovereignty which he had taken, and the
share which he had left. * Under these arrange-
ments,” he said, ¢ I trust that I shall be enabled to
command the whole resources of the Rajah’s terri-
tory ;” adding, what were very desirable results, that
under these arrangements he also trusted to be ena-
bled < to improve -its cultivation, to extend its com-
mierce, and to secure the welfare of -its inhabitants.”
For appropriating such’* extensive powers,” {so they
aré called by himself)” the reasons which he assigned
proﬁounced a violent ‘condemnation of the policy so
long-pursued ; and’ of which such applauded rulers as
I—Iastmgs and Cornwallis had made their boast; the
pb‘Iicy of only sharmg the powers of government, with
the nitive princes of -Oude, Carnatic, and Tanjore.
e Recollectmg the inconveniencies and embarrass-
ments “which have arisen to all parties concerned,
under the double government, and conflicting autho-
rities unfortunately established in Oude, the Carnatic,
ahd Tanjore, I resolved to reserve to the Company
the Thost extensive and indisputable powers.” This
is’to boast explicitly, that no double government, no
conflicting authorities, were left in Mysore ; that, by
consequence, the powers of government were, 'with-
out participation, engrossed by the English. What
then, it may be asked, was the use, of setting up the
shadow of a Rajah ? The sources of evil were mani-
fest. * A considerable expense was rendered necessary
for ‘the splendour of his state: And it was utterly
Impossﬂ)le to govern the country so well through the
agency of him and his ministers, ‘as it might have
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BOOK V1. been governed by the direct application ‘of Europeah
Cmav-8 jntelligence and virtue. But this Rajah was a species
1999. ©Of screen, put up to hide, at once from Indian dnd
from European eyes, the extent of aggrandizement
which the British territory had received, and it so far
answered the purpose, that, though an obvious, it'un-
doubtedly claims the praise of an adroit, and well-
timed political expedient. It enabled the Governor-
General to dismiss Nizam Ali with a much smaller
shareof the prey, than would havesatisfied him, had the
English taken without disguise the whole of what in
this manner they actually’ appropriated.’ = It pre-
cluded the Mahrattas from those attempts to excite
a jealousy of the English, to which it was known they
were abundantly disposed. ~‘And it imposed cotn-
pletely, as well upon thoseé' members of the British
legislature, whe ‘would have been pleased ith an
opportunity to criticise’; as upon the men whose.ari-
tieisms are more extensively disseminated through
the press; all of whom, or almost all, were too defee-
tive, it seems, in the requisite lights to see through
the game that was played: For though none of the
great ‘acts of Marquis Wellesley’s administration is
more questionable than the attack upon Tippoo Sul
tan, that is a part which, till now, has been eXempt

from censure.

The territory, thus in name transferred to a Hindu
Rajah, whose residence was to be the ancient city of
Mysore, while the benefits of its sovereignty were all
transferred to the English, was bounded on the north
by a strong line of hill fortresses and posts, Chittledroog,

1 The Governor-General expressly declares, that beside the Jealousy
of the Mahrattas, the partition of Mysore between the English and the
Nizam wounld have raised the power of that Prince to a dangerons
height: and would have given him many strong fortresses which could

not have been piaced in his hands without imminent danger tp the
British frontier,
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Sera, Nundedroog, and Colar, forming a powerful Book vi.
barrier towards the southern frontiers of Nizam Ali Cuae.8.
and the Mahrattas, from Panganoor on the line of 1799,
the eastern, to Bednore on the line of the western
Ghauts, the whole occupied and defended, for the

benefit of the English, by English troops; and on the

three other sides, east, west, and south, it was entirely
surrounded by the territories of the Company, above

and below the Ghauts.

‘To the family of Tippoo, if we make allowance for
the loss of a throne, as well as to the principal men
of his kingdom,. the conduct of the Governor-General
was considerate and generous. The fortress of Ve-
lore, in the Carnatic, was appropriated for the resi-
dence of the royal family, and fitted up commodiously
for their reception, with an allowance for their support,
more. liberal than that which they had received from
Tippoo himself. The principal men were all provided
for by jaghires or pensions, conformable to their rank
and influence, with a generosity which not only con-
tented, . but greatly astonished themselves. They
were the more easily pleased, that Tippoo, centering
all authority in his own person, rendered it impossible
for his servants to acquire any influence beyond the
immediate exercise of their official powers; and.as
the frugality of his administration was severe, their
emoluments were uncommonly small. The same cir-
cumstances facilitated the settlement of the country:;
for, as no individual possessed any authority sufficient
to make resistance, when Tippoo was gone, and as the
character of the English was sufficiently known to
inspire confidence, the chiefs made their submission
without hesitation or delay. When one of Tippoo’s
confidential servants was sent to treat with the officer
at-the head of the cavalry, the celebrated Kummir
ad dien Khan, he refused to stipulate for terms, and
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New Treaty with the Nizam,

BOOK VI. said he cast himself entirely upon the generosity of
Caar. 3. the English.

1799.

In the treaty which was signed by Nizam Ali and
the English, entitled the partition Treaty of Mysore,
for establishing the arrangements which have just
been described, it was fixed, that, unless the Peshwa
acceded to the said treaty within the space of one
month, gave satisfaction relative to some disputes
with Nizam Ali, and complied with certain conditions,
not specified, in favour of the English, the territory,
which it was meant to bestow upon him, should be
shared between the remaining allies, in the propor-
tion of two thirds to Nizam Ali, and one to the
English.?

When the terrors whlch Tippoo suspended over
the Mahrattas, and the dependence which they felt
upon the English against the effects of his ambition .
and power, were destroyed, it was not expected that
their hostile dispositions, which had already so ill dis-
guised themselves, could long be restrained. The
power of Nizam Ali was now the only barrier be-
tween the English possessions in Deccan, and the irrup-
tions of that formidable nation; and how small the
resistance which he was capable of yielding, the Eng-
lish had abundantly perceived. In one way, it ap-
peared sufficiently easy to augment his capacity for
war. He was acutely sensible of the dangers to
which he was exposed at the hands of the Mahrattas,

! See the papers relating to the war with Tippoo, printed by order of
the House of Commons in 1800. See also the Treaty with the Nizam,
and that with the Rajah of Mysore. For the whole of the concluding
struggle with Tippoo, we have very complete information, not only in
the official papers, which have been pretty fully given in print, but in
the valuable works, so frequently quoted, of Beatson and Wilks. For
the character of Tippoo, and some parts of his politics, hints are afe
forded by the volume of his Jetters, for which we are mdebted to Col.

Kirkpatrick.
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and of his incompetency to his own defence. He BooK VI
was therefore abundantly desirous of receiving such ©u+?-8
additions to the number of the British troops already 1800.
in his pay, as would suffice to allay his apprehensions. -
But the payment of these troops suggested itself to

the foresight of the English rulers, as creating diffi-
culties and. dangers which it was not casy to over-

look. So fickle and capricious were the councils of

the Subahdar, that he might suddenly adopt the reso-
lution of dismissing the English troops from his ser-

vice; while the impoverishment of his country by
mal-administration, and the exhaustion of his re-
sources by useless expenses, portended a moment not

far distant, when he would be deprived of power to

pay as many troops as would satisfy the ideas of
security which the English rulers entertained. One
expedient presented itself to the imagination of the
Governor-General, as adapted to all the exigencies

of the case; and he resolved mot to omit so favour-

able an opportunity of realizing the supposed advan-

tage. If Nizam Ali, instead of paying a monthly or
annual subsidy for the maintenance of the troops
whose service he was willing to receive, would alienate

to the English in perpetuity a territory with revenue
sufficient for the expense, a military force might then

be established in his dominions, on the least precarious

of all securities. The evils were, in the first place,

a violation of the act of parliament, which forbid
extension of territory ; but that had always been vio-

lated with so little ceremony, and lately in so extra-
ordinary a manner, that this constituted an objection

of trivial importance : in the second place, the real diffi-
culties of administering the ceded territory, so frugally

and beneficently, as to render its produce equal to

its expense ; difficulties, it is probable, which were but

little understood : and lastly, the grand general evil,

VOL, VI, L
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The Terms and Nature

BOOK VI. that, in proportion as territory augments, and with. it
Crar.8. the amount and complexity of the business which its

-1800.

administration involves, it becomes more and more
impossible for the superintending power to take se-
curities, that the business of government shall not be
-negligently and corruptly performed; since, beside
-the inability of attention to extend itself minutely
beyond a limited range of affairs, distance from the
eye of government gradually weakens its powers, and
at last annihilates a great portion of them. Over-
balancing advantages appeared to flow, from the funds
which would thus he secured for the maintenance of
a considerable army, from the security which this
army would afford against the Mahrattas, and from
the sovereignty which it would transfer to the English
over Nizam Ali and his dominions; though his do-
minions were governed so ill, that little advantage
.could be hoped from them. The documents relative
to the negotiation have not been made public; and
-we know not in what manner that Prince at first re-

-ceived the proposition, nor what modes of induce-

ment were employed to obtain his consent. How-

-ever, on the 12th of October 1800, a treaty was
.signed ; by which important contract, the English

added two battalions of sepoys, and a regiment of
native cavalry, to the force which they engaged to
uphold in the service of the Subahdar, and also bound
themselves to defend his dominions against every

-aggression ; while, on his part, Nizam Ali ceded to

the English, in perpetual sovereignty, all the acquisi-
tions which he had made from the territory of Tippoo,

.either by the late treaty, or by that of Seringapatam,

in 1792; and agreed neither to make war, nor so
much as negotiate, by his own authority ; but, refer-

-ring all disputes between himself and other states to
.the English, to be governed by their decision, allow-



- e

of the subsidiary Treaty. 149

ing the subsidiary troops in his service to be employed BOOK VI.
by the English in all their wars, joined by 6,000 of ©347-8&
his own horse, and 9,000 of his infantry, only re- 1800.
serving two of the English battalions which should
always be attached to his person. For the purpose
of obtaining the Tumboodrah as a clear and dis-
tinct boundary, Kupoor, Gujunder, Gur, and some
-other districts, lately acquired from Tippoo, were
exchanged for Adoni and a few places on the southern
side of the river. With regard to the family and
subjects of the Subahdar, it was stipulated that he
‘was to remain absolute, and the English were on no
pretext to dispute his authority. A revenue of about
1,758,000 pagodas arose from the territory ceded by
this treaty to the English.!

Of this engagement, as it affected the interests of
the English, the nature may be described in a single
sentence. The English acquired a small territory,
with the obligation of defending a large one. If it be
said, that it was as easy to defend the Nizam’s
territory, in addition to their own, as it was to
defend their own without that of the Nizam, and
that the revenue of the new territory was all
therefore clear gain, the declaration is unfounded.
If the act of parliament, which was set up for a show,
but in practice trampled upon habitually, and by
those who made it, as shamelessly, as by those for
whose coercion it was made, is worthy on such an
occasion to be quoted, it may be recollected, that,
according to the doctrine which, in that enactment,
guided the legislature, all extension of territory was
bad, because it cost more to defend it, than it could
be made to produce ; much more of course, when a

1 A Sketch of the Political History of India, from the Introduction
of Mr. Pitt’s Bill, A. D. 1784, to the present Date, by Sir Jobn Mal-
colm, pp. 282—287, Collection of Treaties.

L2
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4 similar Trealy rejected by the Mahratias.

BOOK VI small territory was acquired with the burthen of
Cuar. 8. . .
defending another, several times as large.

1800.

A clause was inserted, to say, that if the Peshwa
or Dowlut Row Scindia, should desire to have a part
in this treaty, they should be admitted to all its
advantages; in other words, they should have a sub-
sidiary force on the same terms as Nizam Ali. But
so far were the Mahrattas from desiring an alliance
of this description, that the Peshwa, under the dicta-
tion of Scindia, refused to accept the territory -which
was reserved to him out of the ‘spoils of  Tippoo; it
was therefore divided by the English between them-
selves and the Subahdar. :

e
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CHAP. IX.

Situation .of. Oude, as left by Lord Teignmouth,
. shighly satisfactory to the home Authorities—
- Great Changes meditated by Lord Mornington—
. Extirpation of British Subjects, not in the Ser-
wice of the Company— Apprehended Invasion of
the Afghauns— Endeavour to obtain the Alliance
of Scindia—The Idea abandoned—An Embassy
to the King of Persia—Insurrection by Vizir
Ali—Reform of hismilitary Establishment pressed
on the Nabob of QOude—His Reluctance—He
proposes to abdicate in favour of his Son—The
.Governor-General presses him to abdicate in
Javour of the Company—He refuses—Indigna-
tion of the . Governor-General—He resorts to
coercion on the Reform, which meant, the Anni-
hilation, of the Nabol’'s military Establishment—
The business of the Annihilation judiciously per-
Jormed—The Vizir alleges the want of Resources
Jfor the Maintenance of so great a British Army
—From this, the Governor-General infers the
Necessity of taking from him the Government
of his Country—1If the Nabob would not give up
the whole of his Country willingly, such a Por-
tion of it as would cover the Expense of the
British Army to be taken by Force—This was
more than one half—The Vizir to be allowed no
wndependent Power even in the rest—The Vizir
_destres to go on a Pilgrimage—The Hon. H.
Wellesley sent to get from him an appearance of
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BOOK VI.
Cuap. 9.

1799.

Situation of Oude

Consent—The Cession of the Portion mecessary
Jor the Expense of the Army effected—A Com-
mission for seitling the Country with Mr. H.
Wellesley at the head—Governor-General makes
a Progress through the Country—Transactions
between him and the Nabeb of Oude— Proposition
of the Bhow Begum—~QObjections of the Court of
Directors to the Appointment of Mr. H. Welles-
ley—Owerruled by the Board of Control—Go-
wernment of Furruckabad assumed by the Com-
pany—Settlement of the ceded Districts—Full
Approbation of the home Authorities.

THE arrangements formed by the late Governor-
General, Sir John Shore, with respeet to the kingdom
of Oude, satisfied the capacious desires of the London
authorities. Under date the 15th of May, 1799, a
despatch, intended to convey their sentiments to the
instruments of government in India, has the follow-
ing passages: ,

“ By the definitive treaty concluded at Lucknow,
the Company’s influence over the Vizir's country
appears to be sufficiently preserved; without the in-
sertion of any article, which, in its operation, might
lead to an interference in the collections, on the part
of the Company, that might be deemed offensive.
And we have the further satisfaction to find, that,
(exclusive of the immediate payment of twelve lacs
of rupees by the Nabob Vizir),—his annual subsidy
is increased upwards of twenty lacs of rupees; be-
sides the acquisition of a fortress in the Oude domi-
nions, of the greatest consequence in the scale of
general defence : with other stipulations, which have
a tendency to remedy former defects in our political
connexion with that country, and to give the Com-
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pany such an ascendancy as cannot fail to be produc- Book vi.
tive of material benefit to both parties : and which, Cma®-9-
we trust, will lead to the establishment of a good 1799,

system of government in Oude, which hitherto all

our endeavours, for a series of years, have been.

unable to accomplish.

. “ The late Governor-General had given us reason
to expect, that, for the first year, or perhaps longer,
after Saadut Ali’s accession, his revenues would pro-
bably fall considerably shortof their estimated amount;
and that he would find considerable difficulty in ful-
filling his pecuniary engagements with the Campany :
—and very satisfactorily assigned the ground of that
opinion. We are, therefore, not surprised to find by
the last accounts, that an arrear had accumulated in
the payment of the Company’s tribute, to the amount
of upwards of eighteen lacs of rupees. Lord Morn-
ingtan having represented, however, that he believes
the Nabob is sincerely disposed to make every pos-
sible effort for the liquidation of this arrear, as well
as for introducing such a system of order and economy
into the management of his finances as will enable
him to be more punctual in his future payments, we
entertain. a well-grounded expectation that every
cause of complaint upon this head will speedily ter-
minate.”

 The affairs of Oude being thus settled in a man-
ner which bids fair to be permanent ; and it appearing
by your political despatch of the 17th April, 1798,
that the most perfect tranquillity continues to prevail
in the Vizir's dominions; and as the resolutions of
the late Governar-General, of the 9th and 30th

October, 1797, for the augmentation of the army,
were declared to be connected with the proposed
arrangements for that country, we direct that you
take into your immediate consideration the propriety
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Grent Changes meditated

BOQE:VI. of disbanding: these - ‘new levneb, ror <the;mecessity. of

.Coap, .9

1799.

nommning them. ™30 s wone 2 dostw b

~hiWhile ;the xhome authentles ‘were thus-cengratu~
lating-themselves upon the'state in which the affairs
of Oude ‘were left by the late Governor-General,:and
pleasing themselves with the belief of its permanence;
the new Governor-General was meditating. the most

‘important changes. In the political letterfrom Bengal,

as early as the 3d of October; 1798, the: authorities
at home were informed; “ The Right Honourable
the :Governor-General - has: now - under: .consideration
the -present state of affairs :in..Qude, and -particu~
larly the best meauns. of ‘securing- the .vregulsr :pay-
ment -of - the subsidy, and ef.reforming.the Nabeb's
army.”* . And on the 23d.of Decemben of thesame
year, the-Governor-General wrote, in.a private letter
to the resident at Oude; “The necessityiof providing
for the' defence of the Carnatic, and:for:theearly

- revival® of -our- alliances in:.the Peninsula; asiwellias

for the seasonable reduction-of the- growing influence

‘of France in-India, has not -admitted either my visit-
“ing Oude, or-of my turning..my undivided atitention

to - the. reform of /the - Vizir's affairs..~:There 'are,

-however, two or three .leading considerations,in,the

state of. Oude, to which I wish to .direct your par-
ticular notice ; intending, at-an early period, te.enter
fully into the arrangement in.which.they must ter-
minate.—Whenever the death-of Almas shallihap-
‘pen, an opportunity will offer of securing the benefits
of Lord Teignmouth’s treaty, by provisions, srhich
seem necessary for the purpose of realizing: the sub-
sidy, under all contingencies. ‘The Company ought
to succeed to the power of -Almas. : And - the ma-

+ Papers printed by order of the House of Commons in 1806, i. 30,
* Papers, ut supra, v, 8,
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nagement;~if:not the sovereignty, . of that part of the Bookvi.
Doab, which he now rents, ought to.be;placed-in CHar-9.
our: hands;;:a- proportionate -reduction -being ‘made 17gg.
from the subsidy ;:the strength of our north-western
frontier-would also beincreased. Onthe other liand,
in-the .event of Almas’s:death; we shall have to appre-
hend either. the dangerous power of a successor equal
to:him! in talents and activity, or the weakness of one
inferior;inr both, orthe division:of the country among
a-variety-of renters;-in the.first case we should risk
internal commotion ; -in:the two latter the frontier of
Oude:would be considerably weakened against the
attacks'either of the Abdalli or of any other invader.
"The orily:vemedy for these evils will be the possession
oftithe::Doab ‘fixed in -thehand of our government.
The' state:of the Vizir's troops is-another most press-
‘ingevilii :“To you I need not enlarge on their-inef-
ficienoy and insubordination. My intention is to per-
-suade-his Excellency, at a proper season, to disband the
wholé of his own.army; with the exception of'such part
-of'it as may be necessary for the purposes of state, or
:of icollection- of -revenue. In the place of the armed
-rabble -which- now alarms the Vizir, and invites his
<€nemies, I propose to substitute an increased number
‘of the:Company’s regiments of infantry and cavalry,
‘tobe relieved from time to time, and to be paid:by
his Bxeellency. I have already increased our estab-
lishment to the extent of 'seventeen regiments of
infantry, 'with .the view of transferring three regi-
‘ments to the service of his Excellency.—With respect
to the *Vizir's civil establishments, and to his abusive
systems for the .extortion of revenue, and for the
violation. of every principle of justice, little can be
done before I can be enabled to visit Lucknow.”?

' Papers, ut supra, iii. 2; 3.
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BooK Vi. - The hostility of the Governor-General to his; fel-
Crar- 9. Jow-subjects, pursuing, independently of the Company,
A'1_799."' their occupations in any part of India, is expressed,

without a word to-indicate reasons, in the same letter,-
thus; “ The number of Europeans . particularly. of
British subjects, established in Oude, is a-mischief
which requires no comment. My resolution is fixed,
to dislodge every European, excepting the Company’s
servants. My wish is, to occasion as little private
distress as possible, but the publie service must take
its course ; and it is not to be expected that some
cases of hardship will not he found in the extent of
so great a measure.”” These last words indicate ex-
tensive numbers, Why did not the Governor-Gene-
ral, before be dared to strike at the fortunes of great
numbers of his ceuntrymen, declare and prove, the
evils which they praduced? For what reason is if,
let them declare, who know what is understood, under
such a government as ours, by the responsibility
of the ruling few, that he has never yet been effec~
tually called upon to acceunt for such a conduct?
The good which they were calculated to produce is
abvious to all.. The question still remains unanswered,
What were the evils?

The threats of Zemaun Shah, King of the Ab-
dalees, or Afghauns, became a convenient source of
pretexts for urging upon the Vizir the projected in-
novations. This prince had succeeded his father
Timur Shah, the son of the celebrated Ahmed Shah,
the founder of the dynasty, in the year 1792. His
dominions extended from the mouths of the Indus to
the parallel of Cashmere ; and from the boundaries of
the Seiks, at some distance eastward of the great
river Attock, to the vicinity of the Persian Tershish ;
including the territories of Cabul, Candahar, Peishere,
Ghizni, Gaur, Sigistan, Korasan, and Cashmere. In

e AR

S |
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the year 1796, this prince advanced to Lahore; and BOOK VIi
though his force was not understood to exceed 33,000 Crer, 5.
men, almost wholly cavalry, he struck terror into the 1799.
Mahrattas ; and excited alarm in the English govern-
ment itself. The object of the Shah, as announced
by rumour, was, to re-establish the House of Timur,
to which he was nearly related, and restore the true
faith in the empire of the Great Mogul. The
Seiks, it appeared, gave no obstructions to his march:
The Mahrattas, from their internal distractions, were
ill prepared to resist him: And, though they assem-
bled a eonsiderable army, which might have enabled
them to dispute the possession of Delhi, or molest him
in his retreat, it was still possible for him, in the
opinion of the person then at the head of the English
government, to advance to Delhi, even with so in~
considerable an army as that which he led to Lahore;
in which case, he would have formidably threatened
the British interests. The Rohillas, it was imagined,
would join him; induced, not only by the affinities
of descent and religion, and the cruelties which they
bhad sustained at the hands of the English and
Vizir; but, the Governor-General added, by the love
of war and plunder; yet the truth is, that they de-
voted themselves to agriculture, whenever oppression
would. permit them, with an ardour and success, of
which India had no example; and their love of war
and plunder meant only a greater degree of courage
and vigour than distinguished the other races of the
country. The approach of the Shah, it was there-
fore apprehended, would spread the greatest disorders
in the dominions of the Vizir. < The troops under
Almas,” who governed, as renter, and defended, that
half of the dominions of the Vizir which was most
exposed to the incursions both of the Mahrattas and
Afghauns, « were,” says the Governor-General, * re-
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Measures in Consequente

BOOK VI. spectable. . The other. troops of the Viziry with little

CEar..9,
[

1799

exception, would, rather have proved an incumbrance,
than.an assistance to the British forces; and nething
but the. most urgent remonstrances would have ensured
the exertions or.supplies of the Vizir. His dominions
would have been overrun with marauders; a total
temporary stoppage of the collections would have en-
sued; and these disorders, if not speedily quelled,
would have ended in general insurrection.” -On the
measures to be adopted,.Sir John Shore found it diffi-
cult todecide. The Mahrattas, excited by their fears,
made .proposals to the English.for a.union of forces
against the. Afghaun. But the reduction of the
power of the Mahrattas, Sir John would have wel-
comed as one of the most desirable events. On the
other hand, Zemaun Shah, if crowned with success,
would be still a greater object of dread. Again; if
the, Mahrattas, by. their own exertions, prevailed-over
the Shah, .they would gain a formidable increase.of
poewer.. Or, if the French leader, who in.the name

of. Scindia, now governed so.great a portion of the.

provinces, at which the Afghauns were supposed to
aim, should, in the midst of commotion, raise him-
self to the:sovereignty of the territories in dispute, this
to.the mind.of the Governor-General appeared-the

most.alarming consequence of all. Bcfore the English-

government thought itself called .upon for any:great
exertions, a rebellious . brother of - the :Shah. ex-
cited disturbance in his dominions ; and recalled him
early in 1797, from Lahore. The troops at.the can-
tonments of Cawnpore and Futty Ghur had, in
the mean time, been ordered.into.camp; and two
additional regiments of infantry had been raised.
The Governor-General, indeed, imagined, that the
march of the Shah to Lahore, with so limited a force,
was rather an experiment than the commencement of

RS
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an.-expedition ; ‘but “the .question’was worthy of 'his BOOK V1.
attention :whether it would -have beéen ensyfor: the ™%
King of the Afghauns ‘to :come with a 'greater-foree. 1799
It.was, too, after all, the opinion of the English roler,
that, though motives were not wanting to prompt the
Shah ¢o the invasion of Hindustan, it was neverthe-
less an.event very little probable; and such as'there
would: be little prudence in taking any costly pre-
cautions to defeat.’

+In 1798, a belief, but solely derived from rumour,
of vast preparations making by the Afghaun, for the
invasion of India, was excited anew. The apprehen-
sions, however of the British government were al-
layed, by intelligence received toward the end of
Septemiber, that the disturbances within the domi-
nions of the Shah had compelled him- to leave his ca-
pital and’march to Candahar. But this was speedily
followed - by reports, that the 10th -of October was
fixed for commencing his march from Cabul towards
Hindustan; and though the authenticity of these re-
ports was held very-doubtful, the English government
deemed it, * their duty,” according to their own ex-
pressions, * to take every precaution against the pos-
sibility:of: an ‘event, which, combined with -the de-
signs of Tippoo and the French; might become of'the’
most serious importance.” Endeavours were used te
prevail upon Doulut Row Scindia to return from the
south,-and put his dominions in the best posture -of
defence’; :and great hopes were expressed, that: he
would follow this advice. “ The Governor-General
also directed the Resident -at the court of Scindia,” 1
use again the ‘language of the Governor-General in
council, “ to enter into defensive engagements with

' Minute of the Governor- General 4th of July 1797, See also Mal-
calm's Sketch, p. 210, -
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.BOOK VI.that chieftain, upon his return to Hindustan, under
Caar-9. such limitations and conditions, as might secure the
1799. effectual co-operation of the Mahratta army, with the
Jeast possible diversion of the PBritish force from the
exclusive protection of the frontier of Oude. His
Lordship further directed the resident with Scindia to
endeavour to provide the earliest resistance to the
progress of the Shah, at the greatest practicable dis-
tance from the frontier of Oude, by encouraging the
chiefs of the Rajapoots and Seiks to oppose the first
approach of the invading army.”' In the month of
October the Commander-in-Chief was directed to
prepare for such a disposition of the troops in the
‘upper provinces, and such military operations in ge-
neral, as would mest effectually secure that part of
the British frontier against an attack from the
Afghauns. The proposition of the Commander-in-
Chief was approved, for adding to the army two re-
giments of native infantry, for the movement of five
companies of native invalids to Chunar, and of five
other companies to Allahabad; and for assembling a
force to cover the city of Benares. The resident at
Lucknow was desired “ to urge to the Vizir,” these
are the words of the official dispatch, *“ the necessity
of collecting as large a body of artillery, infantry, and
cavalry, as possible, to be placed, if necessary, under
the directions of an European officer, and to be em-
ployed in the manner suggested by the Commander
in-Chief:” Also, to take immediate measures for
sending such a supply of grain to Allahabad as the
commanding officer in the field might prescribe, and
for obtaining the orders and assistance of the Vizir in
dispatching, whenever it should be requisite, all the
boats not required for the service of the army,

1 Papers, ut supra, ii, 36.
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Notwithstanding the hopes, however, which had BoOK vI.
been fondly entertained of a defensive alliance with Cusr. 9.

Scindia, the authorities in India write to the au-
thorities in England in the following terms; ¢ From
-the letter to the resident with Dowlut Row Scindia,
dated the 26th of October, you will observe, that
Scindia’s continuance at Poonah, the dissensions and
disaffection which prevail among his commanders, and
the unsettled and precarious state of his authority in
Hindustan, have prevented our taking amy further
steps for carrying the intended arrangements into
-effect.” It was in the beginning of October that the
.authorities in India delivered it to the authorities in
England, as their opinion, that the greatest advan-
tages would arise from a connexion with Scindia :
Before the end of the same month, they find the cir-
scumstances of Scindia to be such, that no further
.steps for carrying the intended arrangements into
effect are accounted adviseable.! Again; the inability
-of Scindia, from the disaffection of his commanders,
:and the tottering state of his authority, was now made
the foundation on which measures of policy were built:
Afler an interval of not many months, the necessity
was urged of draining the whole resources of the
- British state, to make war upon him. The fact ap-
pears to be, that Scindia knew the improbability.of
‘being invaded by the Shah; and though such in-
.vasion would bring on him greater evils than it would
.bring on the government of any other state, he chose
-to remain at Poonah, for the promotion of those ob-
jects of which he was there in eager pursuit.
« Under these circumstances,”’ say the authorities
in India, © we have judged it expedient to determine,
that in the event of Zemaun Shah’s approach to the

! Papers ut supra, p, 36, 37.
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frontier of our ally the Vizir, our military operations
shall be confined to a system of defence; and we
have resolved that our arms shall, in no case, pass the
limits of his Excellency’s dominions, unless such a
forward movement shall be deemed by the command-
ing officer necessary for the protection of the frontier,
either of Oude, or of our own dominions.” !

After producing all this preparation and expence,
the Shah, who, it seems, had again advanced as far
as Lahore, began his retreat on the 4th of January :
and Shah Aulum was informed by a letter from the
Afghaun Vizir, that no intention remained of prose-
cuting the expedition into Hindustan that year, but
the helpless Mogul might look forward to a more
prosperous issue, at some future period. The cause
of the retreat was reported, and believed, to be, the
alarming progress making by the brother of the Shah
at the head of a military force in the neighbourhood
of Herat.?

In the month of September, Mr. Duncan, the Gover-
nor of Bombay, had made the following communication
to the Governor-General. A personage, of the name
of Mehedi Ali Khan, had intimated, that, as he was
about to make a journey into Persia, it might be in
his power, and if properly authorized, he had confi-
dent hopes that it would be in his power, to excite the
Persian rulers, by threatening or attacking the
western part of Afghaunistan, to divert the Shah from
his projected invasion of Hindustan. The fact was,
that Baba Khan, then King of Persia, had espoused
the cause of Mahmood, the brother of Zemaun, as the
elder son, and hence the rightful heir of the late mo-
narch : and had already threatened, if not attacked,
the province of Khorassan. Mehedi Ali Khan was

1 Papers, ut supra, ii, 87. ¢ Ibid. p. 38.

L0

T



Treaty with Persia. 161

entrusted with _a mission, the objects of which, as BOOK VI.
they fell in Wlth the existing politics of the Persian C4r-9-
government were successfully attained. This, how- 1799.
ever, was not enough to satisfy a mind, which longed
to-do every thing in magnificent style; and the Go-
vernor-General prepared a splendid embassy to the
court of Baba Khan. Captain Malcolm, who had
lately been assistant to the resident at Hyderabad,
was chosen, for his knowledge of the language, and
other accomplishments, to conduct the negotiation.
“ The embassy,” to use the words of the negotiator,
“ wasin a style of splendour corresponding to the cha-
racter of the monarch, .and the manners of the nation,
to whom it was sent ; and to the wealth and power of
that state from whom it proceeded:” A language this,
which may be commonly interpreted, lavishly, or,
which is the same thing, criminally, expensive. The_
negotiatorl continues; “ It wa